Exact likelihood inference for multiple exponential populations

under joint censoring

Exact likelihood inference for multiple exponential populations under joint censoring

By

Feng Su

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

© Copyright by Feng Su, August 2012

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (YEAR)

McMaster University

(Mathematics)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Exact likelihood inference for multiple exponential populations under joint censoring

AUTHOR:Feng Su, Ph.D.(Wuhan University, P.R. China)SUPERVISOR:Professor N. BalakrishnanNUMBER OF PAGES:xiii , 152

ABSTRACT:

The joint censoring scheme is of practical significance while conducting comparative life-tests of products from different units within the same facility. In this thesis, we derive the exact distributions of the maximum likelihood estimators (MLEs) of the unknown parameters when joint censoring of some form is present among the multiple samples, and then discuss the construction of exact confidence intervals for the parameters.

We develop inferential methods based on four different joint censoring schemes. The first one is when a jointly Type-II censored sample arising from k independent exponential populations is available. The second one is when a jointly progressively Type-II censored sample is available, while the last two cases correspond to jointly Type-I hybrid censored and jointly Type-II hybrid censored samples. For each one of these cases, we derive the conditional MLEs of the k exponential mean parameters, and derive their conditional moment generating functions and exact densities, using which we then develop exact confidence intervals for the k population parameters. Furthermore, approximate confidence intervals based on the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, parametric bootstrap intervals, and credible confidence regions from a Bayesian viewpoint are all discussed. An empirical evaluation of all these methods of confidence intervals is also made in terms of coverage probabilities and average widths. Finally, we present examples in order to illustrate all the methods of inference developed here for different joint censoring scenarios. KEY WORDS: Exponential distribution; Joint Type-II censoring; Joint progressive Type-II censoring; Joint Type-II hybrid censoring; Joint Type-I hybrid censoring; Likelihood inference; Confidence bounds and intervals; Bayesian inference; Bias; Parametric bootstrap confidence intervals; Coverage probabilities; Conditional M-LEs; Conditional confidence intervals; Mean square error.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Professor N. Balakrishnan, for his guidance, support, encouragement, great patience, and careful reading of my manuscript. I am very grateful to members of my supervisory committee: Dr. Shui Feng and Dr. Aaron Childs for serving on my examination committee.

I would like to thank my friends Dr. Daihai He and Kin-yat Liu (Department of Applied Mathematics at Hong Kong polytechnic university) for helpful discussion on my R code. Thanks are also due to Dr. William Volterman and my friend Xiaojun Zhu for the helpful discussion on my thesis. I am also thankful to the faculty members and staff for their help during my graduate studies.

Finally, special thanks go to my wife, Dr. Xingqiu Zhao and my lovely daughter, Wen Su, for their support, encouragement and understanding.

Contents

A	bstra	ict		iii
\mathbf{A}	ckno	wledge	ements	v
1	Intr	roducti	ion	1
	1.1	Order	Statistics	1
	1.2	Comm	non Censoring Schemes	3
		1.2.1	Type-I Censoring	3
		1.2.2	Type-II Censoring	4
		1.2.3	Progressive Type-II Censoring	4
		1.2.4	Type-I and Type-II Hybrid Censoring	5
	1.3	Joint	Censoring and Background	6
		1.3.1	Joint Type-II Censoring	8
		1.3.2	Joint Progressive Type-II Censoring	10
		1.3.3	Joint Type-I and Type-II Hybrid Censoring	11
	1.4	Scope	of the Thesis	14

2	Infe	erence Under Joint Type-II Censoring	16
	2.1	Introduction	16
	2.2	MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference	19
	2.3	Approximate Confidence Intervals	32
	2.4	Bayesian Intervals	33
	2.5	Bootstrap Intervals	35
	2.6	Simulation Results and Discussion	36
	2.7	Illustrative Example	38
3	Infe	erence Under Joint Progressive Type-II Censoring	46
	3.1	Introduction	46
	3.2	MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference	50
	3.3	Approximate Confidence Intervals	62
	3.4	Bayesian Intervals	63
	3.5	Bootstrap Intervals	64
	3.6	Simulation Results and Discussion	66
	3.7	Illustrative Example	67
4	Infe	erence Under Joint Type-II Hybrid Censoring	77
	4.1	Introduction	77
	4.2	MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference	81
	4.3	Approximate Confidence Intervals	103

	4.4	Bayesian Intervals	105
	4.5	Bootstrap Intervals	106
	4.6	Simulation Results and Discussion	108
5	Infe	erence Under Joint Type-I Hybrid Censoring	113
	5.1	MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference	113
	5.2	Approximate Confidence Intervals	124
	5.3	Bayesian Intervals	126
	5.4	Bootstrap Intervals	127
	5.5	Simulation Results and Discussion	129
6	Cor	cluding Remarks	134
	6.1	Summary of Work	134
	6.2	Possible Further Research	136
Aj	ppen	dix	
A	Pro	of of Some Lemmas	138
Bi	Bibliography		

List of Tables

2.1	Average values of the conditional MLEs for different choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3)	
	and r	39
2.2	Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices	
	of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and small r	40
2.3	Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices	
	of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and large r	41
2.4	Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices	
	of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and large r	42
2.5	Failure time data as three groups of insulating fluids	42
2.6	Bootstrap <i>p</i> -values for likelihood ratio statistic for testing H_0 : θ_1 =	
	$\theta_2 = \theta_3 \ldots \ldots$	43
2.7	Jointly Type-II censored data observed from Table 2.5 with $r=15$.	43
2.8	Conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and	
	mean square errors based on jointly Type-II censored data from Table	
	2.7	44

- 3.1 Different choices of sample sizes and the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme employed in the simulation study. (Here, (1₇,0), for example, means that the censoring scheme employed is (1,1,1,1,1,1,0)) 68
- 3.2 Different choices of sample sizes and the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme employed in the simulation study. (Here, (1₇, 0), for example, means that the censoring scheme employed is (1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0)) 69

3.8	Joint progressively Type-II censored data observed from Table 3.7 with	
	$r = 12$ and censoring scheme $R_1 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	74
3.9	Joint progressively Type-II censored data observed from Table 3.7 with	
	$r = 12$ and censoring scheme $R_2 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	75
3.10	Conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and	
	mean square errors based on joint progressively Type-II censored data	
	from Tables 3.8 and 3.9 according to the censoring schemes $R_1 = (1_{12})$	
	and $R_2 = (2_6, 0_6)$	75
3.11	Estimates of the covariance matrix of the conditional MLEs based on	
	joint progressively Type-II censored data from Tables 3.8 and 3.9 $$	75
3.12	95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ corresponding to different meth-	
	ods based on joint progressively Type-II censored data from Table 3.8	
	and 3.9 for censoring schemes R_1 and R_2	76
4.1	The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their	
	standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and	
	n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T	109
4.2	The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their	
	standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and	
	n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T	110

4.3	The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the	
	conditional MLEs when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and $n = (6, 6, 6)$ for different	
	choices of r and T	111
4.4	The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the	
	conditional MLEs when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and $n = (6, 6, 6)$ for different	
	choices of r and T	112
5.1	The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their	
	standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and	
	n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T	130
5.2	The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their	
	standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and	
	n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T	131
5.3	The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the	
	conditional MLEs when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and $n = (6, 6, 6)$ for different	
	choices of r and T	132
5.4	The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the	
	conditional MLEs when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and $n = (6, 6, 6)$ for different	
	choices of r and T	133

List of Figures

2.1	Plot of the function $g(\theta_1) = P_{\theta_1}(\hat{\theta}_l > b)$ for the choice of $b = 0.4, 1.4, 2.4, 5.4$		
	respectively.	31	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Order Statistics

In general, the failure times we observe from a life-testing experiment arise in a naturally increasing order, and so we can use the theory of order statistics to analyze these lifetime data. Extensive literature exists with regard to theory, methods and applications of order statistics. Interested readers may refer to the books by Arnold et al. (1992), Balakrishnan and Rao (1998a, b) and David and Nagaraja (2003) for exhaustive reviews on all these developments.

Let X_1, X_2, \dots, X_n be a random sample of size n from a continuous population with cumulative distribution function (cdf) F(x) and probability density function (pdf) f(x). The smallest of the X_i 's is denoted by $X_{1:n}$, the second smallest is denoted by $X_{2:n}$, and so on, and the largest is denoted by $X_{n:n}$. The order statistics so obtained are $X_{1:n} \leq X_{2:n} \leq \cdots \leq X_{n:n}$. To derive the density function of $X_{i:n}$, for $i = 1, 2, \cdots, n$, we consider the event $\{x < X_{i:n} \leq x + \delta_x\}$, which is the same as $X_r \leq x$ for i - 1 of X_r 's, $x < X_r \leq x + \delta_x$ for exactly one of X_r 's, and $X_r > x + \delta_x$ for the remaining n - i many of X_r 's, except for terms of order $O(\delta_x^2)$. Evidently, we have $\frac{n!}{(i-1)!(n-i)!}$ many such possible events. Thus, we have

$$P(x < X_{i:n} \le x + \delta_x)$$

$$= \frac{n!}{(i-1)!(n-i)!} [F(x)]^{i-1} [1 - F(x+\delta_x)]^{n-i} (F(x+\delta_x) - F(x)) + O(\delta_x^2),$$

where $O(\delta_x^2)$ corresponding to all events with at least two X_r 's in the interval $(x, x + \delta_x)$. The pdf of $X_{i:n}$ is then obtained as

$$f_{i:n}(x) = \lim_{\delta_x \to 0} \frac{P(x < X_{i:n} \le x + \delta_x)}{\delta_x}$$

= $\frac{n!}{(i-1)!(n-i)!} f(x) [F(x)]^{i-1} [1 - F(x)]^{n-i}, \quad -\infty < x < \infty.$

Similarly, the joint pdf of $X_{i:n}$ and $X_{j:n}$ can be obtained as

$$f_{i,j:n}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{n!}{(i-1)!(j-i-1)!(n-j)!} f(x_i) f(x_j) [F(x_i)]^{i-1} [F(x_j) - F(x_i)]^{j-i-1} [1 - F(x_j)]^{n-j},$$

$$-\infty < x_i < x_j < \infty.$$

The joint pdf of $X_{1:n}, \dots, X_{n:n}$ can be obtained directly as

$$f_{1,\dots,n:n}(x_1,\dots,x_n) = n! \prod_{i=1}^n f(x_i), \quad -\infty < x_1 < \dots < x_n < \infty.$$

The diverse applications of order statistics include robust estimation, detection of outliers, inference based on censored sample, survival analysis, and reliability theory. Of course, as mentioned earlier, order statistics play a very important role in the analysis of data obtained from life-testing experiments.

1.2 Common Censoring Schemes

Censoring is often encountered in reliability and life-testing experiments, since the experimenter may have to terminate the test before all items have failed due to time limit or economic reason. The two most common forms are Type-I and Type-II censoring schemes. In Type-I censoring scheme, the experimental time is fixed, but the number of observed failures is a random variable. In Type-II censoring scheme, the number of observed failures is fixed, but the experimental time is a random variable.

1.2.1 Type-I Censoring

Consider a life-testing experiment in which n units are placed on test. The ordered lifetimes of these units are denoted by $X_{1:n}, X_{2:n}, \dots, X_{n:n}$, respectively. The lifetimes of the sample units are assumed to be independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) random variables with cdf F(x) and pdf f(x).

Let T be a pre-fixed time. In Type-I censoring scheme, the experimenter will choose to terminate the experiment at the time point T. Let D be the random variable such that $X_{D:n} \leq T < X_{(D+1):n}$. Then, in this case, we have the likelihood function as

$$L(\theta | x_1, \cdots, x_D) = \frac{n!}{(n-D)!} \prod_{i=1}^D f(x_i)(1 - F(T))^{n-D},$$
$$x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_D < T.$$

1.2.2 Type-II Censoring

Let r be a pre-fixed positive integer. In Type-II censoring scheme, the experimenter will choose to terminate the experiment when r failures have been observed. Thus, the experimental time here is $X_{r:n}$. In this case, we have

$$L(\theta | x_1, \cdots, x_r) = \frac{n!}{(n-r)!} \prod_{i=1}^r f(x_i) (1 - F(x_r))^{n-r},$$
$$x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_r.$$

1.2.3 Progressive Type-II Censoring

Progressive censoring has been discussed quite extensively recently in the literature. Suppose (R_1, R_2, \dots, R_r) is the pre-fixed progressive censoring scheme. Then, under the progressive Type-II censoring scheme, at the time of the first failure, R_1 of the n-1 surviving units are withdrawn randomly from the life-test, at the time of the second failure, R_2 of the $n-R_1-2$ surviving units are withdrawn randomly from the life-test, and so on, until the *r*-th failure is observed, at which time, all remaining surviving units are withdrawn from the life-test. In this case, we have

$$L(\theta | x_1, \cdots, x_r) = \prod_{j=1}^r (n-j+1 - \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} R_i) \prod_{i=1}^r f(x_i) (1 - F(x_i))^{R_i},$$
$$x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_r.$$

As we can see, if $R_1 = R_2 = \cdots = R_{r-1} = 0$, then $R_r = n - r$ which corresponds to the conventional Type-II censoring scheme. Of course, if r = n with $R_1 = R_2 = \cdots = R_n = 0$, then we will have the complete sample situation.

1.2.4 Type-I and Type-II Hybrid Censoring

In Type-I hybrid censoring scheme, the experimenter will choose to terminate the experiment at the time point $T^* = \min\{X_{r:n}, T\}$. Thus, the test is terminated when a pre-fixed number, r < n, out of n items has been observed, or when a pre-fixed time T, has been reached. In this censoring, the experimental time is no more than T, but the number of observed failures is a random variable.

In Type-II hybrid censoring scheme, the experimenter will choose to terminate the experiment at the time point $T^{**} = \max\{X_{r:n}, T\}$. Thus, if the *r*-th failure is observed before time *T*, the test will be terminated at time *T*; if the *r*-th failure is observed after time T, the test will be terminated at time $X_{r:n}$. In this censoring, the number of observed failures is at least r, but the experimental time is a random variable.

1.3 Joint Censoring and Background

The joint censoring scheme is of practical significance in conducting comparative lifetests of products from different lines within the same facility. Suppose products are being manufactured by k different lines within the same facility, and that k independent samples of sizes n_h , $1 \le h \le k$, are selected from these k lines and placed simultaneously on a life-testing experiment. In order to reduce the cost of the experiment as well as the experimental time, the experimenter may choose to terminate the experiment after a certain number (say, r) of failures has been observed altogether. In this situation, one may be interested in either point or interval estimation of the mean lifetimes of units produced by these k lines. In this thesis, we derive the maximum likelihood estimates of the scale parameters of k exponential populations under this set-up, and then develop exact conditional inferential methods based on these maximum likelihood estimates.

The joint censoring scheme has been considered before in the literature. For example, Epstein (1954) introduced the Type-I hybrid censoring scheme (Type-I HCS) in which the life-testing experiment is terminated as soon as a pre-specified number r out of n items has failed or a pre-fixed time T on test has been reached. The Type-I

HCS has been used as a reliability acceptance test in MIL-STD-781 C (1977). While Basu (1968) discussed a generalized Savage statistic, Johnson and Mehrotra (1972) studied a locally most powerful rank test under joint censoring. The problem of testing for the equality of two distributions, under the assumption of exponentiality, was discussed by Bhattacharyya and Mehrotra (1981). All these developments under the joint censoring scheme have focused on nonparametric and parametric tests of hypotheses; see Bhattacharyya (1995, Chapter 7 of Balakrishnan and Basu (1995)) for details. For the exact inference based on the MLEs, Chen and Bhattacharyya (1988) derived the exact distribution of the maximum likelihood estimator of the mean of an exponential distribution and an exact lower confidence bound for the mean based on a Type-I hybrid censored sample. Childs et al. (2003) obtained an alternative simpler form for the result of Chen and Bhattacharyya and also developed similar results for the case of Type-II hybrid censoring.

To study two or more competing products in regard to the duration of their service life, comparative lifetime experiments are quite useful. In this regard, Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2008) discussed exact inference for two exponential populations when Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples in a joint manner. Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2010) subsequently extended their work to the case of two exponential populations when joint progressive Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples in a combined manner. Recently, Shafay et al. (2012) developed exact inference for two exponential populations under joint Type-II hybrid censoring on the two samples. By assuming two Weibull populations, Parsi et al. (2012) discussed conditional maximum likelihood estimation and associated confidence intervals for the model parameters.

1.3.1 Joint Type-II Censoring

Let us suppose that (X_1, \dots, X_N) are N jointly distributed random variables, with $\{X_1, \dots, X_N\} = \{X_{11}, \dots, X_{1n_1}; X_{21}, \dots, X_{2n_2}; \dots; X_{k1}, \dots, X_{kn_k}\}$, with $N = \sum_{h=1}^k n_h$. Suppose $X_{11}, X_{12}, \dots, X_{1n_1}$ are the lifetimes of n_1 specimens from production line A_1 , and are independent and identically distributed (iid) variables from a population with cdf $F_1(x)$ and pdf $f_1(x)$. Similarly, $X_{21}, X_{22}, \dots, X_{2n_2}$ are the lifetimes of n_2 specimens from production line A_2 , and are assumed to be a sample from pdf $f_2(x)$ and cdf $F_2(x)$, and so on, with $X_{k1}, X_{k2}, \dots, X_{kn_k}$ denoting the lifetimes of n_k specimens from production line A_k being iid variables from pdf $f_k(x)$ and cdf $F_k(x)$. Denote the order statistics of these k random samples by $W_1 \leq W_2 \leq \dots \leq W_N$, where N is the total sample size.

Let r denote a pre-fixed total number of failures to be observed. Then, under the joint Type-II censoring scheme for the k-samples, the observable data consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$, where $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r)$, $w_i \in \{X_{h_i 1}, X_{h_i 2}, \dots, X_{h_i n_i}\}$ for $1 \leq h_1, h_2, \dots, h_r \leq k, h_i$ indicating the production line where w_i is from. Moreover, associated to (h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r) , let us define $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1(h), \delta_2(h), \cdots, \delta_r(h))$ as

$$\delta_i(h) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } h = h_i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1.3.1)

Under such a joint Type-II censoring scheme, to derive the joint probability density function (pdf) of W_1, W_2, \dots, W_r , we consider the event $\Omega = \{w_i < W_i \le w_i + \varepsilon_{w_i}, 1 \le i \le r\}$ for $w_1 \le w_2 \le \dots \le w_r$, and $W_i \ge w_r + \varepsilon_{w_r}$ for the remaining N - r of the W_i 's. Let $M_r(h)$ be the number of units selected from the *h*-th sample $\{X_{h1}, \dots, X_{hn_h}\}$ for $1 \le h \le k$. Evidently, we have $\prod_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h!}{(n_h - M_r(h))!}$ many such possible events. Consequently, we have

$$P(\Omega) = \prod_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h}!}{(n_{h} - M_{r}(h))!} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left[F_{h}(w_{i} + \varepsilon_{w_{i}}) - F_{h}(w_{i})\right]^{\delta_{i}(h)} \\ \times \prod_{i=r+1}^{N} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left[1 - F_{h}(w_{r} + \varepsilon_{w_{r}})\right]^{\delta_{i}(h)} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} O(\varepsilon_{w_{i}}^{2}).$$

The joint pdf of W_1, W_2, \cdots, W_r is then obtained as

$$f(w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r) = c_r \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(w_r))^{n_h - M_r(h)},$$
$$-\infty < w_1 < w_2 < \cdots < w_r < \infty,$$

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$ and $c_r = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$.

1.3.2 Joint Progressive Type-II Censoring

The joint progressive Type-II censoring is implemented as follows. At the time of the first failure $W_1 \in X_{h_1}$ for some $1 \leq h_1 \leq k$, R_1 units are randomly withdrawn from the remaining N-1 surviving units. Next, at the time of the second failure $W_2 \in X_{h_2}$ for some $1 \leq h_2 \leq k$, R_2 units are randomly withdrawn from the remaining $N-R_1-2$ surviving units, and so on. Finally, at the time of the *r*-th failure $W_r \in X_{h_r}$ for some $1 \leq h_r \leq k$, all remaining $R_r = N - r - \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} R_i$ surviving units are withdrawn from the life-testing experiment. One may refer to the book by Balakrishnan and Aggarwala (2000) and the discussion paper by Balakrishnan (2007) for elaborate details on progressive Type-II censoring and associated inferential results. Here, the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme $\mathbf{R} = (R_1, R_2, \cdots, R_r)$ is pre-fixed and has the decomposition $R_i = \sum_{h=1}^k s_i(h), 1 \leq i \leq r$, where $s_i(h)$ is the number of units withdrawn at the time of the *i*-th failure belonging to the *h*-th sample, and these are unknown and are latent random variables. The data observed in this form will consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{w})$, where $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_r)$ and $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r)$.

Under such a joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme, to derive the joint pdf of W_1, W_2, \dots, W_r , we consider the event $\Omega = \{w_i < W_i \le w_i + \varepsilon_{w_i}, 1 \le i \le r\}$ for $w_1 \le w_2 \le \dots \le w_r$, and for each i $(1 \le i \le r)$, R_i of the $N - i - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} R_j$ surviving units are withdrawn randomly from the life-test, in which $s_i(h)$ of $n_h - M_i(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_j(h)$ many units are from h-th sample for $1 \le h \le k$. Where $M_{i-1}(h)$ is the number of units among W_1, W_2, \dots, W_{i-1} , selected from the h-th sample $\{X_{h1}, \dots, X_{hn_h}\}$ for

 $1 \leq h \leq k$. Let $S_{\mathbf{R}}$ be the set of all such possible \mathbf{s} . Evidently, for each specified \mathbf{s} , we have D_1 many possible choice for the observed data and the probability of $\mathbf{s} \in S_{\mathbf{R}}$ is D_2 , where

$$D_{1} = \prod_{i=1}^{r} \left[\sum_{h=1}^{k} \left(n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j} \right) \delta_{i}(h) \right],$$
$$D_{2} = \prod_{i=1}^{r-1} \left\{ \frac{\prod_{h=1}^{k} \left(n_{h} - M_{i}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(h) \right)}{\left(s_{j}(h) \right)} \left(N - i - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} R_{j} \right) \right\}.$$

Consequently, we have

$$f(w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r) = c_r \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(w_i))^{s_i(h)},$$

$$-\infty < w_1 < w_2 < \cdots < w_r < \infty$$

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$ and $c_r = D_1 D_2$.

1.3.3 Joint Type-I and Type-II Hybrid Censoring

Under the joint Type-I and Type-II hybrid censoring schemes for the k-samples, the observable data consist of (δ, \mathbf{w}) , where δ is the vector of indicators and \mathbf{w} is the vector of ordered lifetimes, and these will be defined subsequently. Like conventional Type-I censoring scheme, the main disadvantage of Type-I hybrid censoring scheme is

that most of the inferential results are obtained under the condition that the number of observed failures is at least one, and moreover, there may be very few failures at the termination point of the experiment. In that case, the efficiency of the estimator(s) may be low. For this reason, Childs et al. (2003) introduced the Type-II hybrid censoring scheme as an alternative to the Type-I hybrid censoring scheme. It has the advantage of guaranteeing that at least r failures will be observed at the end of the experiment. Of course, the disadvantage of this scheme is that the duration of the test is random.

Let D denote the number of failures up to time T. Then, D is a discrete random variable with support $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, N\}$ with probability mass function

$$P(D=d) = \sum \begin{pmatrix} n_1 \\ l_1 \end{pmatrix} p_1^{l_1} q_1^{n_1 - l_1} \begin{pmatrix} n_2 \\ l_2 \end{pmatrix} p_2^{l_2} q_2^{n_2 - l_2} \cdots \begin{pmatrix} n_k \\ l_k \end{pmatrix} p_k^{l_k} q_k^{n_k - l_k},$$

where the summation is over (l_1, l_2, \dots, l_k) for which $\sum_{i=1}^k l_i = d$ for $1 \le l_i \le n_i$, and $p_j = F_j(T), q_j = 1 - F_j(T)$ $(1 \le j \le k)$. Therefore, under the joint Type-I hybrid censoring scheme described above, the observable data $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$ is of the following form:

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = \begin{cases} (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_D; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_D), & \text{with } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r-1, \\ (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), & \text{with } D = r, r+1, \cdots, N. \end{cases}$$

Under the joint Type-II hybrid censoring scheme described above, the observable data

 $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$ is of the following form:

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = \begin{cases} (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), & \text{with } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r-1; \\ (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_D; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_D), & \text{with } D = r, r+1, \cdots, N, \end{cases}$$

where δ is as defined in (1.3.1).

Now, the joint pdf of W_1, W_2, \dots, W_r under joint Type-I hybrid censoring is obtained as

$$f(w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r) = \begin{cases} c_D \prod_{i=1}^{D} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (S_h(T))^{n_h - M_D(h)}, & T < w_r, \\ c_r \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (S_h(w_r))^{n_h - M_r(h)}, & T > w_r, \\ w_1 < w_2 < \cdots < w_r, \end{cases}$$

and the joint pdf of W_1, W_2, \cdots, W_r under joint Type-II hybrid censoring is obtained as

$$f(w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r) = \begin{cases} c_r \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(w_r))^{n_h - M_r(h)}, & T < w_r, \\ c_D \prod_{i=1}^D \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(T))^{n_h - M_D(h)}, & T > w_r, \\ w_1 < w_2 < \cdots < w_r, \end{cases}$$

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$, $S_h(T) = 1 - F_h(T)$, $c_r = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$ and $c_D = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_D(h))!}$.

1.4 Scope of the Thesis

The main aim of this thesis is to consider k exponential distributions for the samples from k production lines, and to derive the exact distribution of the maximum likelihood estimators (MLEs) of the unknown parameters and to construct exact confidence intervals under various forms of joint censoring on the k samples.

In Chapter 2, when a jointly Type-II censored sample arising from k independent exponential populations is available, we derive the conditional MLEs of the k exponential mean parameters. The conditional moment generating functions and the exact densities of these MLEs are also obtained. By using these exact densities of the MLEs, we develop exact confidence intervals for the parameters. Moreover, approximate confidence intervals based on the asymptotic normality of the MLEs and credible confidence regions from a Bayesian viewpoint are also discussed. An empirical comparison of the exact, approximate, bootstrap and Bayesian intervals is also made in terms of coverage probabilities. Finally, an example is presented in order to illustrate all the methods of inference developed.

In Chapter 3, based on a joint progressively Type-II censored sample arising from k independent exponential populations, we discuss the conditional MLEs of the k exponential mean parameters and derive their conditional moment generating functions and exact densities. By using these exact densities of the MLEs, we develop exact confidence intervals for the exponential mean parameters. Furthermore, approximate confidence intervals based on the asymptotic normality of the MLEs and credible

confidence regions from a Bayesian viewpoint are discussed. An empirical evaluation of the exact, approximate, bootstrap and Bayesian intervals is also made in terms of coverage probabilities and average widths. Finally, an example is presented in order to illustrate all the methods of inference developed.

In Chapter 4, inferential methods based on joint Type-II hybrid censoring scheme (HCS) are discussed. Based on a joint Type-II HCS arising from k independent exponential populations, we obtain the conditional MLEs of the k exponential mean parameters. We also derive their conditional moment generating functions and exact densities. Using these exact density functions, we then derive the means, variances and mean squared errors of these estimates, and also exact confidence intervals for the parameters. Moreover, approximate confidence intervals based on the asymptotic normality of the MLEs and credible confidence intervals from a Bayesian viewpoint are discussed. Finally, some simulation results are presented in order to illustrate all the methods of inference developed.

In Chapter 5, analogous results are developed for the joint Type-I HCS. We develop the exact results and also present some numerical results and an example to illustrate the established results.

Finally, in Chapter 6, we make some concluding remarks and also indicate some directions for possible future research.

Chapter 2

Inference Under Joint Type-II Censoring

2.1 Introduction

The joint censoring scheme is of practical significance in conducting comparative lifetests of products from different units within the same facility. Suppose products are being manufactured by k different lines within the same facility, and that k independent samples of sizes n_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, are selected from these k lines and placed simultaneously on a life-testing experiment. Then, in order to reduce the cost of experiment and also to reduce the experimental time, the experimenter may choose to terminate the life-testing experiment as soon as a certain number (say, r) of failures occur. In this situation, one may be interested in either point or interval estimation of the mean lifetimes of units produced by these k lines. Here, exact results based on the maximum likelihood estimates are developed to facilitate this.

This joint censoring scheme has been considered before in the literature. Basu (1968) discussed a generalized Savage statistic. Johnson and Mehrotra (1972) studied locally most powerful rank test under joint censoring. The problem of testing for the equality of two distributions, under the assumption of exponentiality, was discussed by Bhattacharyya and Mehrotra (1981). All these developments under this joint censoring scheme have focused on nonparametric and parametric tests of hypotheses; see Bhattacharyya (1995, Chapter 7 of Balakrishnan and Basu (1995)). For the exact inference based on the MLEs, Chen and Bhattacharyva (1988) derived the exact distribution of the maximum likelihood estimator of the mean of an exponential distribution and an exact lower confidence bound for the mean based on a hybrid censored sample. Childs et al. (2003) obtained an alternative simple form which is equivalent to the results of Chen and Bhattacharyva. To study two or more competing products in regard to the duration of their service life, comparative lifetime experiments are of great importance. In this regard, Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2008) discussed exact inference for two exponential populations when Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples in a joint manner. Here, we generalize their work by considering the k-sample problem. Suppose the test units from k lines under study are placed on a life-test simultaneously, that the successive failure times and the corresponding types (lines from which the failed units come from) are recorded, and that the experiment is terminated as soon as a specified total number of failures (say, r) occurred.

Suppose $X_{11}, X_{12}, \dots, X_{1n_1}$ are the lifetimes of n_1 specimens from line A_1 , and assumed to be independent and identically distributed (iid) variables from a population with cumulative distribution function (cdf) $F_1(x)$ and probability density function (pdf) $f_1(x)$. Similarly, $X_{21}, X_{22}, \dots, X_{2n_2}$ are the lifetimes of n_2 specimens from line A_2 and assumed to be a sample from pdf $f_2(x)$ and cdf $F_2(x)$, and so on, with $X_{k1}, X_{k2}, \dots, X_{kn_k}$ denoting the lifetimes of n_k specimens from line A_k being iid variables from pdf $f_k(x)$ and cdf $F_k(x)$.

Furthermore, let $N = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$ denote the total sample size and r denote the total number of failures observed. Let $w_1 \leq w_2 \leq \cdots \leq w_N$ denote the order statistics of the N random variables $\{X_{ij}; 1 \leq i \leq k, 1 \leq j \leq n_i\}$.

Therefore, under the joint Type-II censoring scheme for the k-samples, the observable data consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$, where $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r)$, $w_i \in \{X_{h_i 1}, X_{h_i 2}, \cdots, X_{h_i n_i}\}$ for $1 \leq h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r \leq k$, with r being a pre-fixed integer. Finally, associated to (h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r) , let us define $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1(h), \delta_2(h), \cdots, \delta_r(h))$ as

$$\delta_i(h) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } h = h_i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.1.1)

2.2 MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

Let $M_r(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$ denote the number of X_h -failures in \mathbf{W} for $1 \le h \le k$ and $r = \sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h)$. Then, the likelihood of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W})$ is given by

$$L(\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, \cdots, \theta_{k}, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_{r} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (f_{h}(w_{i}))^{\delta_{i}(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (S_{h}(w_{r}))^{n_{h}-M_{r}(h)}, \qquad (2.2.1)$$

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$ and $c_r = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$. When the k populations are exponential with cdf $F_h(x) = 1 - \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h})$, x > 0, and pdf $f_h(x) = \frac{1}{\theta_h} \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h})$, x > 0, for $1 \le h \le k$, the likelihood function in (2.2.1) becomes

$$L(\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, \cdots, \theta_{k}, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W})$$

$$= c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left\{ \exp\left(-\frac{w_{i}}{\theta_{h}}\right) \right\}^{\delta_{i}(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left\{ \exp\left(-\frac{w_{r}}{\theta_{h}}\right) \right\}^{n_{h}-M_{r}(h)}$$

$$= c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \exp\left\{-M_{r}(h) \log \theta_{h} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{r} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h)}{\theta_{h}} - \frac{w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{r}(h))}{\theta_{h}} \right\} \qquad (2.2.2)$$

$$= c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \exp\left\{-M_{r}(h) \log \theta_{h} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{M_{r}(h)} x_{hi}}{\theta_{h}} - \frac{w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{r}(h))}{\theta_{h}} \right\}. \qquad (2.2.3)$$

From (2.2.2), we can readily obtain the MLE of θ_h , for $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\hat{\theta}_h = \frac{1}{M_r(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h)) \right\},$$
(2.2.4)

or equivalently from (2.2.3) as

$$\hat{\theta}_h = \frac{1}{M_r(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{M_r(h)} x_{hi} + w_r(n_h - M_r(h)) \right\}.$$
(2.2.5)

Remark 1 From the likelihood function, we readily see that the MLE of θ_h does not exist when $M_r(h) = 0$. So, the MLEs in (2.2.5) are conditioned on $S = \{\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) = r$ r and $M_r(h) \ge 1, \forall 1 \le h \le k\}$, or equivalently on the set $S = \{\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) = r$ and $\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \ne 0\}$. We therefore need to discuss the exact distribution and other properties of the MLEs only conditional on the set S.

Lemma 1 Let $\mathbf{M}_r = (M_r(1), M_r(2), \dots, M_r(k))$ and $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \dots, t_k)$ with $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = r$. Further, let

$$\Gamma = \left\{ \mathbf{t} : \max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_j\} \le t_k \le \min\{r - k + 1, n_k\}, \\ \max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-2} n_j - t_k\} \le t_{k-1} \le \min\{r - k + 2 - t_k, n_{k-1}\}, \\ \dots \\ \max\{1, r - n_1 - \sum_{h=3}^{k} t_h\} \le t_2 \le \min\{r - \sum_{h=3}^{k} t_h, n_2\} \right\}.$$

Then, we have

$$P(S) = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}).$$
(2.2.6)

Proof Consider the set

$$S = \left\{ \sum_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) = r, \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0 \right\}.$$

Since $t_k \leq n_k$ and $r = \sum_{h=1}^k t_h \geq k - 1 + t_k$, we have $t_k \leq \min\{r - k + 1, n_k\}$. On the other hand, $t_k \geq 1$ and $r = \sum_{h=1}^k t_h \leq \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_h + t_k$, and so we have $t_k \geq \max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_h\}$.

When we fix t_k in this way, we get $\max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-2} n_j - t_k\} \le t_{k-1} \le \min\{r - k + 2 - t_k, n_{k-1}\}$, and therefore

$$S = \bigcup_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \{ \mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t} \}$$

which proves the lemma.

Remark 2 In fact, the set $\{M_r(1) = r - \sum_{h=2}^k t_h \stackrel{\triangle}{=} t_1, M_r(2) = t_2, \cdots, M_r(k) = t_k\}$ may be empty if any one of t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k is out of the range $\{\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k) : t_j \in \{1, 2, \cdots, n_j\}\}$. In this case, the probability of such a set becomes

$$P(\{M_r(1) = t_1, M_r(2) = t_2, \cdots, M_r(k) = t_k\}) = 0.$$

Theorem 1 (a) The joint probability mass function of δ is

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \prod_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_h}};$$
 (2.2.7)

(b) For $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$ such that $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = r$ and $t_j \ge 1$ for all j, let $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ be as defined in (1.3.1), $M_r(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$, and

$$Q^*(\mathbf{t}) = \{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}(\mathbf{h}) = (\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \cdots, \tilde{\delta}_r) \text{ such that } M_r(h) = t_h \text{ for } 1 \leq h \leq k \}.$$

Then,

$$P(\mathbf{M}_{r} = \mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-t_{h}} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}}};$$
(2.2.8)

(c) Finally, we have

$$P(S) = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}).$$
(2.2.9)

Proof (a) From (2.2.2), we have the joint density of (δ, \mathbf{W}) as

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{w_i \delta_i(h)}{\theta_h}\right\} \exp\left\{-w_r \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_r(h) + n_h - M_r(h)}{\theta_h}\right\}.$$
Let

$$a_j = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_j(h)}{\theta_h} = \frac{1}{\theta_{h_j}},$$

$$b_r = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_r(h) + n_h - M_r(h)}{\theta_h} = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{r-1}(h)}{\theta_h}.$$

Then, we have

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_r \left(\prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)}\right) \exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} a_i w_i - b_r w_r\right\}.$$
 (2.2.10)

Upon integrating out w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r over $\{0 \le w_1 \le w_2 \le \dots \le w_r < \infty\}$ in (2.2.10), by mapping it onto $\{0 \le u_i < \infty, 1 \le i \le k\}$ through the transformation

$$\begin{cases} u_1 = w_1, \\ u_2 = w_2 - w_1, \\ \dots \\ u_r = w_r - w_{r-1}, \end{cases}$$

we obtain the joint probability mass function of $\pmb{\delta}$ as

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \frac{1}{b_r} \prod_{i=1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b_r + \sum_{j=i}^{r-1} a_j}.$$
 (2.2.11)

Chapter 2.2 - MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

Observe that for $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, $M_r(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = \sum_{i=1}^r \tilde{\delta}_i(h)$ and

$$b_r + \sum_{j=i}^{r-1} a_j = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\tilde{\delta}_r(h) + n_h - M_r(h)}{\theta_h} + \sum_{j=i}^{r-1} \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\tilde{\delta}_j(h)}{\theta_h}$$
$$= \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\delta})}{\theta_h},$$

where $M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = \sum_{l=1}^{i-1} \tilde{\delta}_l(h)$ depends on $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, and yet we denote it by $M_{i-1}(h)$ for simplicity, and take $M_0(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = 0$. Thus, (2.2.7) is obtained.

- **(b)** It follows from (2.2.7).
- (c) The required result follows immediately from Lemma 1 and Part (b).

Example 1 When k = 3, we have

$$P(S) = \sum_{t_3=1}^{r-2} \sum_{t_2=1}^{r-1-t_3} P(M_r(1) = t_1, M_r(2) = t_2, M_r(3) = t_3)$$

As an example, let us take $n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 6$, and r = 10. Then, we can see that the sets $\{M_{10}(1) = 8, M_{10}(2) = 1, M_{10}(3) = 1\}$, $\{M_{10}(1) = 1, M_{10}(2) = 8, M_{10}(3) = 1\}$, $\{M_{10}(1) = 1, M_{10}(2) = 1, M_{10}(3) = 8\}$, $\{M_{10}(1) = 7, M_{10}(2) = 1, M_{10}(3) = 2\}$, etc. are all empty, and so the probability of these sets are 0. In this case, P(S) has the following form:

$$P(S) = \sum_{t_2=3}^{6} P(M_{10}(1) = 9 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 1)$$

+ $\sum_{t_2=2}^{6} P(M_{10}(1) = 8 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 2)$
+ $\sum_{t_2=1}^{6} P(M_{10}(1) = 7 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 3)$
+ $\sum_{t_2=1}^{5} P(M_{10}(1) = 6 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 4)$
+ $\sum_{t_2=1}^{4} P(M_{10}(1) = 5 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 5)$
+ $\sum_{t_2=1}^{3} P(M_{10}(1) = 4 - t_2, M_{10}(2) = t_2, M_{10}(3) = 6).$

Theorem 2 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the moment generating function (mgf) of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) is given by

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}}(t) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \prod_{i=1}^{r} (1 - \beta_{li}^{*} t)^{-1},$$

where ${\bf T}$ is the set defined in Lemma 1, and

$$\beta_{li}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{i-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}, \qquad 1 \le l \le k, \quad 1 \le i \le r.$$
(2.2.12)

Proof Conditioning on the values of \mathbf{M}_r for $\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0$ and then on $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, we

obtain

$$\begin{split} & E\left[\mathrm{e}^{t\hat{\theta}_l}|\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0\right] P\left(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0\right) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} E\left[\mathrm{e}^{t\hat{\theta}_l}|\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}\right] P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q^*(\mathbf{t}) 0 \leq w_1 \leq w_2 \leq \cdots \leq w_r < \infty} \mathrm{e}^{t\hat{\theta}_l} f(\boldsymbol{\tilde{\delta}}, \mathbf{W}) dw_1 \cdots dw_r \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \\ &\times \int_{0 \leq w_1 \leq w_2 \leq \cdots \leq w_r < \infty} \exp\left\{\frac{t}{M_r(l)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^r w_i \tilde{\delta}_i(l) + w_r(n_l - M_r(l))\right) \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} a_i w_i - b_r w_r\right\} dw_1 \cdots dw_r \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \\ &\times \int_{0 \leq w_1 \leq \cdots \leq w_r < \infty} \exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \left(a_i - \frac{t\tilde{\delta}_i(l)}{M_r(l)}\right) w_i \\ &- \left(b_r - \frac{t(n_l - M_{r-1}(l))}{M_r(l)}\right) w_r\right\} dw_1 \cdots dw_r \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \\ &\times \left\{\prod_{i=1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b_r + \sum_{j'=i}^{r-1} a_{j'} - \left(\frac{n_l - M_{r-1}(l)}{M_r(l)} - \sum_{j'=i}^{r-1} \frac{\tilde{\delta}_{j'}(l)}{M_r(l)}\right) t\right\} \frac{1}{b_r - \frac{t(n_l - M_{r-1}(l))}{M_r(l)}}. \end{split}$$

Now, observing that

$$b_{r} + \sum_{j'=i}^{r-1} a_{j'} - \left(\frac{n_{l} - M_{r-1}(l)}{M_{r}(l)} - \sum_{j'=i}^{r-1} \frac{\tilde{\delta}_{j'}(l)}{M_{r}(l)}\right) t$$

= $\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}} - \left(\frac{n_{l} - M_{i-1}(l)}{M_{r}(l)}\right) t$
= $(1 - \beta_{li}^{*}t) \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}}$

and $\beta_{li}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{i-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}$, we obtain

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}\prod_{i=1}^{r}\frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}}-\frac{t}{M_{r}(l)}(n_{l}-M_{i-1}(l))}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}\prod_{i=1}^{r}\frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}}}\prod_{i=1}^{r}(1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-1}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})\prod_{i=1}^{r}(1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-1},$$

as required.

Remark 3 For each fixed l, we may have some β_{li}^* 's to be the same. In this case, we resort the β_{li}^* 's and denote them by $\{\beta_{li}^*\}_{i=1}^{r'}$, and assume that α_i terms of β_{li}^* 's are equal, with $\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_i = r$. Thus, $\prod_{i=1}^r (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$. In this case, we can rewrite the conditional mgf in Theorem 2.2 as

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_l} | \prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0\right]$$

= $\frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}.$ (2.2.13)

Theorem 3 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the pdf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) is given by

$$f_{\hat{\theta}_l}(x) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) g_{Y_{l,\boldsymbol{\delta}}}(x), \quad (2.2.14)$$

where $P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$ is as given in (2.2.7), $Y_{l,\boldsymbol{\delta}} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r'} Y_{\alpha_{i},i}^{*}$ with $Y_{1,i}^{*}$ being independent random variables having gamma $G(\alpha_{i}, \beta_{li}^{*})$ distributions with shape parameter α_{i} and scale parameter β_{li}^{*} , and $g_{Y_{l,\boldsymbol{\delta}}}(x)$ is the pdf of $Y_{l,\boldsymbol{\delta}}$.

Remark 4 From (2.2.14), it is clear that the distribution of the MLE $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) is a weighted sum of distributions of random variables $Y_{l,\delta}$, where $Y_{l,\delta}$ itself is a sum of independent and non-identical gamma random variables.

Corollary 1 From (2.2.13), we immediately obtain the expressions for the first two moments of $\hat{\theta}_l$ as follows:

$$E(\hat{\theta}_l) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_i \beta_{li}^*$$

and

$$E(\hat{\theta}_l^2) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_i \beta_{li}^{*2} + \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_i \beta_{li}^{*} \right)^2 \right\}.$$

Then, $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ and $\operatorname{MSE}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ can be readily obtained from these two expressions.

It is convenient to rewrite the conditional mgf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) in Theorem 2.2 as

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}}(t) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^{*} t)^{-\alpha_{i}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i}} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^{*} t)^{-j},$$

where A_{li} 's are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$ in the partial fraction form $\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j}$ which can be determined by the use of Lemma 5 in Appendix. Since $(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j}$ is the mgf of a gamma distribution with shape parameter j and scale parameter β_{li}^* , we can obtain the tail probability of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) from the above expression as

$$P(\hat{\theta}_{l} > b) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}} \\ \times \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i}} A_{li}^{(j)} e^{-\frac{b}{\beta_{li}^{*}}} \sum_{j'=0}^{j-1} \frac{(\frac{b}{\beta_{li}^{*}})^{j'}}{j'!}. \quad (2.2.15)$$

We shall assume that $P(\hat{\theta}_l > b)$ is an increasing function of θ_l when all other θ_j 's are

fixed for $j \neq l$. This assumption guarantees the invertibility of the pivotal quantities, and it has been verified to be true in this case through extensive computations; see Figure 2.1, for example. It should be mentioned that this approach has been used by a number of authors for constructing exact confidence intervals in a variety of contexts; see, for example, Childs et al. (2003), Chandrasekar et al. (2004), and Balakrishnan et al. (2007). We then have a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ lower confidence bound for θ_l as θ_{lL} , where θ_{lL} is such that $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = \alpha$ with $\hat{\theta}_{l,obs}$ being the observed value of θ_l . Also, a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_l is $(\theta_{lL}, \theta_{lU})$, where θ_{lL} and θ_{lU} are determined by $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = \frac{\alpha}{2}$ and $P_{\theta_{lU}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = 1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}$.

By performing the same steps as done in the case of conditional marginal mgf, we can derive the conditional joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ as follows.

Theorem 4 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ is given by

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{1},\hat{\theta}_{2},\cdots,\hat{\theta}_{k}\mid\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0}(t_{1},\cdots,t_{k}) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0)}\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})\prod_{i=1}^{r}(1-\sum_{l=1}^{k}\beta_{li}^{*}t_{l})^{-1}, \quad (2.2.16)$$

where

$$\beta_{li}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{i-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}$$



Figure 2.1: Plot of the function $g(\theta_1) = P_{\theta_1}(\hat{\theta}_l > b)$ for the choice of b = 0.4, 1.4, 2.4, 5.4, respectively.

Chapter 2.3 - Approximate Confidence Intervals

Corollary 2 From (2.2.16), we obtain the covariance of $\hat{\theta}_{l_1}$ and $\hat{\theta}_{l_2}$ to be

$$Cov(\hat{\theta}_{l_{1}},\hat{\theta}_{l_{2}}) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \beta_{l_{1},i}^{*} \beta_{l_{2},i}^{*} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} \beta_{l_{1},i}^{*} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \beta_{l_{2},j}^{*}\right) - \frac{1}{\left\{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)\right\}^{2}} \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r} \beta_{l_{1},i}^{*} \times \sum_{\mathbf{t}'\in\mathbf{T}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{t}')} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r} \beta_{l_{2},i}^{*}.$$

$$(2.2.17)$$

2.3 Approximate Confidence Intervals

Let $I(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = (I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)), i, j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, denote the Fisher information matrix of the parameters $\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k$, where

$$I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k) = -E\left(\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_i \partial \theta_j}\right).$$
(2.3.1)

From the likelihood function in (2.2.3), we have $I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = 0$ if $i \neq j$. Consequently, we have

$$I(\hat{\theta}_{1}, \hat{\theta}_{2}, \cdots, \hat{\theta}_{k}) = -\text{Diag}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{1}=\hat{\theta}_{1}}, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{2}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{2}=\hat{\theta}_{2}}, \cdots, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{k}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{k}=\hat{\theta}_{k}}\right), \qquad (2.3.2)$$

Chapter 2.4 - Bayesian Intervals

where

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2} \Big|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2 \sum_{j=1}^{M_r(h)} x_{hj}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3} - \frac{2 \left\{ w_r(n_h - M_r(h)) \right\}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3} \\ = -\frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2}.$$

Then, by using the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, we have $\hat{\theta}_h - \theta_h \sim N(0, I_{h,h}^{-1})$, using which we can express the approximate $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\hat{\theta}_h \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{M_r(h)} x_{hi} + w_r(n_h - M_r(h))}{(M_r(h))^{\frac{3}{2}}} = \hat{\theta}_h \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{\sqrt{M_r(h)}} \right),$$

where $Z_{\alpha/2}$ denotes the upper $\alpha/2$ percentage point of the standard normal distribution.

2.4 Bayesian Intervals

Let $u_h = \sum_{i=1}^{M_r(h)} x_{hi} + w_r(n_h - M_r(h))$. Then, we can rewrite the likelihood function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h}{\theta_h}\right).$$
(2.4.1)

Now, by assuming independent inverse gamma prior distributions, viz., $IG(a_h, b_h)$

Chapter 2.4 - Bayesian Intervals

for $1 \le h \le k$, we obtain from (2.4.1) the posterior joint density function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k | data) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h) - a_h - 1} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h + b_h}{\theta_h}\right)$$

Upon comparing this with (2.4.1), we see that the joint posterior density function of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)$ is a product of k independent inverse gamma density functions. So, given the data, the posterior density function of $\hat{\theta}_h$ is simply $IG(M_r(h) + a_h, u_h + b_h)$. Thus, the Bayes estimator of θ_h under the squared-error loss function is

$$\hat{\theta}_{h,Bayes} = \frac{u_h + b_h}{M_r(h) + a_h - 1}, \qquad h = 1, 2, \cdots, k.$$
 (2.4.2)

When we use Jeffreys' non-informative prior $I(\theta_h) \propto \frac{1}{\theta_h^2}$ corresponding to the special case when $a_h = 1$ and $b_h = 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the Bayes estimators in (2.4.2) coincide with the MLEs in (2.2.5).

Let $U_h = \frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\theta_h}$ for $1 \le h \le k$. Then, the pivot U_h follows $\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h)}$ distribution, provided $2(M_r(h)+a_h)$ is a positive integer, for $1 \le h \le k$. In this case, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Bayes credible interval for θ_h becomes

$$\left(\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h),1-\alpha/2}},\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h),\alpha/2}}\right), \qquad h=1,2,\cdots,k,$$

where $\chi^2_{v,\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ is the lower $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ percentage point of the chi-square distribution with v degrees of freedom.

2.5 Bootstrap Intervals

In this section, we consider confidence interval for θ_h $(h = 1, 2, \dots, k)$ based on the Bootstrap-*p* and Bootstrap-*t* methods; see, for example, Efron and Tibshirani (1994).

To find the Bootstrap-p and Bootstrap-t intervals, in the first step, we generate original samples from k exponential populations with parameters θ_h of size n_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Next we sort the data, and determine to which population each failure belongs, and then estimate θ_h based on the conditional MLE in (2.2.5). In the second step, we generate a bootstrap sample $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \dots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r)$ by using the values $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$, and then obtain the bootstrap estimates of θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, say θ_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$, from the bootstrap sample. In the third step, we repeat the second step N-Boot times.

<u>Boot-p</u>: Suppose $K_{hB}(x) = P(\hat{\theta}_h^* \leq x), 1 \leq h \leq k$, is the cumulative distribution function of $\hat{\theta}_h^*$. Define $\hat{\theta}_{hB}(\alpha) = K_{hB}^{-1}(\alpha), 1 \leq h \leq k$, for a given α . Then, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Boot-p confidence interval for $\theta_h, 1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right),\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(1-\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right),\qquad 1\leq h\leq k.$$

<u>Boot-t</u>: After generating the bootstrap samples in the second step and calculating $\hat{\theta}_h^*$, we need to use them to compute estimates of $Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)$ from the observed Fisher

information matrix in (2.3.2). Then, we determine the T_h^* statistic given by

$$T_h^* = \frac{\hat{\theta}_h^* - \hat{\theta}_h}{\sqrt{Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)}}, \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

$$(2.5.1)$$

Now, suppose $L_{hB}(x) = P(T_h^* \leq x)$ is the cumulative distribution function of T_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Then, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Boot-*t* confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}\right), \hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

2.6 Simulation Results and Discussion

A simulation study was carried out to evaluate the performance of the conditional MLEs and also all the confidence intervals discussed in the preceding sections. We considered different sample sizes for three populations (i.e., k = 3) as $n_1 =$ 18, 30, 35, 60, 75, 120, $n_2 = 18, 35, 75$ and $n_3 = 18, 35, 75, 120$, and different choices of r = 8, 12, 15, 30, 40, 60, 75, 80, 100, 120, 140, 180. We also chose the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ to be (2, 4, 7) and (3, 5, 9). For these cases, we computed the conditional M-LEs for the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$. We also computed for r = 8, 11 the 95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ using exact, approximate, Boot-p and Boot-t methods (with N-Boot as 1000). For comparative purposes, we also computed the 95% credible intervals using Jeffreys' non-informative priors $(a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = 1 \text{ and } b_1 = b_2 = b_3 = 0)$. We repeated this process 1000 times and computed the average values of the conditional MLEs as well as the coverage probabilities for all confidence intervals. The average values of the conditional MLEs are presented in Table 2.1. From these values, it is clear that the MLEs have a moderate bias when the essential sample size ris small even when the sample sizes (n_1, n_2, n_3) are not small. This bias also seems to affect the approximate confidence intervals based on normality as they are not centered properly in this case. However, the bias of the conditional MLEs become negligible when r increases, as is evident from Table 2.1.

In Table 2.2, the coverage probabilities of 95% confidence intervals of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ for all the methods are presented for some small and moderate values of n_1, n_2, n_3 and r. From these values, it is clear that the exact conditional method has its coverage probability to be very nearly 95% always, while the approximate method is not at all satisfactory (as low as 85% in some case). We also observe that between the two bootstrap methods, the Boot-p method performs better than the Boot-t method; the Bayesian method has very stable coverage probabilities (quite close to the nominal level of 95%). Moreover, we see that the approximate and bootstrap methods have lower coverage probabilities when n_1, n_2, n_3 are small. The importance of the exact method developed in the preceding sections becomes clear as it provides exact conditional confidence intervals with accurate coverage probabilities (compared to the nominal confidence levels) even for small sample sizes. However, the exact method becomes computationally quite intensive when r becomes large. In Table 2.3 and 2.4, the coverage probabilities of 95% confidence intervals of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ for the approximate, Boot-*p* and Boot-*t* methods are presented for some large values of n_1, n_2, n_3 and *r*. Here again, we observe that the approximate method is not satisfactory unless *r* is rather large (at least 120). The two bootstrap methods and the Bayesian method all perform quite similar in terms of coverage probabilities which are nearly the same as the nominal confidence level.

From the results presented in these tables, we would recommend the use of the exact conditional confidence intervals for θ_h developed here whenever possible and especially when the sample sizes are small; but when the sample sizes get larger with a large r, the computational complexity increases in the exact conditional method, and in this case the Boot-p method and the Bayesian method are computationally simpler to use and they also possess good performance, for the interval estimation of parameters.

2.7 Illustrative Example

Nelson (1982, Ch. 10, Table 4.1) has given times to breakdown in minutes of an insulating fluid subjected to high voltage stress. The failure times were observed in the form of groups with each group reporting data on 10 insulating fluids. For the purpose of illustrating the methods of inference detailed in the preceding sections, let us consider the following three groups of samples of failure time data presented in Table 2.5.

(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	$\theta_1 = 2$	$\theta_2 = 4$	$\theta_3 = 7$	$\theta_1 = 3$	$\theta_2 = 5$	$\theta_3 = 9$
(18, 18, 18)	8	2.49	5.03	6.69	3.75	6.49	9.05
(18, 18, 18)	11	2.08	4.50	7.64	3.06	5.83	10.42
(18, 18, 18)	15	2.15	4.66	8.67	3.26	5.71	11.28
(30, 35, 35)	15	2.20	4.88	8.87	3.36	5.85	11.28
(30, 35, 35)	30	2.09	4.32	8.20	3.09	5.32	10.21
(30, 35, 35)	40	2.06	4.22	7.60	3.04	5.29	9.64
(30, 75, 75)	30	2.15	4.24	7.91	3.23	5.18	10.03
(30, 75, 75)	60	2.03	4.09	7.36	3.13	5.08	9.40
(30, 75, 75)	80	2.06	4.04	7.13	3.08	4.98	9.19
(60, 35, 35)	30	2.05	4.64	8.89	3.10	5.72	11.14
(60, 35, 35)	60	2.00	4.16	7.70	3.02	5.23	9.92
(60, 35, 35)	80	2.01	4.11	7.41	3.00	5.05	9.28
(60, 75, 75)	40	2.02	4.22	7.73	3.08	5.22	10.19
(60, 75, 75)	75	2.02	4.10	7.28	3.07	5.11	9.40
(60, 75, 75)	120	2.01	4.05	7.07	3.03	5.03	9.19
(120, 35, 35)	40	2.04	5.05	9.16	3.02	6.00	11.78
(120, 35, 35)	100	2.00	4.23	7.65	3.02	5.21	9.93
(120, 35, 35)	140	2.00	4.13	7.28	3.02	5.09	9.43
(35, 35, 120)	40	2.07	4.41	7.11	3.16	5.45	9.30
(35, 35, 120)	100	2.02	4.09	7.03	3.04	5.15	9.09
(35, 35, 120)	140	2.00	4.04	7.03	3.02	5.02	9.07
(120, 75, 75)	60	2.02	4.28	7.81	3.03	5.21	9.97
(120, 75, 75)	120	2.01	4.10	7.34	3.01	5.08	9.36
(120, 75, 75)	180	2.01	4.01	7.08	3.01	5.01	9.16
(75, 75, 120)	60	2.02	4.19	7.33	3.07	5.18	9.42
(75, 75, 120)	120	2.01	4.10	7.10	3.02	5.08	9.15
(75, 75, 120)	180	2.02	4.03	7.03	3.01	5.01	9.07

Table 2.1: Average values of the conditional MLEs for different choices of $\left(n_1,n_2,n_3\right)$ and r

				$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		
(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	Exact(%)	Approximate(%)	Bayes(%)	Boot-t(%)	Boot-p(%)
(5, 4, 5)	8	(96, 93, 94)	(88, 86, 87)	(94, 93, 96)	(94, 92, 92)	(93, 95, 96)
(18, 18, 18)	8	(95, 94, 96)	(93, 87, 85)	(95, 96, 98)	(96, 97, 95)	(95, 91, 96)
(5, 4, 5)	11	(95, 95, 95)	(88, 87, 86)	(94, 94, 95)	(95, 96, 95)	(91, 92, 92)
				$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$		
(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	Exact(%)	Approximate(%)	Bayes(%)	Boot-t(%)	Boot-p(%)
(5, 4, 5)	8	(96, 96, 95)	(89, 87, 87)	(95, 96, 97)	(95, 93, 92)	(94, 96, 96)
(18, 18, 18)	8	(96, 96, 96)	(92, 89, 84)	(95, 96, 98)	(94, 92, 96)	(97, 97, 95)
(5, 4, 5)	11	(94, 95, 96)	(85, 88, 89)	(93, 95, 96)	(95, 95, 94)	(89, 92, 95)

Table 2.2: Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and small r

First of all, let us test the hypothesis $H_0: \theta_1 = \theta_2 = \cdots = \theta_k$ versus $H_1: \{\text{Not all } \theta \}$ is are equal. For using the likelihood ratio method (LRT), let us find

$$\lambda(\mathbf{W}) = \frac{\sup_{\Theta_0} L(\theta | \mathbf{W})}{\sup_{\Theta} L(\theta | \mathbf{W})}.$$

Asymptotically, $-2\log \lambda(\mathbf{W})$ is χ^2 distributed with k-1 degree of freedom, where

$$-2\log\lambda(\mathbf{W}) = 2\sum_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h)(\log\hat{\theta} - \log\hat{\theta}_h)$$

in this case, with

$$\hat{\theta} = \frac{1}{r} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r} w_i + w_r(n-r) \right\},$$
$$\hat{\theta}_h = \frac{1}{M_r(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r} w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h)) \right\}.$$

Table 2.3: Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and large r

heta=(2,4,7)							
(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	Approximate(%)	Bayes(%)	Boot-t(%)	Boot-p(%)		
(18, 18, 18)	15	(91, 92, 87)	(94, 94, 95)	(95, 100, 98)	(94, 96, 96)		
(30, 35, 35)	15	(92, 91, 88)	(95, 95, 96)	(98, 100, 98)	(96, 96, 97)		
(30, 35, 35)	30	(93, 93, 92)	(94, 95, 94)	(94, 97, 99)	(94, 95, 94)		
(30, 35, 35)	40	(94, 91, 92)	(95, 95, 94)	(95, 96, 99)	(94, 94, 94)		
(30, 75, 75)	30	(93, 93, 91)	(95, 96, 93)	(99, 95, 100)	(95, 96, 93)		
(30, 75, 75)	60	(93, 94, 92)	(95, 96, 95)	(96, 100, 95)	(95, 95, 94)		
(30, 75, 75)	80	(93, 94, 95)	(94, 94, 95)	(94, 100, 95)	(94, 95, 95)		
(60, 35, 35)	30	(93, 90, 90)	(95, 93, 94)	(88, 100, 100)	(95, 93, 95)		
(60, 35, 35)	60	(94, 92, 94)	(94, 95, 94)	(92, 99, 99)	(94, 95, 95)		
(60, 35, 35)	80	(94, 96, 94)	(95, 94, 95)	(92, 100, 98)	(94, 95, 95)		
(60, 75, 75)	40	(94, 93, 91)	(95, 96, 94)	(94, 96, 98)	(95, 95, 94)		
(60, 75, 75)	75	(94, 94, 94)	(94, 95, 96)	(93, 100, 96)	(94, 95, 95)		
(60, 75, 75)	120	(94, 94, 95)	(95, 94, 95)	(92, 100, 94)	(94, 94, 96)		
(120, 35, 35)	40	(94, 91, 89)	(95, 93, 97)	(89, 100, 99)	(95, 93, 98)		
(120, 35, 35)	100	(95, 94, 93)	(94, 94, 94)	(91, 100, 99)	(95, 93, 94)		
(120, 35, 35)	140	(96, 95, 94)	(96, 96, 94)	(92, 100, 97)	(96, 96, 94)		
(35, 35, 120)	40	(94, 93, 92)	(94, 94, 95)	(95, 100, 93)	(94, 94, 93)		
(35, 35, 120)	100	(93, 92, 96)	(94, 95, 95)	(95, 100, 93)	(93, 95, 96)		
(35, 35, 120)	140	(94, 95, 94)	(95, 94, 96)	(92, 100, 91)	(94, 94, 95)		
(120, 75, 75)	60	(94, 95, 92)	(95, 95, 94)	(91, 98, 100)	(96, 95, 94)		
(120, 75, 75)	120	(95, 94, 93)	(96, 95, 94)	(92, 100, 96)	(95, 95, 94)		
(120, 75, 75)	180	(94, 93, 93)	(95, 94, 94)	(92, 100, 92)	(94, 94, 94)		
(75, 75, 120)	60	(93, 94, 94)	(95, 93, 95)	(93, 100, 96)	(94, 93, 95)		
(75, 75, 120)	120	(95, 93, 94)	(95, 95, 95)	(92, 100, 93)	(96, 95, 95)		
(75, 75, 120)	180	(94, 94, 94)	(95, 94, 95)	(92, 100, 92)	(95, 93, 95)		

Table 2.4: Coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices of (n_1,n_2,n_3) and large r

		0 =	(0, 0, 0)		
(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	Approximate(%)	Bayes(%)	Boot-t(%)	Boot-p(%)
(18, 18, 18)	15	(90, 91, 87)	(95, 94, 96)	(96, 100, 99)	(94, 96, 97)
(30, 35, 35)	15	(92, 92, 90)	(95, 94, 96)	(98, 100, 99)	(95, 94, 97)
(30, 35, 35)	30	(93, 92, 91)	(95, 96, 95)	(97, 96, 99)	(94, 95, 95)
(30, 35, 35)	40	(94, 93, 92)	(96, 95, 95)	(96, 97, 99)	(96, 95, 95)
(30, 75, 75)	30	(91, 95, 92)	(94, 96, 94)	(100, 96, 99)	(94, 96, 94)
(30, 75, 75)	60	(94, 92, 94)	(96, 94, 94)	(98, 100, 96)	(95, 93, 94)
(30, 75, 75)	80	(93, 94, 94)	(93, 95, 94)	(98, 100, 95)	(93, 94, 94)
(60, 35, 35)	30	(94, 92, 92)	(96, 95, 92)	(92, 100, 100)	(95, 94, 93)
(60, 35, 35)	60	(94, 92, 92)	(95, 95, 96)	(93, 99, 98)	(94, 94, 96)
(60, 35, 35)	80	(94, 94, 93)	(94, 96, 95)	(93, 100, 96)	(94, 95, 95)
(60, 75, 75)	40	(93, 93, 93)	(94, 96, 94)	(97, 98, 100)	(94, 95, 94)
(60, 75, 75)	75	(92, 94, 95)	(94, 95, 96)	(95, 100, 97)	(93, 95, 96)
(60, 75, 75)	120	(95, 93, 95)	(95, 94, 94)	(92, 100, 94)	(95, 94, 95)
(120, 35, 35)	40	(94, 94, 90)	(95, 94, 96)	(88, 100, 100)	(95, 94, 97)
(120, 35, 35)	100	(94, 93, 94)	(96, 94, 94)	(91, 100, 100)	(96, 94, 94)
(120, 35, 35)	140	(92, 93, 94)	(92, 94, 95)	(92, 100, 97)	(92, 94, 95)
(35, 35, 120)	40	(92, 93, 92)	(95, 94, 96)	(98, 100, 91)	(95, 94, 95)
(35, 35, 120)	100	(94, 94, 94)	(95, 95, 96)	(94, 100, 92)	(94, 95, 95)
(35, 35, 120)	140	(94, 93, 94)	(95, 94, 95)	(95, 100, 91)	(94, 93, 94)
(120, 75, 75)	60	(93, 92, 91)	(95, 95, 94)	(93, 99, 98)	(94, 95, 94)
(120, 75, 75)	120	(94, 94, 94)	(95, 95, 94)	(93, 100, 96)	(95, 95, 95)
(120, 75, 75)	180	(95, 94, 95)	(95, 94, 96)	(92, 100, 94)	(95, 94, 96)
(75, 75, 120)	60	(94, 94, 93)	(96, 96, 95)	(95, 100, 94)	(96, 95, 94)
(75, 75, 120)	120	(95, 94, 95)	(95, 95, 96)	(93, 100, 93)	(95, 95, 96)
(75, 75, 120)	180	(96, 94, 96)	(96, 96, 95)	(91, 100, 94)	(97, 95, 96)

 $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$

Table 2.5: Failure time data as three groups of insulating fluids

Group 1	0.31	0.66	1.54	1.70	1.82	1.89	2.17	2.24	4.03	9.99
Group 2	0.00	0.18	0.55	0.66	0.71	1.30	1.63	2.17	2.75	10.60
Group 3	0.49	0.64	0.82	0.93	1.08	1.99	2.06	2.15	2.57	4.75

Chapter 2.7 - Illustrative Example

r	13	15
$-2\log\lambda(\mathbf{W})$	3.46	3.29
Bootstrap $p - value$	0.068	0.044

Table 2.6: Bootstrap *p*-values for likelihood ratio statistic for testing $H_0: \theta_1 = \theta_2 = \theta_3$

Table 2.7: Jointly Type-II censored data observed from Table 2.5 with r = 15

W	$0.00 \\ 0.71$	0.18 0.82	$0.31 \\ 0.93$	0.49 1.08	$0.55 \\ 1.30$	$0.64 \\ 1.54$	$0.66 \\ 1.63$	0.66
h_i for which $\delta(h_i) = 1$	2 2	2 3	1 3	3	2 2	3 1	1 2	2

However, the asymptotic approximation may not be suitable here for small r. We therefore use the values of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$ to generate bootstrap samples $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \dots, \delta_r;$ $w_1^*, w_2^*, \dots, w_r^*)$, then obtain the bootstrap estimates of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$, say, $(\hat{\theta}_1^*, \hat{\theta}_2^*, \hat{\theta}_3^*)$, repeat this step 1000 Boot times, and get the Bootstrap p-value to be the proportion of times $-2 \log \lambda(\mathbf{W}^*) > -2 \log \lambda(\mathbf{W})$. Table 2.6 gives these Bootstrap p-values for different choices of r. We can see from Table 2.6 that we would reject H_0 by bootstrap method for a nominal level of 10% when r = 13, 15.

Suppose the samples of sizes n = (10, 10, 10) in Table 2.5 are from three exponential populations with means $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$, respectively. Suppose joint Type-II censoring with r as 12, 13 and 15 had been enforced on these data. For example, Table 2.7 presents the jointly Type-II censored data that would have been obtained from the data in Table 2.5 with r = 15.

We then computed the conditional MLEs of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors for the choices of r = 12, 13, 15 by using

	Mean	\widehat{SD}	\widehat{MSE}
r	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$
12	(4.805, 1.500, 1.872)	(3.7660, 0.8572, 1.2938)	(15.0964, 0.7629, 1.7577)
13	(5.685, 1.433, 2.092)	(4.4547, 0.7013, 1.3685)	(21.1555, 0.5062, 1.9611)
15	(4.640, 1.417, 2.422)	(4.2025, 0.6142, 1.4879)	(19.0674, 0.3837, 2.2964)

Table 2.8: Conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors based on jointly Type-II censored data from Table 2.7

Table 2.9: Estimates of the covariance matrix of the conditional MLEs based on jointly Type-II censored data from Table 2.7

r	Covariance	matrix ($(ho(heta_i, heta_j))_{i,j}$
	(14.1827 ().0668	0.0431
12	0.0668 ().7348	-0.0861
	0.0431 -	0.0861	1.6738
	(19.8440 ().0909	0.0579 \
13	0.0909 ().4918	-0.0665
	0.0579 -	0.0665	1.8728
	(17.6612 -	-0.0801	-0.3429
15	-0.0801	0.3773	-0.0444
	-0.3429 -	-0.0444	2.2139

the expressions presented earlier in Section 2.2, and these are presented in Table 2.8. We have also computed the estimates of the covariance matrix of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$ from the expression in Corollary 2, and these are presented in Table 2.9. From the results in Tables 2.8 and 2.9, we find the estimates to be quite stable, and especially so for θ_2 since this population has smallest mean thus producing more failures in the joint censored data.

Table 2.10 presents the 95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ based on the exact, approximate, Bayes credible, Boot-*p* and Boot-*t* methods corresponding to the cases r = 12 and r = 15. From these results, we observe once again that the approximate

		r = 12	
	CI for θ_1	CI for θ_2	CI for θ_3
Exact	(1.55, 64.84)	(0.70, 4.20)	(0.83, 5.81)
Approximate	(0, 46.98)	(0, 7.31)	(0, 11.47)
Boot- t	(0, 40.31)	(0, 6.98)	(0, 11.08)
Boot- p	(0.57, 27.12)	(0.29, 13.19)	(0.33, 17.41)
Bayes credible	(0.67, 626.85)	(0.34, 16.44)	(0.39, 36.83)
		r = 15	
	CI for θ_1	CI for θ_2	CI for θ_3
Exact	(1.77, 22.57)	(0.86, 3.48)	(1.12, 7.04)
Approximate	(0, 48.83)	(0.07, 5.83)	(0, 13.08)
Boot- t	(0, 46.36)	(0, 5.25)	(0, 12.06)
Boot- p	(0.66, 33.20)	(0.29, 7.95)	(0.45, 22.50)
Bayes credible	(0.78, 771.24)	(0.34, 9.23)	(0.54, 30.60)

Table 2.10: 95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ corresponding to different methods based on jointly Type-II censored data from Table 2.7

and Boot-t confidence intervals are not satisfactory compared to the exact confidence intervals. Moreover, we note that the Bayesian credible intervals are quite wide compared to the exact confidence intervals. These demonstrate once again the importance of the exact results derived here for obtaining exact conditional confidence intervals in the case of small values of r.

Chapter 3

Inference Under Joint Progressive Type-II Censoring

3.1 Introduction

In life-testing experiments, the joint censoring scheme is of great importance while conducting comparative life-tests of products from different units within the same facility. Suppose that products are being produced by k different lines within the same facility, and that independent samples of sizes n_h , $1 \le h \le k$, are selected from these k lines and placed simultaneously on a life-testing experiment. For the sake of reducing cost and the experimental time, the experimenter may choose to terminate the experiment as soon as a certain number (say, r) of failures occur. In this situation, one may be interested in either point or interval estimation of the mean lifetimes of units produced by these k lines. Here, exact results based on maximum likelihood estimates are developed to facilitate this.

In the literature, this joint censoring scheme has been considered before. For example, a generalized Savage statistic has been discussed by Basu (1968). Johnson and Mehrotra (1972) studied locally most powerful rank test under joint censoring. The problem of testing the equality of two distributions, under the assumption of exponentiality, has been discussed by Bhattacharyya and Mehrotra (1981). All these developments under joint censoring scheme focused on nonparametric and parametric tests of hypotheses; see Bhattacharyya (1995, Chapter 7 of Balakrishnan and Basu (1995)). For inference based on the MLEs, Chen and Bhattacharyva (1988) derived the exact distribution of the maximum likelihood estimator of the mean of an exponential distribution and an exact lower confidence bound for the mean based on a hybrid censored sample. An alternative simple form, which is equivalent to the results of Chen and Bhattacharyva, has been given by Childs et al (2003). To study two or more competing products with regard to the duration of their service life, comparative lifetime experiments are quite useful. Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2008) discussed exact inference for two exponential populations when Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples in a combined manner. Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2010) subsequently extended their work to the case of two exponential populations when joint progressive Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples. In the present work, we generalize their work by considering the k-sample problem. Suppose the test units from k lines under study are placed on a life-test simultaneously, that the successive failure times and the corresponding types (lines from which the failed units come from) are recorded, and that the experiment is terminated as soon as a specified total number of failures (say, r) occurred.

Suppose $X_{11}, X_{12}, \dots, X_{1n_1}$ are the lifetimes of n_1 specimens from line A_1 , and they are assumed to be independent and identically distributed (iid) variables from a population with cumulative distribution function (cdf) $F_1(x)$ and probability density function (pdf) $f_1(x)$. Similarly, $X_{21}, X_{22}, \dots, X_{2n_2}$ are the lifetimes of n_2 specimens from line A_2 and are assumed to be a sample from pdf $f_2(x)$ and cdf $F_2(x)$, and so on, with $X_{k1}, X_{k2}, \dots, X_{kn_k}$ denoting the lifetimes of n_k specimens from line A_k and are assumed to be iid variables from pdf $f_k(x)$ and cdf $F_k(x)$.

Furthermore, let $N = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$ denote the total sample size and r denote the total number of failures observed. Let $w_1 \leq w_2 \leq \cdots \leq w_N$ denote the order statistics of the N random variables $\{X_{ij}; 1 \leq i \leq k, 1 \leq j \leq n_i\}$.

Therefore, under the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme for the k-samples, the observable data consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$, where $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), w_i \in \{X_{h_i 1}, X_{h_i 2}, \cdots, X_{h_i n_i}\}$ for $1 \leq h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r \leq k$, with r being a pre-fixed integer. Finally, associated to (h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r) , let us define $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1(h), \delta_2(h), \cdots, \delta_r(h))$ as

$$\delta_i(h) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } h = h_i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

This progressive Type-II censoring is implemented as follows. At the time of the first failure $W_1 \in X_{h_1}$ for some $1 \leq h_1 \leq k$, R_1 units are randomly withdrawn from the remaining N-1 surviving units. Next, at the time of the second failure $W_2 \in X_{h_2}$ for some $1 \leq h_2 \leq k$, R_2 units are randomly withdrawn from the remaining $N-R_1-2$ surviving units and so on. Finally, at the time of the *r*th failure $W_r \in X_{h_r}$ for some $1 \leq h_r \leq k$, all remaining $R_r = N - r - \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} R_i$ surviving units are withdrawn from the life-testing experiment; see Balakrishnan and Aggarwala (2000) and the discussion paper by Balakrishnan (2007) for elaborate details on progressive Type-II censoring and associated inferential results. Here, the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme $\mathbf{R} = (R_1, R_2, \cdots, R_r)$ is prefixed and has the decomposition $R_i = \sum_{h=1}^k s_i(h), 1 \leq i \leq r$, where $s_i(h)$ is the number of units withdrawn at the time of *i*th failure belonging to the \mathbf{X}_h -sample, and these are unknown and are random variables. The data observed in this form will consist of $(\delta, \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{w})$.

Let $M_r(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$ denote the number of \mathbf{X}_h -failures in \mathbf{w} , $1 \le h \le k$, and $r = \sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h)$. As we can see from the form of the progressive Type-II censoring, $\sum_{h=1}^k s_i(h) = R_i, \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(h) + M_r(h) = n_h$ and, of course, $\sum_{i=1}^r R_i = N - r$.

3.2 MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

Let $\mathbf{s} = {\mathbf{s}(h)}_{h=1}^k = {(s_1(h), s_2(h), \cdots, s_r(h))}_{h=1}^k$. The likelihood of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w})$ is then given by

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(w_i))^{s_i(h)}, \quad (3.2.1)$$

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$ and $c_r = D_1 D_2$, with

$$D_{1} = \prod_{i=1}^{r} \left[\sum_{h=1}^{k} \left(n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j} \right) \delta_{i}(h) \right],$$
$$D_{2} = \prod_{i=1}^{r-1} \left\{ \frac{\prod_{h=1}^{k} \left(n_{h} - M_{i}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(h) \right)}{\left(s_{j}(h) \right)} \left(N - i - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} R_{j} \right) \right\}.$$

The special case of joint Type-II censoring scheme is obtained when we set $R_1 = R_2 = \cdots = R_{r-1} = 0$ and $R_r = N - r$ in which case we will have $s_i(h) = 0$ when $1 \le i \le r-1$ and $s_r(h) = n_h - M_r(h)$ for all $1 \le h \le k$.

When the k populations are exponential with cdf $F_h(x) = 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}\right), x > 0$, and pdf $f_h(x) = \frac{1}{\theta_h} \exp\left(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}\right), x > 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the likelihood function in (3.2.1) becomes

$$L(\theta_{1}, \theta_{2}, \cdots, \theta_{k}, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w})$$

$$= c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left\{ \exp\left(-\frac{w_{i}}{\theta_{h}}\right) \right\}^{\delta_{i}(h)} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \left\{ \exp\left(-\frac{w_{i}}{\theta_{h}}\right) \right\}^{s_{i}(h)}$$

$$= c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \exp\left\{-M_{r}(h) \log \theta_{h} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{r} (\delta_{i}(h) + s_{i}(h))w_{i}}{\theta_{h}} \right\}.$$
(3.2.2)

From (3.2.2), we readily obtain the MLE of θ_h , for $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\hat{\theta}_h = \frac{1}{M_r(h)} \sum_{i=1}^r \left(\delta_i(h) + s_i(h) \right) w_i.$$
(3.2.3)

Remark 5 From the likelihood function in (3.2.2), we readily see that the MLE of θ_h does not exist when $M_r(h) = 0$. So, the MLEs in (3.2.3) are conditioned on $S = \{\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) = r \text{ and } M_r(h) \ge 1 \text{ for } \forall 1 \le h \le k\}$, or equivalently on the set $S = \{\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) = r \text{ and } \prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \ne 0\}$. We, therefore, need to discuss the exact distribution and other properties of the MLEs only conditional on the set S.

Lemma 2 Let $\mathbf{M}_r = (M_r(1), M_r(2), \cdots, M_r(k))$ and $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$ with $t_h = n_h - \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(h), \ 1 \le h \le k$. Then,

$$P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \ge 1 | \mathbf{s}\right) = P\left(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}\right).$$
(3.2.4)

Proof For fixed **s**, observe that $\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i(h) + Mr(h) = n_h$.

Remark 6 For a scheme \mathbf{R} , let us denote

$$S_{\mathbf{R}} = \left\{ \mathbf{s} = \{s_i(h)\}_{1 \le h \le k, 1 \le i \le r} : \sum_{h=1}^k s_i(h) = R_i, 1 \le i \le r, \\ \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(h) \le n_h - 1 \right\}.$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}} &= \left\{ \mathbf{s} : 0 \leq s_{1}(h) \leq \min\left(R_{1} - \sum_{j=1}^{h-1} s_{1}(j), n_{h} - 1\right), 1 \leq h \leq k-1; \\ & 0 \leq s_{2}(h) \leq \min\left(R_{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{h-1} s_{2}(j), n_{h} - 1 - s_{1}(h)\right), 1 \leq h \leq k-1; \\ & \cdots; \\ & 0 \leq s_{r-1}(h) \leq \min\left(R_{r-1} - \sum_{j=1}^{h-1} s_{r-1}(j), n_{h} - 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{r-2} s_{i}(h)\right), 1 \leq h \leq k-1; \\ & 0 \leq s_{r}(h) \leq \min\left(R_{r} - \sum_{j=1}^{h-1} s_{r}(j), n_{h} - 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} s_{i}(h)\right), 1 \leq h \leq k-1; \\ & such that \sum_{h=1}^{k} s_{i}(h) = R_{i} and \sum_{i=1}^{r} s_{i}(h) \leq n_{h} - 1 \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 5 (a) The joint probability mass function of δ is given by

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \prod_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_j(h)}{\theta_h}};$$
(3.2.5)

Chapter 3.2 - MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

(b) For each $\mathbf{s} \in S_{\mathbf{R}}$, denote $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k) = (n_1 - \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(1), n_2 - \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(2), \cdots, n_k - \sum_{i=1}^r s_i(k))$, with $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = r$ and $t_j \ge 1$ for all j. Let $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ be as defined in (3.1.1), $M_r(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$, and

$$Q^*(\mathbf{s}) = \{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}(\mathbf{h}) = (\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \cdots, \tilde{\delta}_r) \text{ such that } M_r(h) = t_h \text{ for } 1 \le h \le k \}$$

Then,

$$P(\mathbf{M}_{r} = \mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-t_{h}} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\delta}) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(h)}{\theta_{h}}}; \quad (3.2.6)$$

(c)

$$P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0\right) = \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}).$$
(3.2.7)

Proof (a) From (3.2.2), we have the joint density of $(\delta, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w})$ as

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^r \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{w_i(\delta_i(h) + s_i(h))}{\theta_h}\right)$$

Let

$$a_j = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_j(h) + s_j(h)}{\theta_h}.$$

Then, we have

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \left(\prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)}\right) \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^r a_i w_i\right).$$
(3.2.8)

Upon integrating out w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r over $\{0 \le w_1 \le w_2 \le \dots \le w_r < \infty\}$ in (3.2.8), after mapping it onto $\{0 \le u_i < \infty, 1 \le i \le k\}$ though the transformation

$$\begin{cases} u_1 = w_1, \\ u_2 = w_2 - w_1, \\ & \dots \\ & u_r = w_r - w_{r-1}, \end{cases}$$

we obtain the joint probability mass function of $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ as follows:

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \prod_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sum_{j=i}^r a_j}.$$
 (3.2.9)

Observe that for $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, $\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i(h) + M_r(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = n_h$, where $M_r(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \tilde{\delta}_i(h)$,

$$\sum_{j=i}^{r} a_j = \sum_{j=i}^{r} \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{\delta_j(h) + s_j(h)}{\theta_h}$$
$$= \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{M_r(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) - M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) + \sum_{j=i}^{r} s_j(h)}{\theta_h}$$
$$= \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_j(h)}{\theta_h},$$

where $M_{i-1}(h, \tilde{\delta}) = \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \tilde{\delta}_j(h)$ depends on $\tilde{\delta}$, and yet we denote it by $M_{i-1}(h)$ for simplicity, and set $M_0(h) = 0$. Thus, (3.2.5) is obtained.

- (b) It readily follows from (3.2.5).
- (c) The required result follows immediately from Remark 6 and Part (b).

Theorem 6 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the moment generating function (mgf) of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) is given by

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}}(t) = \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0)} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in S_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \prod_{i=1}^{r} (1 - \beta_{li}^{*} t)^{-1},$$

where ${\bf R}$ is a scheme and ${\cal S}_{{\bf R}}$ is the sets defined in Remark 6, and

$$\beta_{li}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{i-1}(l) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_j(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_j(h)}{\theta_h}}, \quad 1 \le l \le k, 1 \le i \le r.$$
(3.2.10)

Proof Conditioning on the values of \mathbf{M}_r for $\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0$ and then on $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, we obtain

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq 0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq 0\right)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}E(e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|\mathbf{M}_{r}=\mathbf{t})P(\mathbf{M}_{r}=\mathbf{t})$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}\int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq \cdots\leq w_{r}<\infty}e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}f(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}},\mathbf{w})dw_{1}\cdots dw_{r}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}$$

$$\times\int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq \cdots\leq w_{r}<\infty}e^{\frac{t}{M_{r}(l)}\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{r}w_{i}(\delta_{i}(l)+s_{i}(l))\right\}}\exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{r}a_{i}w_{i}\right)dw_{1}\cdots dw_{r}$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}$$

$$\times \int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq\cdots\leq w_{r}<\infty} \exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{r} \left(a_{i} - \frac{t(\tilde{\delta}_{i}(l) + s_{i}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right)w_{i}\right\} dw_{1}\cdots dw_{r}$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \left\{\prod_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{j=i}^{r} \left(a_{j} - \frac{t(\tilde{\delta}_{j}(l) + s_{j}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right)}\right\}.$$

Now, we observe that

$$\sum_{j=i}^{r} \left(a_{j} - \frac{t(\tilde{\delta}_{j}(l) + s_{j}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=i}^{r} a_{j} - \frac{t}{M_{r}(l)} \sum_{j=i}^{r} (\tilde{\delta}_{j}(l) + s_{j}(l))$$

$$= \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(h)}{\theta_{h}} - \frac{n_{l} - M_{i-1}(l) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(l)}{M_{r}(l)} t$$

$$= (1 - \beta_{li}^{*}t) \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{i-1}(h) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} s_{j}(h)}{\theta_{h}},$$

where β_{li}^* is as given in Eq. (3.2.10). Thus, we obtain

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}\prod_{i=1}^{r}\frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{i-1}(h)-\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}s_{j}(h)}{\theta_{h}}}\prod_{i=1}^{r}(1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-1}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})\prod_{i=1}^{r}(1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-1},$$

as required.

Remark 7 For fixed l and $\tilde{\delta}$, some β_{li}^* 's may be the same. In this case, we resort the β_{li}^* values and still denote them by $\{\beta_{li}^*\}_{i=1}^{r'}$, and assume that there are r' distinct values with α_i of the β_{li}^* 's being equal, with $\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_i = r$. Consequently, the term $\prod_{i=1}^r (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$, and so the conditional mgf in Theorem 6 can be expressed as follows:

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]$$

$$=\frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)}\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$$

$$\times\prod_{i=1}^{r'}(1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-\alpha_{i}}.$$
(3.2.11)

Theorem 7 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the pdf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ is given by

$$= \frac{f_{\hat{\theta}_l|\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h)\neq 0}(x)}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h)\neq 0\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^*(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) g_{Y_{l,\delta}}(x), \qquad (3.2.12)$$

where $P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$ is as given in (3.2.5), $Y_{l,\boldsymbol{\delta}} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r'} Y_{l,i}^*$ with $Y_{l,i}^*$ being independent random variables having gamma $G(\alpha_i, \beta_{li}^*)$ distributions with shape parameters α_i and scale parameters β_{li}^* , and $g_{Y_{l,i}}(x)$ is the pdf of $Y_{l,i}$.

Remark 8 From (3.2.12), it is clear that the distribution of the MLE $\hat{\theta}_l$ is a weighted sum of distributions of random variables of the type $Y_{l,\delta}$, where $Y_{l,\delta}$ itself is a sum of independent and non-identical gamma random variables.

Corollary 3 From (3.2.12), we immediately obtain the expressions for the first two
conditional moments of $\hat{\theta}_l$ as follows:

$$E\left[\hat{\theta}_{l}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]$$

=
$$\frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)}\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})\sum_{i=1}^{r'}\alpha_{i}\beta_{li}^{*}$$

and

$$E\left[\hat{\theta}_{l}^{2}|\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right] = \frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)}\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$$
$$\times\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{r'}\alpha_{i}\beta_{li}^{*2}+\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r'}\alpha_{i}\beta_{li}^{*}\right)^{2}\right\}.$$

Then, $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ and $\operatorname{MSE}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ can be readily obtained from these two expressions.

It is convenient to rewrite the conditional mgf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \cdots, k$) in Theorem 6 as

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_l \mid \prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0}(t)$$

$$= \frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^*(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$$

$$= \frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q^*(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j},$$

where A_{li} 's are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{i=1}^{r} (1 - \beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-1} =$

Chapter 3.2 - MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

 $\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i} \text{ in the partial fraction form } \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j}, \text{ which can}$ be determined by the use of Lemma 5 in Appendix. Since $(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j}$ is the mgf of a gamma distribution with scale parameter β_{li}^* and shape parameter j, we can obtain the conditional tail probability of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) from the above expression as

$$P\left(\hat{\theta}_{l} > b \left| \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 \right) = \frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$$
$$\times \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i}} A_{li}^{(j)} e^{-\frac{b}{\beta_{li}^{*}}} \sum_{j'=0}^{j-1} \frac{\left(\frac{b}{\beta_{li}^{*}}\right)^{j'}}{j'!}.$$
(3.2.13)

We shall now assume that the conditional tail probability of $\hat{\theta}_l$ in (3.2.13) is an increasing function of θ_l when all other θ_j 's are fixed, for $j \neq l$. This assumption guarantees the invertibility of the pivotal quantities, and it has been verified to be true in this case through extensive computations under various of settings. It should be mentioned that this approach has been used by a number of authors for the construction of exact confidence intervals in a variety of contexts; see, for example, Childs et al. (2003) and Balakrishnan et al. (2007). We then have a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ lower confidence bound for θ_l as θ_{lL} , where θ_{lL} is such that $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = \alpha$ with $\hat{\theta}_{l,obs}$ being the observed value of $\hat{\theta}_l$. Also, a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_l is $(\theta_{lL}, \theta_{lU})$, where θ_{lL} and θ_{lU} are determined by $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = \frac{\alpha}{2}$ and $P_{\theta_{lU}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}) = 1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}$.

By performing the same steps as done in the case of conditional marginal mgf, we can also derive the conditional joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ as follows.

Theorem 8 Conditional on $\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_r(h) \neq 0$, the conditional joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ is given by

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{1},\hat{\theta}_{2},\cdots,\hat{\theta}_{k}\mid\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0}(t_{1},\cdots,t_{k})$$

$$=\frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right)}\sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})}P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}})$$

$$\times\prod_{i=1}^{r}\left(1-\sum_{l=1}^{k}\beta_{li}^{*}t_{l}\right)^{-1},$$
(3.2.14)

where β_{li}^* is as defined earlier in Eq. (3.2.10).

Corollary 4 From (3.2.14), we find the covariance between $\hat{\theta}_{l_1}$ and $\hat{\theta}_{l_2}$ (for $l_1 \neq l_2$) as follows:

$$Cov\left(\hat{\theta}_{l_{1}},\hat{\theta}_{l_{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq 0\right)} \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}} \times \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r}\beta_{l_{1},i}^{*}\beta_{l_{2},i}^{*} + \sum_{i=1}^{r}\beta_{l_{1},i}^{*}\sum_{i=1}^{r}\beta_{l_{2},i}^{*}\right) - \frac{1}{\left\{P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq 0\right)\right\}^{2}} \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r}\beta_{l_{1},i}^{*} \times \sum_{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{R}}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q^{*}(\mathbf{s})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta}=\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) \sum_{i=1}^{r}\beta_{l_{2},i}^{*}.$$
(3.2.15)

3.3 Approximate Confidence Intervals

Let $I(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = (I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)), i, j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, denote the Fisher information matrix of the parameters $\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k$, where

$$I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k) = -E\left(\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_i \partial \theta_j}\right).$$
(3.3.1)

From the likelihood function in (3.2.2), we have $I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = 0$ if $i \neq j$. Consequently, we have

$$I(\hat{\theta}_{1}, \hat{\theta}_{2}, \cdots, \hat{\theta}_{k}) = -\text{Diag}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{1}=\hat{\theta}_{1}}, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{2}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{2}=\hat{\theta}_{2}}, \cdots, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{k}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{k}=\hat{\theta}_{k}}\right), \quad (3.3.2)$$

where

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2} \Big|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2\sum_{i=1}^r (\delta_i(h) + s_i(h))w_i}{\hat{\theta}_h^3} \\ = -\frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2}.$$

Then, by using the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, we have $\hat{\theta}_h - \theta_h \sim N(0, I_{h,h}^{-1})$, so that we can express the approximate $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence inter-

Chapter 3.4 - Bayesian Intervals

val for θ_h , $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\hat{\theta}_h \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^r (\delta_i(h) + s_i(h)) w_i}{(M_r(h))^{\frac{3}{2}}} = \hat{\theta}_h \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{\sqrt{M_r(h)}} \right),$$

where $Z_{\alpha/2}$ denotes the upper $\alpha/2$ percentage point of the standard normal distribution.

3.4 Bayesian Intervals

Let $u_h = \sum_{i=1}^r (\delta_i(h) + s_i(h)) w_i$. Then, we can rewrite the likelihood function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h}{\theta_h}\right).$$
(3.4.1)

Now, by assuming independent inverse gamma prior distributions, viz., $IG(a_h, b_h)$ for $1 \le h \le k$, we obtain from (3.4.1) the posterior joint density function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k | \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)-a_h-1} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h+b_h}{\theta_h}\right).$$

Upon comparing this with (3.4.1), we see that the joint posterior density function of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)$ is a product of k independent inverse gamma density functions. So, given the data, the posterior density function of $\hat{\theta}_h$ is simply $IG(M_r(h) + a_h, u_h + b_h)$.

Chapter 3.5 - Bootstrap Intervals

Thus, the Bayes estimator of θ_h under the squared-error loss function is

$$\hat{\theta}_{h,Bayes} = \frac{u_h + b_h}{M_r(h) + a_h - 1}, \qquad h = 1, 2, \cdots, k.$$
 (3.4.2)

When we use Jeffreys' non-informative prior $I(\theta_h) \propto \frac{1}{\theta_h^2}$ corresponding to the special case when $a_h = 1$ and $b_h = 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the Bayes estimators in (3.4.2) coincide with the MLEs in (3.2.3).

Let $U_h = \frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\theta_h}$ for $1 \le h \le k$. Then, the pivot U_h follows $\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h)}$ distribution, provided $2(M_r(h) + a_h)$ is a positive integer, for $1 \le h \le k$. In this case, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Bayes credible interval for θ_h becomes

$$\left(\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h),1-\alpha/2}},\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_r(h)+a_h),\alpha/2}}\right), \qquad h=1,2,\cdots,k.$$

where $\chi^2_{v,\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ is the lower $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ percentage point of the chi-square distribution with v degrees of freedom.

3.5 Bootstrap Intervals

In this section, we consider confidence interval for θ_h $(h = 1, 2, \dots, k)$ based on the Bootstrap-*p* and Bootstrap-*t* methods; see, for example, Efron and Tibshirani (1994).

To find the Bootstrap-p and Bootstrap-t intervals, in the first step, we generate original samples from k exponential populations with parameters θ_h of size n_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Next, we sort the data, and determine to which population each failure belongs, and then estimate θ_h by the conditional MLE in (3.2.3). In the second step, we generate a bootstrap sample $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \dots, \delta_N; W_1, W_2, \dots, W_N)$ by using the values $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$, and then obtain the bootstrap estimates of $\hat{\theta}_h$, $1 \leq h \leq k$, say $\hat{\theta}_h^*$, $1 \leq h \leq k$, from the bootstrap sample. In the third step, we repeat the second step N-Boot times.

<u>Boot-p</u>: Suppose $K_{hB}(x) = P\left(\hat{\theta}_h^* \le x\right), 1 \le h \le k$, is the cumulative distribution function of $\hat{\theta}_h^*$. Define $\hat{\theta}_{hB}(\alpha) = K_{hB}^{-1}(\alpha), 1 \le h \le k$, for a given α . Then, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Boot-p confidence interval for $\theta_h, 1 \le h \le k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right),\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(1-\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

<u>Boot-t</u>: After generating the bootstrap samples in the second step and calculating $\hat{\theta}_h^*$, we need to use them to compute the estimate of $Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)$ from the observed Fisher information matrix in (3.3.2). Then, we determine the T_h^* statistic given by

$$T_h^* = \frac{\hat{\theta}_h^* - \hat{\theta}_h}{\sqrt{Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)}}, \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$
(3.5.1)

Now, suppose $L_{hB}(x) = P(T_h^* \leq x)$ is the cumulative distribution function of T_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Then, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Boot-*t* confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}\right), \hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \quad 1 \le h \le k.$$

3.6 Simulation Results and Discussion

A simulation study was carried out to evaluate the performance of the conditional MLEs and also the average width of all confidence intervals discussed in the preceding sections for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) and r. We considered different sample sizes for three populations (i.e, k = 3) as $n = (n_1, n_2, n_3)$, $n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10$, and different choice for r = 8, 10, 12, 18. We list the different choices in Table 3.1 and 3.2 for which the simulation results are presented here. We also chose the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ to be (2, 4, 7) and (3, 5, 9). For these cases, we computed the conditional MLEs for the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ and the average width of 95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ using approximate, Boot-*p* and Boot-*t* methods (with N-Boot as 1000). For comparative purposes, we also computed the average widths of 95% credible intervals using Jeffreys' non-informative priors $(a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = 1 \text{ and } b_1 = b_2 =$ $b_3 = 0$). We repeated this process 1000 times and computed the average values of the conditional MLEs as well as the coverage probabilities for all confidence intervals, and these are presented in Table 3.3 and 3.4. From these values, it is clear that the MLEs have a moderate bias when the essential sample size r is small relative to the sample sizes (n_1, n_2, n_3) and become negligible when r increases relative to N, as is evident from Table 3.3 and 3.4.

In Table 3.3 and 3.4, the coverage probabilities of 95% confidence intervals of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ for all the methods are presented for the same choices of n_1, n_2, n_3 and r. We observe that between the two bootstrap methods, the Boot-p method performs better than the Boot-t method; the Bayesian method has very stable coverage probabilities (quite close to the nominal level of 95%); however, all these methods have lower coverage probabilities when the sample sizes are small. The exact method derived in Section 2 provides exact conditional confidence intervals with accurate coverage probabilities (compared to the nominal confidence levels) for small sample sizes.

3.7 Illustrative Example

Nelson (1982, Ch. 10, Table 4.1) has given times to breakdown in minutes of an insulating fluid subjected to high voltage stress. The failure times were observed in the form of groups with each group reporting data on 10 insulating fluids. For the purpose of illustrating the methods of inference detailed in the preceding sections, let us consider the following three groups of samples of failure time data presented in Table 3.7.

Suppose the samples of sizes n = (10, 10, 10) in Table 3.7 are from three exponential populations with means $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$, respectively. Suppose a joint progressive Type-II censoring with r = 12 had been enforced on these data. For example, Tables 3.8 and 3.9 present the joint progressively Type-II censored data that obtained from

Table 3.1: Different choices of sample sizes and the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme employed in the simulation study. (Here, $(1_7, 0)$, for example, means that the censoring scheme employed is (1,1,1,1,1,1,0))

$\boxed{(n_1, n_2, n_3)}$	r	\mathcal{R}	Scheme no. for $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$
(5, 5, 5)	8	$(1_7, 0)$	[111]
		$(2_3, 0_4, 1)$	[112]
(6, 6, 6)	8	$(1_7, 3)$	[121]
		$(2_5, 0_3)$	[122]
(7, 7, 7)	8	$(1_7, 6)$	[131]
		$(2_6, 0, 1)$	[132]
(8, 8, 8)	8	$(1_7, 9)$	[141]
		(2_8)	[142]
(5, 5, 5)	10	$(1_5, 0_5)$	[151]
		$(2_2, 0_7, 1)$	[152]
(6, 6, 6)	10	$(1_8, 0_2)$	[161]
		$(2_4, 0_6)$	[162]
(7, 7, 7)	10	$(1_9, 2)$	[171]
		$(2_5, 0_4, 1)$	[172]
(8, 8, 8)	10	$(1_9, 5)$	[181]
		$(2_7, 0_3)$	[182]
(6, 6, 6)	12	$(1_6, 0_6)$	[191]
		$(2_3, 0_9)$	
(7, 7, 7)	12	$(1_9, 0_3)$	
		$(2_4, 1, 0_7)$	
(8, 8, 8)	12	(1_{12})	
	10	$(2_6, 0_6)$	
(9, 9, 9)	12	$(1_{11}, 4)$	
	10	$(2_7, 1, 0_4)$	[1122]
(7, 7, 7)	18	$(1_3, 0_{15})$	
	10	$(2, 1, 0_{16})$	[1132]
(8, 8, 8)	18	$(1_6, 0_{12})$	
	10	$(2_3, 0_{15})$	
(9, 9, 9)	18	$(1_9, 0_9)$	
(10, 10, 10)	10	$(2_4, 1, 0_{13})$	
(10, 10, 10)	18	$(1_{12}, 0_6)$	
		$(2_6, 0_{12})$	1162

Table 3.2: Different choices of sample sizes and the joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme employed in the simulation study. (Here, $(1_7, 0)$, for example, means that the censoring scheme employed is (1,1,1,1,1,1,0))

(n_1, n_2, n_3)	r	\mathcal{R}	Scheme no. for $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$
(5, 5, 5)	8	$(1_7, 0)$	[211]
		$(2_3, 0_4, 1)$	[212]
(6, 6, 6)	8	$(1_7, 3)$	[221]
		$(2_5, 0_3)$	[222]
(7, 7, 7)	8	$(1_7, 6)$	[231]
		$(2_6, 0, 1)$	[232]
(8, 8, 8)	8	$(1_7, 9)$	[241]
		(2_8)	[242]
(5, 5, 5)	10	$(1_5, 0_5)$	[251]
		$(2_2, 0_7, 1)$	[252]
(6, 6, 6)	10	$(1_8, 0_2)$	[261]
		$(2_4, 0_6)$	[262]
(7, 7, 7)	10	$(1_9, 2)$	
	10	$(2_5, 0_4, 1)$	[272]
(8, 8, 8)	10	$(1_9, 5)$	[281]
	10	$(2_7, 0_3)$	[282]
(6, 6, 6)	12	$(1_6, 0_6)$	[291]
	10	$(2_3, 0_9)$	[292]
(1, 1, 1)	12	$(1_9, 0_3)$	[2101]
(0,0,0)	10	$(2_4, 1, 0_7)$	[2102]
(0, 0, 0)	12	(1_{12})	[2111]
(0, 0, 0)	19	$(2_6, 0_6)$	[2112] [9191]
(9, 9, 9)	12	(111, 4)	[2121]
(7 7 7)	18	(27, 1, 04) (1, 0, 1, 7)	[2122]
(1, 1, 1)	10	(13, 015) (2, 1, 016)	[2131]
(8 8 8)	18	$(2, 1, 0_{16})$	[2132]
(0, 0, 0)	10	$(1_6, 0_{12})$ $(2_2, 0_{15})$	[2111]
(9 9 9)	18	$(1_{0}, 0_{15})$	[2151]
(0, 0, 0)	10	(24, 1, 012)	[2152]
(10, 10, 10)	18	$(1_{12}, 0_{6})$	
(-)-)-)	-	$(2_6, 0_{12})$	[2162]

Table 3.3: Average values of the MLEs $\hat{\theta} = (\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$ and coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) , r and joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme.

Scheme			$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		
no.	$\hat{ heta} = (\hat{ heta}_1, \hat{ heta}_2, \hat{ heta}_3)$	Approximate	Bayes	Boot-t	Boot-p
111	(2.13, 4.25, 7.74)	(88, 85, 84)	(96, 94, 91)	(84, 90, 91)	(91, 92, 91)
112	(2.14, 4.76, 9.02)	(85, 88, 90)	(94, 92, 90)	(82, 88, 90)	(89, 91, 95)
121	(2.33, 5.93, 10.90)	(91, 93, 93)	(94, 87, 85)	(86, 87, 87)	(90, 90, 95)
122	(2.21, 4.33, 7.71)	(88, 84, 85)	(94, 94, 93)	(85, 88, 91)	(91, 91, 92)
131	(2.52, 6.46, 11.82)	(94, 95, 94)	(92, 84, 80)	(86, 83, 83)	(91, 88, 92)
132	(2.21, 4.87, 9.60)	(90, 87, 91)	(95, 91, 88)	(86, 88, 90)	(92, 92, 96)
141	(2.88, 7.28, 11.46)	(97, 97, 94)	(91, 80, 83)	(87, 77, 83)	(87, 80, 93)
142	(2.24, 5.50, 11.05)	(92, 91, 94)	(96, 90, 86)	(89, 87, 85)	(93, 91, 96)
151	(2.01, 4.28, 7.21)	(86, 86, 82)	(96, 93, 94)	(83, 88, 90)	(88, 91, 88)
152	(2.08, 4.29, 7.95)	(87, 88, 89)	(96, 93, 94)	(84, 89, 93)	(89, 92, 94)
161	(2.14, 4.29, 7.69)	(90, 87, 86)	(96, 94, 92)	(86, 89, 93)	(92, 92, 93)
162	(2.03, 4.02, 7.44)	(88, 86, 85)	(95, 95, 93)	(84, 88, 92)	(91, 90, 90)
171	(2.25, 5.01, 10.73)	(92, 92, 94)	(93, 91, 85)	(85, 88, 83)	(90, 92, 94)
172	(2.10, 4.65, 9.02)	(88, 88, 93)	(95, 93, 90)	(83, 87, 90)	(90, 91, 96)
181	(2.34, 5.93, 12.30)	(94, 95, 94)	(94, 87, 77)	(86, 84, 72)	(91, 87, 86)
182	(2.15, 4.45, 7.77)	(91, 88, 85)	(96, 92, 92)	(87, 90, 93)	(93, 95, 93)
191	(1.96, 4.12, 7.15)	(87, 86, 86)	(96, 94, 94)	(82, 89, 94)	(90, 91, 91)
192	(2.01, 4.05, 7.10)	(87, 86, 85)	(95, 94, 93)	(83, 89, 91)	(90, 89, 89)
1101	(2.04, 4.24, 7.59)	(88, 89, 86)	(96, 94, 93)	(83, 90, 93)	(91, 92, 92)
1102	(2.07, 4.06, 6.96)	(89, 85, 85)	(94, 94, 93)	(85, 89, 92)	(91, 90, 90)
1111	(2.09, 4.95, 9.19)	(91, 92, 91)	(95, 89, 86)	(86, 89, 86)	(91, 93, 94)
1112	(2.06, 4.15, 7.27)	(89, 86, 86)	(95, 95, 92)	(84, 89, 93)	(91, 92, 91)
1121	(2.26, 5.38, 11.97)	(93, 95, 96)	(96, 88, 78)	(85, 84, 68)	(91, 89, 84)
1122	(2.15, 4.29, 7.73)	(90, 88, 88)	(95, 94, 92)	(86, 90, 94)	(92, 93, 94)
1131	(2.00, 3.92, 7.00)	(87, 88, 88)	(94, 94, 95)	(83, 91, 94)	(90, 90, 91)
1132	(2.02, 3.97, 6.93)	(89, 88, 87)	(95, 94, 95)	(85, 90, 94)	(92, 91, 90)
1141	(1.98, 4.14, 7.02)	(89, 90, 87)	(96, 94, 94)	(84, 91, 94)	(92, 91, 90)
1142	(2.00, 4.01, 7.01)	(87, 89, 88)	(95, 94, 95)	(83, 90, 95)	(90, 91, 92)
1151	(2.03, 4.10, 7.01)	(90, 90, 88)	(95, 94, 94)	(85, 91, 94)	(92, 93, 91)
1152	(2.00, 4.06, 7.07)	(87, 88, 88)	(95, 95, 94)	(83, 90, 95)	(91, 92, 91)
1161	(2.08, 4.00, 7.15)	(91, 88, 89)	(93, 94, 93)	(87, 91, 93)	(93, 92, 93)
1162	(2.02, 4.15, 7.22)	(90, 89, 89)	(96, 94, 93)	(86, 91, 93)	(93, 92, 93)

Table 3.4: Average values of the MLEs $\hat{\theta} = (\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$ and coverage probabilities of different confidence intervals for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) , r and joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme.

Scheme			$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$		
no.	$\hat{ heta} = (\hat{ heta}_1, \hat{ heta}_2, \hat{ heta}_3)$	Approximate	Bayes	Boot-t	Boot-p
211	(3.32, 5.50, 9.96)	(88, 87, 82)	(94, 93, 91)	(84, 88, 90)	(91, 93, 92)
212	(3.32, 5.80, 11.81)	(86, 86, 90)	(93, 92, 90)	(82, 87, 90)	(89, 90, 95)
221	(3.53, 7.24, 14.33)	(92, 94, 92)	(94, 89, 83)	(86, 89, 84)	(91, 93, 95)
222	(3.19, 5.61, 10.02)	(87, 86, 84)	(94, 93, 93)	(84, 89, 91)	(91, 93, 91)
231	(4.01, 7.92, 14.92)	(95, 95, 95)	(92, 84, 81)	(88, 83, 82)	(90, 88, 94)
232	(3.46, 6.19, 12.73)	(90, 89, 92)	(94, 91, 88)	(86, 88, 89)	(92, 93, 96)
241	(4.40, 8.61, 15.01)	(96, 97, 95)	(90, 83, 81)	(86, 80, 82)	(87, 83, 92)
242	(3.59, 6.96, 14.72)	(92, 92, 93)	(94, 89, 85)	(86, 88, 84)	(91, 91, 94)
251	(3.28, 5.14, 9.07)	(88, 85, 84)	(95, 96, 94)	(84, 88, 91)	(92, 91, 89)
252	(3.11, 5.46, 10.56)	(86, 88, 90)	(94, 92, 92)	(81, 88, 92)	(90, 90, 95)
261	(3.18, 5.45, 9.83)	(89, 88, 87)	(96, 93, 92)	(86, 89, 91)	(92, 94, 92)
262	(3.11, 5.20, 9.21)	(86, 86, 83)	(95, 95, 94)	(83, 88, 90)	(89, 91, 89)
271	(3.39, 6.21, 13.58)	(92, 92, 94)	(94, 93, 84)	(85, 89, 84)	(92, 92, 93)
272	(3.19, 5.76, 11.74)	(87, 88, 92)	(95, 92, 89)	(84, 87, 88)	(90, 90, 96)
281	(3.74, 7.34, 15.94)	(94, 96, 96)	(92, 89, 78)	(86, 83, 71)	(89, 88, 84)
282	(3.31, 5.49, 10.11)	(91, 88, 86)	(94, 94, 92)	(87, 91, 93)	(93, 93, 93)
291	(3.18, 5.28, 9.29)	(90, 87, 84)	(95, 94, 92)	(85, 88, 92)	(92, 92, 88)
292	(3.00, 5.11, 9.38)	(84, 85, 87)	(93, 94, 93)	(82, 87, 91)	(88, 89, 90)
2101	(3.15, 5.40, 9.92)	(92, 88, 86)	(96, 94, 92)	(87, 88, 92)	(94, 94, 93)
2102	(3.10, 5.10, 9.02)	(88, 86, 85)	(95, 93, 93)	(86, 87, 92)	(91, 89, 90)
2111	(3.26, 5.64, 12.00)	(91, 90, 90)	(96, 91, 88)	(86, 86, 87)	(92, 91, 94)
2112	(3.09, 5.40, 9.29)	(89, 89, 85)	(95, 94, 93)	(84, 90, 93)	(92, 93, 91)
2121	(3.45, 6.68, 15.41)	(94, 94, 95)	(94, 89, 75)	(87, 85, 68)	(92, 90, 81)
2122	(3.26, 5.50, 9.52)	(90, 88, 87)	(94, 94, 93)	(87, 89, 92)	(92, 93, 93)
2131	(3.00, 5.01, 9.16)	(89, 86, 87)	(95, 95, 94)	(84, 88, 93)	(91, 91, 89)
2132	(3.01, 4.96, 9.03)	(86, 87, 88)	(94, 95, 96)	(82, 88, 94)	(89, 89, 91)
2141	(3.01, 4.94, 9.06)	(88, 88, 87)	(95, 95, 93)	(84, 87, 92)	(91, 91, 90)
2142	(3.06, 5.08, 9.01)	(89, 89, 88)	(95, 96, 95)	(86, 90, 92)	(92, 92, 90)
2151	(3.11, 5.10, 9.20)	(91, 89, 88)	(96, 94, 93)	(86, 89, 94)	(93, 92, 92)
2152	(3.03, 4.86, 9.01)	(88, 87, 85)	(96, 94, 94)	(84, 87, 94)	(91, 91, 90)
2161	(3.11, 5.21, 9.19)	(91, 88, 88)	(95, 94, 92)	(88, 88, 93)	(93, 92, 92)
2162	(3.05, 5.22, 9.03)	(90, 88, 88)	(95, 93, 94)	(86, 88, 94)	(92, 92, 92)

Scheme		$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		
no.	Approximate	Bayes	Boot-t	Boot-p
111	(5.0, 9.7, 17.4)	(33.8, 68.6, 120.6)	(5.7, 12.6, 24.2)	(8.5, 60.5, 256.7)
112	(4.7, 10.6, 20.0)	(12.0, 26.8, 51.0)	(5.8, 14.6, 28.8)	(8.0, 86.1, 346.4)
121	(5.2, 13.2, 24.2)	(13.1, 33.3, 61.1)	(7.1, 23.7, 45.5)	(10.5, 194.9, 674.9)
122	(5.0, 9.5, 16.4)	(14.0, 27.7, 48.1)	(5.9, 12.2, 22.1)	(8.2, 53.9, 204.7)
131	(5.7, 13.9, 25.7)	(15.9, 41.1, 75.4)	(8.5, 27.0, 42.4)	(11.8, 215.7, 598.0)
132	(5.0, 10.6, 20.8)	(14.1, 31.2, 61.2)	(6.4, 17.1, 37.0)	(8.1, 99.6, 486.5)
141	(6.8, 16.6, 26.2)	(45.9, 113.3, 178.2)	(10.5, 29.5, 38.0)	(17.2, 240.3, 457.6)
142	(5.3, 12.3, 25.3)	(35.7, 84.5, 180.4)	(6.7, 22.1, 50.1)	(8.7, 176.3, 795.2)
151	(4.2, 8.3, 14.4)	(8.1, 17.2, 29.0)	(4.4, 9.8, 16.7)	(5.1, 40.7, 122.7)
152	(4.4, 8.6, 16.2)	(10.1, 20.8, 38.2)	(4.7, 10.6, 20.2)	(5.5, 38.3, 162.6)
161	(4.5, 8.6, 15.3)	(8.6, 17.3, 31.1)	(4.9, 10.9, 20.7)	(5.6, 44.4, 182.2)
162	(4.3, 8.1, 15.2)	(9.7, 19.0, 36.1)	(4.5, 9.3, 17.5)	(5.3, 36.0, 134.9)
171	(5.3, 6.2, 8.7)	(37.1, 86.1, 174.9)	(5.6, 17.4, 44.8)	(9.6, 103.8, 708.1)
172	(4.4, 9.2, 18.3)	(10.0, 22.1, 43.2)	(5.0, 13.2, 27.5)	(5.9, 86.2, 269.8)
181	(5.2, 8.2, 16.5)	(14.3, 35.5, 74.5)	(6.3, 24.5, 54.0)	(9.2, 183.9, 948.8)
182	(4.5, 8.8, 15.2)	(8.7, 18.0, 31.3)	(5.0, 11.7, 21.1)	(6.5, 54.8, 196.5)
191	(4.0, 5.9, 8.5)	(7.3, 15.3, 26.1)	(3.9, 8.5, 15.0)	(4.1, 29.2, 93.9)
192	(4.0, 6.7, 10.8)	(6.9, 13.9, 24.1)	(4.0, 8.2, 14.4)	(4.5, 26.0, 88.5)
1101	(4.1, 6.6, 11.6)	(7.0, 14.5, 25.8)	(4.1, 9.4, 17.8)	(4.3, 35.5, 140.8)
1102	(4.2, 6.1, 11.4)	(9.1, 17.7, 30.4)	(4.1, 8.5, 14.7)	(4.7, 29.6, 91.6)
1111	(4.6, 4.0, 11.2)	(31.1, 67.1, 130.8)	(4.3, 14.4, 31.7)	(5.0, 85.4, 364.3)
1112	(4.2, 5.8, 10.9)	(8.8, 18.1, 32.0)	(4.2, 8.9, 16.1)	(4.8, 33.4, 112.4)
1121	(4.5, 8.6, 17.1)	(7.7, 18.4, 40.8)	(5.0, 19.4, 55.8)	(5.7, 109.4, 956.6)
1122	(4.3, 6.0, 11.4)	(7.4, 14.7, 26.5)	(4.4, 9.8, 18.4)	(5.4, 39.4, 143.3)
1131	(3.2, 4.7, 8.0)	(4.4, 8.7, 15.5)	(3.2, 6.2, 11.2)	(3.4, 17.2, 60.1)
1132	(3.2, 5.2, 9.2)	(4.5, 8.8, 15.3)	(3.2, 6.3, 11.1)	(3.4, 17.6, 55.6)
1141	(3.3, 4.5, 5.6)	(4.8, 9.9, 16.8)	(3.1, 6.7, 11.5)	(3.2, 20.0, 59.9)
1142	(3.2, 4.3, 7.8)	(4.5, 9.0, 15.8)	(3.2, 6.4, 11.4)	(3.3, 18.8, 59.4)
1151	(3.2, 4.4, 9.0)	(4.5, 9.1, 15.5)	(3.2, 6.8, 11.8)	(3.4, 20.1, 62.3)
1152	(3.2, 4.7, 8.1)	(4.5, 9.2, 15.9)	(3.2, 6.6, 11.6)	(3.4, 19.4, 62.3)
1161	(3.4, 3.7, 7.1)	(4.9, 9.5, 16.9)	(3.3, 6.8, 12.7)	(3.4, 20.5, 72.3)
1162	(3.3, 5.0, 7.3)	(4.5, 9.3, 16.2)	(3.2, 6.9, 12.1)	(3.4, 20.9, 65.4)

Table 3.5: The average widths for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) , r and joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme.

Scheme		$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$		
no.	Approximate	Bayes	Boot-t	Boot-p
211	(7.5, 11.8, 21.1)	(20.9, 34.6, 62.9)	(9.2, 16.2, 30.9)	(15.8, 77.4, 327.2)
212	(7.3, 12.9, 26.2)	(18.5, 32.5, 66.0)	(9.3, 17.6, 37.5)	(15.9, 77.4, 401.6)
221	(8.3, 15.7, 32.5)	(53.9, 109.0, 228.3)	(11.4, 28.4, 59.4)	(17.7, 184.1, 801.0)
222	(7.2, 12.1, 21.9)	(20.4, 35.7, 64.3)	(8.5, 15.8, 28.8)	(12.6, 67.8, 235.3)
231	(8.9, 17.6, 33.1)	(22.2, 44.2, 83.7)	(14.5, 32.8, 53.9)	(24.1, 211.6, 604.6)
232	(8.2, 14.0, 28.6)	(56.2, 99.9, 200.2)	(10.4, 21.5, 49.1)	(16.6, 106.5, 570.4)
241	(9.9, 18.5, 32.7)	(27.8, 54.2, 95.0)	(16.6, 35.4, 49.4)	(30.1, 225.5, 514.8)
242	(8.5, 15.7, 33.3)	(57.0, 110.0, 231.8)	(11.5, 27.3, 66.7)	(20.7, 177.8, 955.7)
251	(6.8, 10.3, 18.2)	(13.2, 20.7, 36.5)	(7.3, 11.7, 21.0)	(10.0, 32.5, 120.5)
252	(6.6, 11.1, 21.6)	(14.7, 25.9, 49.7)	(7.2, 13.4, 26.8)	(9.3, 46.3, 210.7)
261	(6.7, 11.1, 19.9)	(15.3, 26.0, 46.9)	(7.4, 13.8, 26.3)	(9.2, 52.0, 196.1)
262	(6.5, 10.5, 18.3)	(12.5, 21.1, 36.9)	(7.0, 12.0, 21.6)	(9.5, 37.4, 137.3)
271	(7.7, 9.3, 22.6)	(50.5, 95.8, 198.6)	(9.0, 21.2, 56.2)	(13.0, 95.9, 738.2)
272	(6.8, 11.6, 23.4)	(15.3, 27.3, 55.7)	(7.8, 16.2, 35.6)	(10.5, 66.0, 329.2)
281	(8.5, 13.0, 27.4)	(54.6, 115.8, 244.3)	(11.2, 29.3, 69.9)	(17.8, 204.7, 1085.1)
282	(7.0, 11.1, 19.9)	(15.7, 26.6, 48.0)	(7.9, 14.2, 27.3)	(11.7, 49.8, 219.6)
291	(6.4, 7.2, 11.8)	(11.8, 19.7, 34.1)	(6.3, 10.8, 19.4)	(8.0, 30.9, 111.4)
292	(6.0, 8.5, 15.5)	(10.3, 17.5, 32.0)	(6.0, 10.3, 19.1)	(7.3, 30.1, 110.4)
2101	(6.3, 8.3, 14.5)	(10.7, 18.4, 33.9)	(6.4, 11.9, 23.2)	(7.7, 35.8, 152.2)
2102	(6.3, 6.8, 12.4)	(11.5, 18.9, 33.5)	(6.3, 10.6, 19.0)	(7.9, 31.9, 104.0)
2111	(6.5, 8.7, 17.9)	(11.1, 19.1, 41.1)	(7.2, 15.5, 41.1)	(9.6, 57.2, 484.8)
2112	(6.2, 8.5, 15.3)	(10.5, 18.4, 31.7)	(6.3, 11.6, 20.6)	(8.5, 37.1, 123.6)
2121	(6.8, 12.3, 28.8)	(11.1, 21.5, 49.5)	(8.3, 23.6, 71.4)	(13.5, 113.1, 1210.0)
2122	(6.5, 8.5, 13.4)	(11.1, 18.7, 32.4)	(6.8, 12.4, 22.5)	(9.0, 44.6, 146.5)
2131	(4.9, 5.4, 8.4)	(7.1, 11.9, 21.8)	(4.8, 8.0, 14.6)	(5.3, 18.5, 67.4)
2132	(4.9, 5.5, 10.6)	(6.8, 11.1, 20.4)	(4.8, 7.9, 14.4)	(5.3, 18.1, 64.5)
2141	(4.8, 5.2, 11.0)	(6.8, 11.1, 20.4)	(4.8, 8.0, 14.8)	(5.2, 18.9, 71.2)
2142	(4.9, 5.1, 9.5)	(6.9, 11.4, 20.3)	(4.9, 8.2, 14.6)	(5.5, 18.8, 62.9)
2151	(5.1, 4.7, 8.2)	(7.2, 11.8, 21.3)	(5.0, 8.4, 15.5)	(5.5, 19.8, 73.3)
2152	(4.9, 5.1, 10.0)	(6.8, 11.0, 20.3)	(4.9, 7.9, 14.8)	(5.5, 19.0, 68.0)
2161	(5.0, 5.8, 5.0)	(7.0, 11.7, 20.7)	(5.0, 8.8, 16.3)	(5.5, 22.8, 86.6)
2162	(4.9, 5.9, 10.2)	(6.9, 11.8, 20.4)	(4.9, 8.6, 15.1)	(5.4, 21.7, 70.0)

Table 3.6: The average widths for some choices of (n_1, n_2, n_3) , r and joint progressive Type-II censoring scheme.

Table 3.7: Failure time data as three groups of insulating fluids

Group 1	0.31	0.66	1.54	1.70	1.82	1.89	2.17	2.24	4.03	9.99
Group 2	0.00	0.18	0.55	0.66	0.71	1.30	1.63	2.17	2.75	10.60
Group 3	0.49	0.64	0.82	0.93	1.08	1.99	2.06	2.15	2.57	4.75

Table 3.8: Joint progressively Type-II censored data observed from Table 3.7 with r = 12 and censoring scheme R_1

W		δ			\mathbf{S}	
0.00	0	1	0	1	0	0
0.18	0	1	0	1	0	0
0.31	1	0	0	1	0	0
0.49	0	0	1	0	0	1
0.55	0	1	0	0	0	1
0.64	0	0	1	0	1	0
0.66	1	0	0	0	1	0
0.66	0	1	0	0	0	1
1.08	0	0	1	0	1	0
1.54	1	0	0	1	0	0
1.63	0	1	0	0	0	1
2.17	1	0	0	0	0	1

the data in Table 3.7 with r = 12 and censoring schemes $R_1 = (1_{12})$ and $R_2 = (2_6, 0_6)$.

We then computed the conditional MLEs of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors for r = 12 from the expressions presented earlier in Section 2, and these are presented in Table 3.10. We have also computed the estimates of the covariance matrix of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \hat{\theta}_3)$ from the expression in Corollary 3, and these are presented in Table 3.11. From the results in Tables 3.10 and 3.11, we find the estimates to be quite stable, and especially so for θ_2 since this population has smallest mean thus producing more failures in the joint progressively censored data.

				-		
W		δ			\mathbf{S}	
0	1	0	0	0	0	2
0.18	1	0	0	1	1	0
0.31	1	0	0	1	1	0
0.55	1	0	0	1	0	1
0.64	1	0	0	1	0	1
0.66	1	0	0	0	1	1
0.82	1	0	0	0	0	0
1.89	1	0	0	0	0	0
2.15	0	1	0	0	0	0
2.17	0	0	1	0	0	0
2.17	0	0	1	0	0	0
4.03	0	1	0	0	0	0

Table 3.9: Joint progressively Type-II censored data observed from Table 3.7 with r = 12 and censoring scheme R_2

Table 3.10: Conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors based on joint progressively Type-II censored data from Tables 3.8 and 3.9 according to the censoring schemes $R_1 = (1_{12})$ and $R_2 = (2_6, 0_6)$.

	Mean	\widehat{SD}	\widehat{MSE}
R	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$
R_1	(1.68, 1.01, 1.41)	(1.1932, 0.5852, 0.9391)	(1.4692, 0.3476, 0.9049)
R_2	(2.35, 1.56, 2.22)	(1.6288, 0.9142, 1.5063)	(2.7313, 0.8490, 2.3316)

Table 3.11: Estimates of the covariance matrix of the conditional MLEs based on joint progressively Type-II censored data from Tables 3.8 and 3.9

С	ovariance	matrix $(\rho(\theta$	$(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	for schemes	R_1 and R_1	R_2	
1.4237	-0.0258	-0.0494		2.6529	-0.0566	-0.1091	$\overline{)}$
-0.02582	0.3424	-0.0206	,	-0.0566	0.8358	-0.0525	
-0.0494	-0.0206	0.8820	/	-0.1091	-0.0525	2.2690)

	Scheme		r = 12	
	R	CI for θ_1	CI for θ_2	CI for θ_3
Exact	R_1	(0.69, 6.59)	(0.46, 3.24)	(0.60, 5.13)
	R_2	(0.98, 8.90)	(0.71, 5.05)	(0.94, 8.20)
Approximate	R_1	(0.01, 4.35)	(0.92, 2.24)	(1.2, 3.55)
	R_2	(0.02, 4.94)	(0.61, 3.13)	(0.9, 4.59)
Boot-t	R_1	(0.82, 40.32)	(0.34, 6.12)	(0.63, 24.11)
	R_2	(0.66, 16.82)	(0.34, 5.27)	(0.60, 14.17)
Boot-p	R_1	(0.74, 7.65)	(0.40, 3.20)	(0.61, 5.91)
	R_2	(0.69, 6.08)	(0.47, 3.76)	(0.65, 5.60)
Bayes credible	R_1	(0.99, 8.42)	(0.51, 4.32)	(0.80, 6.89)
	R_2	(1.13, 9.51)	(0.71, 6.05)	(1.04, 8.89)

Table 3.12: 95% confidence intervals for $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ corresponding to different methods based on joint progressively Type-II censored data from Table 3.8 and 3.9 for censoring schemes R_1 and R_2 .

Chapter 4

Inference Under Joint Type-II Hybrid Censoring

4.1 Introduction

The joint censoring scheme is quite useful in conducting comparative life-tests of products from different units within the same facility. Suppose products are being manufactured by k different lines within the same facility, and that k independent samples of sizes n_h , $1 \le h \le k$, are selected from these k lines and placed simultaneously on a life-testing experiment. Then, in order to reduce the cost of experiment and also to reduce the experimental time, the life-testing experiment may be chosen to be terminated after a certain number (say, r) of failures has been observed. In this situation, one may be interested in either point or interval estimation of the mean lifetimes of units produced by these k lines. In addition, one may also place a condition based on time under test. In such a situation, here, if the termination of the life-testing experiment is done by a joint Type-I or Type-II hybrid censoring scheme, exact results based on the maximum likelihood estimates are developed for making point and interval inference on the parameters.

Epstein (1954) introduced the Type-I hybrid censoring scheme (Type-I HCS) in which the life-testing experiment is terminated as soon as a pre-specified number r out of n items has failed or a pre-fixed time T on test has been reached, which ever appears first. The Type-I HCS has been used as a reliability acceptance test in MIL-STD-781 C (1977). However, the Type-I HCS may result in very few failures at the termination point of the experiment. For this reason, Childs et al. (2003) introduced the Type-II hybrid censoring scheme (Type-II HCS) as an alternative to Type-I hybrid censoring scheme, in which the life-testing experiment terminates at the time when the latter of the above two stopping rules is reached. This censoring scheme has the advantage of guaranteeing that at least r failures are observed at the end of the experiment. The disadvantage in this scheme, however, is that it may take longer time to complete this life-test.

In the literature, joint Type-II censoring scheme and inferential methods based on such a scheme have been discussed earlier. For example, Basu (1968) discussed a generalized Savage statistic. Johnson and Mehrotra (1972) studied locally most powerful rank test under joint censoring. The problem of testing for the equality of two distributions, under the assumption of exponentiality, was discussed by Bhattacharyya and Mehrotra (1981). All these developments under this joint censoring scheme have focused on nonparametric and parametric tests of hypotheses; see Bhattacharyya (1995, Chapter 7 of Balakrishnan and Basu (1995)). For the exact inference based on the MLEs, Chen and Bhattacharyya (1988) derived the exact distribution of the maximum likelihood estimator of the mean of an exponential distribution and an exact lower confidence bound for the mean based on a Type-I hybrid censored sample. Childs et al. (2003) obtained an alternative simple form which is equivalent to the results of Chen and Bhattacharyya.

To study two or more competing products in regard to the duration of their service life, comparative lifetime experiments are of great importance. In this regard, Balakrishnan and Rasouli (2008) discussed exact inference for two exponential populations when Type-II censoring is implemented on the two samples in a joint manner. Here, we generalize their work by considering the k-sample problem. Suppose the test units from k lines under study are placed on a life-test simultaneously, that the successive failure times and the corresponding types (lines from which the failed units come from) are recorded, the experiment is terminated at time when the latter of a specified total number of failures has been observed and a pre-fixed time T on test has been reached. The main aim of this paper is to consider the parameters of k exponential distributions, and to derive the exact distributions of the maximum likelihood estimators of the unknown parameters based on a joint Type-II hybrid censored sample arising from these k independent exponential populations. The exact distributions of the maximum likelihood estimators and the exact confidence intervals for the exponential parameters are discussed.

Suppose $X_{11}, X_{12}, \dots, X_{1n_1}$ are the lifetimes of n_1 specimens from line A_1 , and they are assumed to be independent and identically distributed (iid) variables from a population with cumulative distribution function (cdf) $F_1(x)$ and probability density function (pdf) $f_1(x)$. Similarly, $X_{21}, X_{22}, \dots, X_{2n_2}$ are the lifetimes of n_2 specimens from line A_2 and are assumed to be a sample from pdf $f_2(x)$ and cdf $F_2(x)$, and so on, with $X_{k1}, X_{k2}, \dots, X_{kn_k}$ denoting the lifetimes of n_k specimens from line A_k and are assumed to be iid variables from pdf $f_k(x)$ and cdf $F_k(x)$.

Furthermore, let $N = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$ denote the total sample size, T denote the pre-fixed test time, and r denote the pre-fixed number of failures to be observed. Let $w_1 \le w_2 \le$ $\dots \le w_N$ denote the order statistics of the N random variables $\{X_{ij}; 1 \le i \le k, 1 \le j \le n_i\}$.

Therefore, under the joint hybrid Type-II censoring scheme for the k-samples, the observable data consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w})$, where $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), w_i \in \{X_{h_i 1}, X_{h_i 2}, \cdots, X_{h_i n_i}\}$ for $1 \leq h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r \leq k$. Finally, associated to (h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r) , let us define $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1(h), \delta_2(h), \cdots, \delta_r(h))$ as

$$\delta_i(h) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } h = h_i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

Let D denote the number of failures up to time T. Then, D is a discrete random variable with support $\{0, 1, 2, \dots, N\}$ with probability mass function

$$P(D=d) = \sum \begin{pmatrix} n_1 \\ l_1 \end{pmatrix} p_1^{l_1} q_1^{n_1-l_1} \begin{pmatrix} n_2 \\ l_2 \end{pmatrix} p_2^{l_2} q_2^{n_2-l_2} \cdots \begin{pmatrix} n_k \\ l_k \end{pmatrix} p_k^{l_k} q_k^{n_k-l_k}$$

with $\sum_{i=1}^{k} l_i = d$ for $1 \le l_i \le n_i$, where $p_j = F_j(T)$, and $q_j = 1 - F_j(T)$ $(1 \le j \le k)$.

Therefore, under the joint Type-II hybrid censoring scheme described above, the observable data consist of (δ, \mathbf{w}) of the following form:

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = \begin{cases} (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), & \text{with } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r - 1, \\ (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_D; w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_D), & \text{with } D = r, r + 1, \cdots, N, \end{cases}$$

where δ is as defined in (4.1.1).

4.2 MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

Let $M_r(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$ denote the number of X_h -failures in \mathbf{w} for $1 \le h \le k$, and $r = \sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h)$. Then, under the joint Type-II HCS, the likelihood of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W})$ is

then given by

$$= \begin{cases} L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) \\ c_r \prod_{i=1}^r \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(w_r))^{n_h - M_r(h)}, & T < w_r, \\ c_D \prod_{i=1}^D \prod_{h=1}^k (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^k (S_h(T))^{n_h - M_D(h)}, & T > w_r, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.1)

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$, $S_h(T) = 1 - F_h(T)$ and $c_r = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$, and $c_D = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_D(h))!}$.

When the k populations are exponential with cdf $F_h(x) = 1 - \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}), x > 0$, and pdf $f_h(x) = \frac{1}{\theta_h} \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}), x > 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the likelihood function in (4.2.1) simplifies as follows:

For $T < w_r$, $(D \le r - 1)$, the likelihood of (δ, \mathbf{W}) is given by

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \log \theta_h - \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{1}{\theta_h} \left(\sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h))\right)\right\};$$
(4.2.2)

For $T > w_r$ $(D \ge r)$, the likelihood of (δ, \mathbf{W}) is given by

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_D \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k M_D(h) \log \theta_h - \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{1}{\theta_h} \left(\sum_{i=1}^D w_i \delta_i(h) + T(n_h - M_D(h))\right)\right\}.$$

$$(4.2.3)$$

Thus, under the Type-II HCS, for $1 \le h \le k$, the MLE of θ_h is given by

$$\hat{\theta}_{h} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{M_{r}(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{r}(h)) \right\} & \text{when } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r - 1, \\ \frac{1}{M_{D}(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{D} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + T(n_{h} - M_{D}(h)) \right\} & \text{when } D = r, r + 1, \cdots, N. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.4)$$

Remark 9 From the likelihood function, we readily see that the MLE of θ_h does not exist if $T < W_r$ and $\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) = 0$; if $T > W_r$ and $\prod_{h=1}^k M_D(h) = 0$, then also the MLE of θ_h does not exist. So, the MLEs in (4.2.4) are conditioned on $S = \left\{\prod_{h=1}^k M_D(h) \ge 1 \text{ or } \prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \ge 1\right\}$. We, therefore, need to discuss the distribution and other properties of the MLEs only conditional on the set S.

Lemma 3 For $r \leq d \leq N$, let $\mathbf{M}_d = (M_d(1), M_d(2), \cdots, M_d(k))$ and $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$ with $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = d$. Further, let us denote the set

$$\mathbf{T}_{d} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{t} : \max\{1, d - \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_{j}\} \le t_{k} \le \min\{d - k + 1, n_{k}\}, \\ \max\{1, d - \sum_{h=1}^{k-2} n_{j} - t_{k}\} \le t_{k-1} \le \min\{d - k + 2 - t_{k}, n_{k-1}\}, \\ \cdots, \end{cases}$$

$$\max\{1, d - n_1 - \sum_{h=3}^k t_h\} \le t_2 \le \min\{d - \sum_{h=3}^k t_h, n_2\}\right\}.$$

Then, we have

$$P(S|D = d) = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_d} P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t})$$
(4.2.5)

Proof For $0 \le d < r$, consider the set

$$\{S|D = d\} = \left\{\sum_{h=1}^{k} M_d(h) = d, \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_d(h) \neq 0\right\}.$$

Since $t_k \leq n_k$ and $d = \sum_{h=1}^k t_h \geq k - 1 + t_k$, we have $t_k \leq \min\{d - k + 1, n_k\}$. On the other hand, $t_k \geq 1$ and $d = \sum_{h=1}^k t_h \leq \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_h + t_k$, and so we have $t_k \geq \max\{1, d - \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_h\}$.

When we fix t_k in this way, we get $\max\{1, d - \sum_{h=1}^{k-2} n_j - t_k\} \le t_{k-1} \le \min\{d - k + 2 - t_k, n_{k-1}\}$, and therefore

$$\{S|D=d\} = \bigcup_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_d} \{\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}\}$$

which proves the lemma.

Similarly, we have the following result for the case when $r \leq d \leq N$.

Lemma 4 For $0 \leq d \leq r - 1$, let $\mathbf{M}_r = (M_r(1), M_r(2), \cdots, M_r(k))$ and $\mathbf{t} =$

$$(t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$$
 with $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = r$. Further, let us denote the set

$$\mathbf{T}_{r} = \left\{ \mathbf{t} : \max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-1} n_{j}\} \le t_{k} \le \min\{r - k + 1, n_{k}\}, \\ \max\{1, r - \sum_{h=1}^{k-2} n_{j} - t_{k}\} \le t_{k-1} \le \min\{r - k + 2 - t_{k}, n_{k-1}\}, \\ \cdots, \\ \max\{1, r - n_{1} - \sum_{h=3}^{k} t_{h}\} \le t_{2} \le \min\{r - \sum_{h=3}^{k} t_{h}, n_{2}\} \right\}.$$

Then, we have

$$P(S|D=d) = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_r} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}).$$
(4.2.6)

Theorem 9 The joint probability mass function of δ under the Type-II HCS is as follows:

(a) For $0 \le d \le r - 1$,

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}|D = d) = \frac{c_r}{P(D = d)} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d \varphi_{l'd}, \qquad (4.2.7)$$

where

$$\varphi_{l'd} = \left\{ \prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{d} \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h} \right\}^{-1} \left\{ \prod_{j=d+1}^{r} \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h} \right\}^{-1} \\ \times \exp\left\{ -T(\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_h}) \right\}, \ 0 \le l' \le d;$$
(4.2.8)

(b) For $d \geq r$,

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) = \frac{c_d}{P(D = d)} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d \psi_{l'd},$$
(4.2.9)

where

$$\psi_{l'd} = \left\{ \prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{d} \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h} \right\}^{-1} \\ \times \exp\left\{ -T \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_h} \right\}, \ 0 \le l' \le d; \qquad (4.2.10)$$

(c) For $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$, such that $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = d$ and $t_j \ge 1$ for all j, let $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ be as defined in (4.1.1), $M_d(h) = \sum_{i=1}^d \delta_i(h)$, and

$$Q_d^*(\mathbf{t}) = \left\{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}(\mathbf{h}) = (\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \cdots, \tilde{\delta}_r) \text{ such that } M_d(h) = t_h \text{ for } 1 \le h \le k \right\}.$$

Then,

$$P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q_d^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}); \qquad (4.2.11)$$

(d) Let \mathbf{T}_d be the set as defined in Lemma 3, Then,

$$P(S|D = d) = \begin{cases} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_r} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}) & \text{if } d < r, \\ \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_d} P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t}) & \text{if } d \ge r. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.12)

As we can see, for some \mathbf{t} , the probability $P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t}) = 0$, when $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$ does not belong to \mathbf{T}_d .

Proof (a) When $T < w_r$, let d be the integer such that $w_d < T < w_{d+1}$, from (4.2.2), we have the joint density of (δ, \mathbf{W}) as

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} a_i w_i - b_r w_r\right), \qquad (4.2.13)$$

 $\{0 < w_1 < w_2 < \dots < w_d < T < w_{d+1} < \dots < w_r < \infty\}, \text{ where } a_i = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_i(h)}{\theta_h} \text{ and } b_r = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_r(h) + n_h - M_r(h)}{\theta_h}. \text{ Upon integrating out } w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r \text{ over } \{0 < w_1 < \dots < w_d < T < w_{d+1} < \dots < w_r < \infty\} \text{ in } (4.2.13), \text{ by using Lemma 7, we obtain the joint } b_r = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_i(h)}{\theta_h} e_h + \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_i(h)$

probability mass function of $\pmb{\delta}$ as

$$\begin{split} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} &= \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) P(D = d) \\ &= c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \int_{0 \le w_1 \le w_2 \le \cdots \le w_d < T} \exp\left(-\sum_{i=1}^d a_i w_i\right) dw_1 \cdots dw_d \\ &\times \int_{T \le w_{d+1} \le w_{d+2} \le \cdots \le w_r < \infty} \exp\left(-\sum_{i=d+1}^{r-1} a_i w_i - b_r w_r\right) dw_{d+1} \cdots dw_r \\ &= c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d c_{l'}^{(d)} \exp\left(-T \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^d a_i\right) \tilde{c}_d^{(r)} \exp\left(-T(b_r + \sum_{i=d+1}^{r-1} a_i)\right) \\ &= c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d c_{l'}^{(d)} \tilde{c}_d^{(r)} \exp\left(-T(b_r + \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{r-1} a_i)\right), \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} c_0^{(d)} &= \prod_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^d a_i}, \\ c_{l'}^{(d)} &= \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} a_i} \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{d-l'} a_i}, \text{ for } 1 \le l' \le d, \\ \tilde{c}_d^{(r)} &= \frac{1}{b_r} \prod_{i=d+1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b_r + \sum_{j=i}^{r-1} a_j}, \end{aligned}$$

which are shown in Lemma 7 in the Appendix.

Observe that for $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, $M_r(h, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}) = \sum_{i=1}^r \tilde{\delta}_i(h)$ and

$$b_r + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a_i = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\tilde{\delta}_r(h) + n_h - M_r(h)}{\theta_h} + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\tilde{\delta}_i(h)}{\theta_h}$$
$$= \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h, \tilde{\delta})}{\theta_h},$$

Chapter 4.2 - MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

$$\sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} a_i = \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\tilde{\delta}_i(h)}{\theta_h} = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{M_{d-j}(h,\tilde{\delta}) - M_{d-l'}(h,\tilde{\delta})}{\theta_h},$$

where $M_i(h, \tilde{\delta}) = \sum_{l=1}^{i} \tilde{\delta}_l(h)$ depends on $\tilde{\delta}$, and yet we denote it by $M_i(h)$, for simplicity, and set $M_0(h) = 0$. Thus, we have

$$c_0^{(d)} = \prod_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{M_d(h) - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}.$$

For $1 \leq l' \leq d$,

$$\begin{aligned} c_{l'}^{(d)} &= \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} a_i} \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{d-l'} a_i} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-j}(h) - M_{d-l'}(h))}{\theta_h}} \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{j-1}(h))}{\theta_h}}, \\ &= \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h}}, \\ \tilde{c}_d^{(r)} &= \frac{1}{b_r} \prod_{j=d+1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b_r + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a_i} \\ &= \prod_{j=d+1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}. \end{aligned}$$

Then,

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) = \frac{c_r}{P(D = d)} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d c_{l'}^{(d)} \tilde{c}_d^{(r)} e^{-T \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_h}},$$

from which (4.2.7) is obtained.

(b) When $T > w_r$, from (4.2.3), d is the integer such that $w_d < T < w_{d+1}$. We have the joint density of (δ, \mathbf{W}) as

$$f(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_d \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^d a_i w_i\right\}$$
$$\exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{T(n_h - M_d(h))}{\theta_h}\right\}$$
(4.2.14)

with $a_i = \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{\delta_i(h)}{\theta_h}$, for $1 \le i \le d$.

Upon integrating out w_1, w_2, \dots, w_d over $\{0 \le w_1 \le w_2 \le \dots \le w_d < T\}$ in (4.2.14) by using Lemma 7, we obtain the joint probability mass function of $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ as follows:

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) P(D = d)$$

$$= c_d \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{T(n_h - M_d(h))}{\theta_h}\right\}$$

$$\times \int_0^T \cdots \int_0^{W_2} \exp(-\sum_{i=1}^d a_i w_i) dw_1 \cdots dw_d$$

$$= c_d \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{T(n_h - M_d(h))}{\theta_h}\right\} \sum_{l'=0}^d c_{l'}^{(d)} e^{-\sum_{i=d-l'+1}^d a_i T}$$

$$= c_d \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d c_{l'}^{(d)} \exp\left\{-T \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_h}\right\}$$

where $c_{l'}^{(d)} = \prod_{\substack{j=0 \ j \neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h)-M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h}}, \ 0 \le j \le d.$ Thus, (4.2.9) is obtained.

The results in (c) and (d) follow immediately from Lemma 3, Lemma 4 and Part

(b).

Theorem 10 Conditional on S, the moment generating function (mgf) of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $1 \leq l \leq k$) is given by

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \prod_{j=d+1}^{r} \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{lj}^{*}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}, \qquad (4.2.15)$$

where $\varphi_{l'd}$ and $\psi_{l'd}$ are as given in (4.2.8) and (4.2.10), respectively. For $1 \leq l \leq k$, $0 \leq l' \leq d$ and $0 \leq j \leq d$,

$$\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} = \frac{M_{d-l'}(l) - M_{j-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{j-1}(h))}{\theta_h}},$$
(4.2.16)

$$\beta_{lj}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{j-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}.$$
(4.2.17)

Proof Conditioning on the set S and then on $\tilde{\delta}$, we obtain

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}} | \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0, \text{ or } \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{D}(h) \neq 0\right]$$

$$= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} E\left(e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}} | D = d, \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0\right) P(D = d)$$

$$+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} E\left(e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}} | D = d, \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{D}(h) \neq 0\right) P(D = d). \quad (4.2.18)$$

When $d = 0, 1, 2, \dots, r - 1$, by using Lemma 7, we have

$$\begin{split} E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|D = d, \prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0\right] P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0|D = d\right) P(D = d) \\ = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq \cdots \leq w_{d}< T\leq w_{d+1}\leq w_{d+2}\leq \cdots \leq w_{r}<\infty} e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}f(\tilde{\delta}, \mathbf{w})dw_{1}\cdots dw_{r} \\ = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq \cdots \leq w_{d}< T} e^{-\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i}'w_{i}}dw_{1}\cdots dw_{d} \\ \times \int_{T\leq w_{d+1}\leq w_{d+2}\leq \cdots \leq w_{r}<\infty} e^{-\sum_{i=d+1}^{r-1} a_{i}'w_{i}-b_{r}'w_{r}}dw_{d+1}\cdots dw_{r} \\ = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \left(\sum_{l'=0}^{d} b_{l'}^{(d)}e^{-T\sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d} a_{i}'}\right) \tilde{b}_{d}^{(r)}e^{-T(b_{r}'+\sum_{i=d+1}^{r-1} a_{i}')} \\ = \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} b_{l'}^{(d)}\tilde{b}_{d}^{(r)}e^{-T(b_{r}'+\sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{r-1} a_{i}')}, \end{split}$$

where $b'_{r} = b_{r} - \frac{t}{M_{r}(l)} (\tilde{\delta}_{r}(l) + n_{l} - M_{r}(l)), \ a'_{i} = a_{i} - \frac{t\tilde{\delta}_{i}(l)}{M_{r}(l)},$

$$b_0^{(d)} = \prod_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^d a_i'},$$

$$b_{l'}^{(d)} = \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} a_i'} \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{d-l'} a_i'}, \text{ for } 1 \le l' \le d,$$

$$\tilde{b}_d^{(r)} = \frac{1}{b_r'} \prod_{j=d+1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b_r' + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a_i'}.$$

Now, observing that

$$b'_{r} + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a'_{i}$$

$$= b_{r} + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a_{i} - \frac{t(\tilde{\delta}_{r}(l) + n_{l} - M_{r}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} - \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} \frac{t\tilde{\delta}_{i}(l)}{M_{r}(l)}$$

$$= \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_{h} - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}} - \frac{t(n_{l} - M_{j-1}(l))}{M_{r}(l)},$$

$$\sum_{i=j}^{d} a'_{i} = \sum_{i=j}^{d} a_{i} - \sum_{i=j}^{d} \frac{t\tilde{\delta}_{j}(l)}{M_{r}(l)}$$
$$= \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{M_{d}(h) - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}} - \frac{t(M_{d}(l) - M_{j-1}(l))}{M_{r}(l)},$$

we obtain

$$b_0^{(d)} = \prod_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{M_d(h) - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}} \prod_{j=1}^d \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,0j}^{(d)}},$$

where
$$\beta_{l,0j}^{(d)} = \frac{M_d(l) - M_{j-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{M_d(h) - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}.$$

For $1 \leq l' \leq r$, we also have

$$\begin{split} b_{l'}^{(d)} &= \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d-j} a'_i} \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{d-l'} a'_i} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{l'}}{\prod_{j=0}^{l'-1} \left(\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{(M_{d-j}(h) - M_{d-l'}(h))}{\theta_h} - \frac{t(M_{d-j}(l) - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_r(l)} \right)}{\times \prod_{j=1}^{d-l'} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{j-1}(h))}{\theta_h} - \frac{t(M_{d-l'}(l) - M_{j-1}(l))}{M_r(l)}}, \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=0}^d \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h}} \prod_{j=l'}^d \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}}, \\ \tilde{b}_d^{(r)} &= \frac{1}{b'_r} \prod_{j=d+1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{b'_r + \sum_{i=j}^{r-1} a'_i} \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=d+1}^r \left(\sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h} - \frac{t(n_l - M_{j-1}(l))}{M_r(l)} \right)} \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=d+1}^r \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}} \prod_{j=d+1}^r \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{lj}^*}, \end{split}$$

where
$$\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} = \frac{M_{d-l'}(l) - M_{d-j}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{(M_{d-l'}(h) - M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_h}}$$
 and $\beta_{lj}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{j-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}$. Thus, when
$$d=0,1,\cdots,r-1,$$

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|D=d,\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0|D=d\right)P(D=d)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}}\sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}\sum_{l'=0}^{d}\frac{1}{\prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{d}\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{(M_{d-l'}(h)-M_{d-j}(h))}{\theta_{h}}}{\prod_{j=d+1}^{r}\frac{1}{1-t\beta_{l,j}^{*}}}$$

$$\times\frac{1}{\prod_{j=d+1}^{r}\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_{h}}}\prod_{j=d+1}^{r}\frac{1}{1-t\beta_{l,j}^{*}}$$

$$\times\exp\left\{-T\left(\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_{h}}-\frac{t(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right)\right\}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}}\sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{r}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)}\sum_{l'=0}^{d}\varphi_{l'd}\prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{d}\frac{1}{1-t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}}\prod_{j=d+1}^{r}\frac{1}{1-t\beta_{l,j}^{*}}$$

$$\times\exp\left\{\frac{tT\left(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l)\right)}{M_{r}(l)}\right\},\qquad(4.2.19)$$

where $\varphi_{l'd}$ is as given in (4.2.8).

Similarly, when $d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N$,

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|D=d,\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0|D=d\right)P(D=d)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}\int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq\cdots\leq w_{d}< T}e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}f(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}},\mathbf{W})dw_{1}\cdots dw_{r}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}}\sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{d}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)}\exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{T\left(n_{h}-M_{d}(h)\right)}{\theta_{h}}+\frac{tT\left(n_{l}-M_{d}(l)\right)}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}$$

$$\times\int_{0\leq w_{1}\leq w_{2}\leq\cdots\leq w_{d}< T}\exp\left\{-\sum_{i=1}^{d}a_{i}'w_{i}\right\}dw_{1}\cdots dw_{d},$$

where $a'_i = a_i - \frac{t\tilde{\delta}_i(l)}{M_r(l)}$. Then, by using Lemma 7, we get

$$E\left[e^{t\hat{\theta}_{l}}|D=d,\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0\right]P\left(\prod_{h=1}^{k}M_{r}(h)\neq0|D=d\right)P(D=d)$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{d}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)}\left(\sum_{l'=0}^{d}b_{l'}^{(d)}e^{-T\sum_{i=d-l'+1}^{d}a_{i}'}\right)$$

$$\times\exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{T\left(n_{h}-M_{d}(h)\right)}{\theta_{h}}+\frac{tT\left(n_{l}-M_{d}(l)\right)}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{d}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)}\sum_{l'=0}^{d}b_{l'}^{(d)}$$

$$\times\exp\left\{-T\sum_{h=1}^{k}\frac{n_{h}-M_{d-l'}(h)}{\theta_{h}}+\frac{tT\left(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l)\right)}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}$$

$$=\sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}}\sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})}c_{d}\prod_{h=1}^{k}\theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)}\sum_{l'=0}^{d}\psi_{l'd}\prod_{j=0}^{d}\frac{1}{1-t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}}$$

$$\times\exp\left\{\frac{tT\left(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l)\right)}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}.$$
(4.2.20)

Upon substituting from (4.2.19) and (4.2.20) into (4.2.18), we obtain the expression in (4.2.15) as required.

Remark 10 For fixed l, l' and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, some $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(d)}$'s and β_{li}^* 's may be the same. In this case, for d < r, we resort the $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(d)}$ and β_{li}^* values and denote them by $\{\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}\}_{i=1}^{r'}$, and assume that there are r' distinct values with $\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$ of the $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$'s being equal, with $\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)} = r$. Consequently, the term $\prod_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}\right)^{-1} \times \prod_{j=d+1}^{r} \left(1 - t\beta_{lj}^*\right)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}}$; For $d \ge r$, similarly, $\prod_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}\right)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{j=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}}$ with $\sum_{i=1}^{r''} \alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)} = d$, and thus, the conditional mgf in Theorem 10 can be expressed as follows:

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}$$
(4.2.21)

Remark 11

1. $(1-ct)^{-\alpha}$ is the mgf of the gamma $G(\alpha, c)$ distribution with scale parameter cand shape paprameter α ;

2. e^{ct} is the mgf of the degenerate distribution localized at the point c.

Theorem 11 Conditional on the set S, the pdf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $1 \leq l \leq k$) is given by

$$f_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(x) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} g_{Y_{l'd}^{(1)}} + \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} g_{Y_{l'd}^{(2)}}, \qquad (4.2.22)$$

where $Y_{l'd}^{(1)} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r'} Y_{l'd,i}^{(1)} + Y_{l'r}$ with $Y_{l'd,i}^{(1)}$ being independent random variables having gamma $G(\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}, \beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)})$ distributions with scale parameters $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$ and shape parameters

 $\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}, Y_{l'r} \text{ being independent random variables having degenerate distribution localized} \\ &at the point \frac{T(n_l-M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_r(l)}, \text{ and } g_{Y_{l'd}^{(1)}}(x) \text{ is the pdf of } Y_{l'd}^{(1)}; Y_{l'd}^{(2)} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r''} Y_{l'd,i}^{(2)} + Y_{l'd} \\ &with Y_{l'd,i}^{(2)} \text{ being independent random variables having gamma } G(\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)}, \beta_{l,l'i}^{(2)}) \text{ distributions with scale parameters } \beta_{l,l'i}^{(2)} \text{ and shape parameters } \alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)}, Y_{l'd} \text{ being independent random variables having localized at the point } \frac{T(n_l-M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_d(l)}, \\ &and g_{Y_{l'd}^{(2)}}(x) \text{ is the pdf of } Y_{l'd}^{(2)}. \end{aligned}$

Corollary 5 From (4.2.15), we immediately obtain the expressions for the first two moments of $\hat{\theta}_l$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l}|S) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \sum_{j=d+1}^{r} \beta_{lj}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \right) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l}^{2}|S) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \sum_{j=d+1}^{r} \beta_{lj}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \right)^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \left(\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} \right)^{2} + \sum_{j=d+1}^{r} \left(\beta_{lj}^{*} \right)^{2} \right\} \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \right)^{2} + \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \left(\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} \right)^{2} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Then, $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ and $\operatorname{MSE}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ can be readily obtained from these two expressions.

It is convenient to rewrite the conditional mgf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) in Theorem 10 as

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-j'} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-j'} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}, \quad (4.2.23)$$

where $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}$'s are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}}$ in the partial fraction form $\sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=1}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-j'}$ and $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}$'s are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{j=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}}$ in the partial fraction form $\sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=1}^{\alpha_{l,l'jj}^{(2)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-j'}$, and the coefficients $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}$, $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}$ can be readily determined by the use of Lemma 5 in Appendix. Since $(1 - ct)^{-j}e^{At}$ is the mgf of the random variable X + A, where X has the gamma distribution with scale parameter c and shape parameter j, we readily obtain the tail probability of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) from the above expression as

$$P(\hat{\theta}_{l} > b|S) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} \\ \times \sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \frac{A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}}{j'!} \Gamma\left(j', \frac{1}{\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \langle b - \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \rangle\right) \\ + \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ \times \sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \frac{A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}}{j'!} \Gamma\left(j', \frac{1}{\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \langle b - \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \rangle\right), \qquad (4.2.24)$$

where $\langle x \rangle = \max\{x, 0\}$ and $\Gamma(a, z) = \int_{z}^{\infty} t^{a-1} e^{-t} dt$ is the upper incomplete gamma function.

We shall assume that $P(\hat{\theta}_l > b|S)$ is an increasing function of θ_l when all other θ_j 's are fixed for $j \neq l$. This assumption guarantees the invertibility of the piv-

otal quantities, and it has been verified to be true in this case through extensive computations under various setting. It should be mentioned that this approach has been used by a number of authors for constructing exact confidence intervals in a variety of contexts; see, for example, Childs et al. (2003) and Balakrishnan et al. (2007). We then have a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ lower confidence bound for θ_l as θ_{lL} , where θ_{lL} is such that $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = \alpha$ with $\hat{\theta}_{l,obs}$ being the observed value of θ_l . Also, a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_l is $(\theta_{lL}, \theta_{lU})$, where θ_{lL} and θ_{lU} are determined by $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = \frac{\alpha}{2}$ and $P_{\theta_{lU}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = 1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}$.

By performing the same steps as done in the case of conditional marginal mgf, we can derive the conditional joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ as follows.

Theorem 12 Conditional on the set S, the joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ is given by

$$\begin{aligned}
&M_{\hat{\theta}_{1},\hat{\theta}_{2},\cdots,\hat{\theta}_{k}|S}(t_{1},\cdots,t_{k}) \\
&= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} \\
&\times \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j\neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{1-\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l}\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \prod_{j=d+1}^{r} \frac{1}{1-\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l}\beta_{lj}^{*}} \exp\left\{\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l}T(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\} \\
&+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\
&\times \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j\neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{1-\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l}\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \exp\left\{\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l}T(n_{l}-M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\},
\end{aligned}$$
(4.2.25)

where $\varphi_{l'd}$ and $\psi_{l'd}$ are defined by (4.2.8) and (4.2.10), respectively; also for $1 \leq l \leq k$,

 $0 \le l' \le d$, and $0 \le j \le d$, $\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}$ and β_{lj}^* are as defined in (4.2.16) and (4.2.17).

Corollary 6 From (5.1.15), we obtain $E(\hat{\theta}_{l_1}\hat{\theta}_{l_2})$ to be

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l_{1}}\hat{\theta}_{l_{2}}) \\ &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\delta \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \varphi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left\{ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l_{1},l'j}^{(d)} + \sum_{j=d+1}^{r} \beta_{l_{1}j}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l_{1}))}{M_{r}(l_{1})} \right\} \right. \\ &\times \left\{ \left\{ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l_{2},l'j}^{(d)} + \sum_{j=d+1}^{r} \beta_{l_{2}j}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{2} - M_{d-l'}(l_{2}))}{M_{r}(l_{2})} \right\} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{N} \frac{1}{\left\{ P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d) \right\}^{2}} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\delta \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l_{1},l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l_{1}} - M_{d-l'}(l_{1}))}{M_{d}(l_{1})} \right) \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l_{2},l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l_{2}} - M_{d-l'}(l_{2}))}{M_{d}(l_{2})} \right) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \beta_{l_{1},l'j}^{(d)} \beta_{l_{2},l'j}^{(d)} \right\}. \end{split}$$

$$(4.2.26)$$

From the above corollary, the covariance and correlation coefficient between MLEs $\hat{\theta}_{l_1}$ and $\hat{\theta}_{l_2}$ can also be readily obtained.

4.3 Approximate Confidence Intervals

Let $I(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = (I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)), i, j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, denote the Fisher information matrix of the parameters $\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k$, where

$$I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k) = -E\left(\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_i \partial \theta_j}\right)$$
(4.3.1)

From the likelihood function in (4.2.4), we have $I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = 0$ if $i \neq j$. Consequently, we have

$$I(\hat{\theta}_{1}, \hat{\theta}_{2}, \cdots, \hat{\theta}_{k}) = -\text{Diag}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{1}=\hat{\theta}_{1}}, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{2}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{2}=\hat{\theta}_{2}}, \cdots, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{k}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{k}=\hat{\theta}_{k}}\right), \quad (4.3.2)$$

where, for $d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1$,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2}|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2\left\{\sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h))\right\}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3}$$
$$= -\frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2},$$

and for $d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N$,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2} \Big|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_d(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2\left\{\sum_{i=1}^d w_i \delta_i(h) + T(n_h - M_d(h))\right\}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3}$$
$$= -\frac{M_d(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2}.$$

Then, by using the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, we have $\hat{\theta}_h - \theta_h \sim N(0, I_{h,h}^{-1})$. With $\tilde{d} = \max\{d, r\}$, we can express the approximate $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\theta}_{h} \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\tilde{d}} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{\tilde{d}}(h))}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{3}{2}}} &= \hat{\theta}_{h} \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right), \\ & \text{when } d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1 \\\\ \hat{\theta}_{h} \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\tilde{d}} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + T(n_{h} - M_{\tilde{d}}(h))}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{3}{2}}} &= \hat{\theta}_{h} \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right), \\ & \text{when } d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N, \end{cases}$$

where $Z_{\alpha/2}$ denotes the upper $\alpha/2$ percentage point of the standard normal distribution.

4.4 Bayesian Intervals

Let

$$u_{h} = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{r} w_{i}\delta_{i}(h) + w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{r}(h)), & \text{when } d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{d} w_{i}\delta_{i}(h) + T(n_{h} - M_{d}(h)), & \text{when } d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N. \end{cases}$$

Then, we can rewrite the likelihood function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_{\tilde{d}}(h)} \exp(-\frac{u_h}{\theta_h})$$
(4.4.1)

Now, by assuming independent inverse gamma prior distributions, viz., $IG(a_h, b_h)$ for $1 \le h \le k$, we obtain from (5.3.1) the posterior joint density function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k | data) = c_{\tilde{d}} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h) - a_h - 1} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h + b_h}{\theta_h}\right).$$

Upon comparing this with (5.3.1), we see that the joint posterior density function of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)$ is a product of k independent inverse gamma density functions. So, given the data, the posterior density function of $\hat{\theta}_h$ is simply $IG(M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h, u_h + b_h)$. Thus, the Bayes estimator of θ_h under the squared-error loss function is Chapter 4.5 - Bootstrap Intervals

$$\hat{\theta}_{h,Bayes} = \frac{u_h + b_h}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h - 1}, \qquad h = 1, 2, \cdots, k.$$
(4.4.2)

When we use Jeffreys' non-informative prior $I(\theta_h) \propto \frac{1}{\theta_h^2}$ corresponding to the special case when $a_h = 1$ and $b_h = 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the Bayes estimators in (5.3.2) coincide with the MLEs in (4.2.3).

Let $U_h = \frac{2(u_h + b_h)}{\theta_h}$ for $1 \le h \le k$. Then, the pivot U_h follows $\chi^2_{2(M_r(h) + a_h)}$ distribution, provided $2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h)$ is a positive integer, for $1 \le h \le k$. In this case, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Bayes credible interval for θ_h becomes

$$\left(\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h)+a_h),1-\alpha/2}},\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h)+a_h),\alpha/2}}\right), \qquad h=1,2,\cdots,k.$$

where $\chi^2_{v,\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ is the lower $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ percentage point of the chi-square distribution with v degrees of freedom.

4.5 Bootstrap Intervals

In this section, we consider confidence interval for θ_h $(h = 1, 2, \dots, k)$ based on the Bootstrap-*p* and Bootstrap-*t* methods; see, for example, Efron and Tibshirani (1994).

To find the Bootstrap-p and Bootstrap-t intervals, in the first step, we generate original samples from k exponential populations with parameters θ_h of size n_h , $1 \leq$ $h \leq k$. Next we sort the data, and determine to which population each failure belongs, and then estimate θ_h using the conditional MLE in (4.2.3). In the second step, we generate a bootstrap sample $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \dots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r)$ by using the values $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$, and then obtain the bootstrap estimates of θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, say θ_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$, from the bootstrap sample. In the third step, we repeat the second step *N*-Boot times.

<u>Boot-p</u>: Suppose $K_{hB}(x) = P(\hat{\theta}_h^* \leq x), 1 \leq h \leq k$, is the cumulative distribution function of $\hat{\theta}_h^*$. Define $\hat{\theta}_{hB}(\alpha) = K_{hB}^{-1}(\alpha), 1 \leq h \leq k$, for a given α . Then, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Boot-p confidence interval for $\theta_h, 1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right),\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(1-\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

<u>Boot-t</u>: After generating the bootstrap samples in the second step and calculating $\hat{\theta}_h^*$, we need to use them to compute the estimate of $Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)$ from the observed Fisher information matrix in (5.2.2). Then, we determine the T_h^* statistic given by

$$T_h^* = \frac{\hat{\theta}_h^* - \hat{\theta}_h}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h^*)}}, \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$
(4.5.1)

Now, suppose $L_{hB}(x) = P(T_h^* \leq x)$ is the cumulative distribution function of T_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Then, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Boot-*t* confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\widehat{\operatorname{Var}}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}\right), \hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\widehat{\operatorname{Var}}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

4.6 Simulation Results and Discussion

A simulation study was carried out to evaluate the performance of the conditional MLEs discussed in the preceding sections. We considered sample sizes for the three populations as n = (6, 6, 6), and different choice for r and T. We also chose the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ to be (2, 4, 7) and (3, 5, 9). For these cases, we computed the conditional MLEs for the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ and the empirical values of their means, standard deviations, mean square errors and covariance matrices for different choices of r and T. The results of these obtained from 10,000 Monto Carlo simulations are presented in Tables 4.1-4.4. From the results presented in these tables, we observe that while the estimate of θ_1 is very stable even for small r and T, the estimate of θ_2 and θ_3 become stable only for larger values of r and T. This is to be expected since when θ_1 is smaller than θ_2 and θ_3 , when r and T are small, most of the failures observed would have resulted from the exponential populations with parameters θ_2 and θ_3 . This does get rectified when r and T are increased, as one would expect.

Table 4.1: The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

		Mean	\widehat{SD}	RMSE	
r	T	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	
6	2.5	(2.53, 5.09, 7.53)	(1.5698, 3.4305, 4.2068)	(1.6554, 3.5980, 4.2407)	
6	3.0	(2.43, 5.01, 7.64)	(1.4171, 3.4997, 4.6224)	(1.4811, 3.6439, 4.6660)	
6	3.5	(2.34, 4.90, 7.71)	(1.2956, 3.3444, 4.9020)	(1.3406, 3.4624, 4.9529)	
6	4.0	(2.32, 4.81, 7.78)	(1.1448, 3.2937, 5.1209)	(1.1880, 3.3926, 5.1806)	
6	4.5	(2.27, 4.73, 7.82)	(1.0764, 3.0720, 5.1843)	(1.1088, 3.1571, 5.2487)	
9	3.5	(2.20, 4.98, 8.47)	(1.1600, 3.5002, 5.5129)	(1.1766, 3.6342, 5.7046)	
9	4.5	(2.16, 4.82, 8.65)	(1.0674, 3.2816, 5.9640)	(1.0795, 3.3819, 6.1880)	
9	5.5	(2.12, 4.67, 8.42)	(0.9777, 2.9850, 5.9351)	(0.9852, 3.0595, 6.1029)	
9	6.5	(2.10, 4.51, 8.18)	(0.9500, 2.5552, 5.5583)	(0.9553, 2.6055, 5.6823)	
9	7.5	(2.08, 4.41, 7.97)	(0.9092, 2.4285, 5.2019)	(0.9128, 2.4628, 5.2910)	
12	4.5	(2.08, 4.43, 8.41)	(0.9536, 2.5099, 5.7856)	(0.9569, 2.5468, 5.9545)	
12	5.5	(2.06, 4.48, 8.49)	(0.9318, 2.4932, 5.9014)	(0.9340, 2.5399, 6.0866)	
12	6.5	(2.05, 4.44, 8.53)	(0.9187, 2.4467, 5.9894)	(0.9203, 2.4854, 6.1815)	
12	7.5	(2.03, 4.39, 8.37)	(0.8863, 2.3359, 5.9232)	(0.8869, 2.3681, 6.0799)	
12	8.5	(2.02, 4.27, 8.20)	(0.8759, 2.1185, 5.4961)	(0.8762, 2.1350, 5.6260)	
15	7.0	(2.01, 4.22, 7.60)	(0.8443, 1.9259, 3.7038)	(0.8443, 1.9380, 3.7525)	
15	9.0	(2.02, 4.14, 7.64)	(0.8533, 1.8750, 3.7717)	(0.8535, 1.8805, 3.8263)	
15	11.0	(2.01, 4.14, 7.62)	(0.8352, 1.8857, 3.8115)	(0.8352, 1.8909, 3.8619)	
15	13.0	(2.00, 4.11, 7.53)	(0.8270, 1.8359, 3.7921)	(0.8270, 1.8390, 3.8293)	
15	15.0	(2.02, 4.06, 7.52)	(0.8270, 1.7836, 3.7710)	(0.8272, 1.7848, 3.8067)	

Table 4.2: The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

		Mean	\widehat{SD}	\widehat{RMSE}	
r	T	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	
6	3.5	(3.82, 6.48, 9.86)	(2.5574, 4.5146, 5.7666)	(2.6850, 4.7496, 5.8307)	
6	4.5	(3.59, 6.26, 9.99)	(2.1984, 4.3946, 6.3885)	(2.2770, 4.5713, 6.4654)	
6	5.5	(3.49, 5.97, 10.20)	(1.9237, 3.9316, 6.7351)	(1.9861, 4.0500, 6.8407)	
6	6.5	(3.40, 5.79, 10.07)	(1.6890, 3.5709, 6.8513)	(1.7362, 3.6581, 6.9341)	
6	7.5	(3.33, 5.65, 9.93)	(1.5446, 3.3313, 6.7011)	(1.5785, 3.3947, 6.7657)	
9	7.0	(3.23, 5.74, 10.64)	(1.5819, 3.4843, 7.3324)	(1.5989, 3.5623, 7.5145)	
9	8.5	(3.18, 5.60, 10.56)	(1.4721, 3.1107, 7.2800)	(1.4826, 3.1672, 7.4445)	
9	10.0	(3.13, 5.46, 10.18)	(1.3925, 2.9112, 6.5140)	(1.3990, 2.9472, 6.6197)	
9	11.5	(3.11, 5.36, 9.89)	(1.3616, 2.6037, 5.9283)	(1.3657, 2.6286, 5.9953)	
9	13.0	(3.07, 5.30, 9.78)	(1.3082, 2.5403, 5.7143)	(1.3100, 2.5580, 5.7671)	
12	10.5	(3.07, 5.39, 10.63)	(1.3505, 2.7520, 7.2666)	(1.3525, 2.7801, 7.4472)	
12	12.0	(3.05, 5.30, 10.37)	(1.3111, 2.6630, 6.7338)	(1.3122, 2.6796, 6.8710)	
12	13.5	(3.02, 5.19, 10.07)	(1.2897, 2.4252, 6.1649)	(1.2898, 2.4325, 6.2575)	
12	15.0	(3.01, 5.21, 9.94)	(1.2587, 2.4328, 5.8890)	(1.2588, 2.4418, 5.9638)	
12	16.5	(3.00, 5.15, 9.80)	(1.2508, 2.3231, 5.2514)	(1.2508, 2.3281, 5.3114)	
15	15.5	(3.02, 5.15, 9.92)	(1.2544, 2.3242, 4.9150)	(1.2546, 2.3290, 5.0004)	
15	18.0	(3.00, 5.12, 9.65)	(1.2514, 2.2585, 4.6868)	(1.2514, 2.2619, 4.7318)	
15	20.5	(3.02, 5.06, 9.56)	(1.2336, 2.1882, 4.6098)	(1.2337, 2.1891, 4.6442)	
15	23.0	(3.00, 5.00, 9.44)	(1.2327, 2.1518, 4.4514)	(1.2327, 2.1518, 4.4736)	
15	25.5	(3.01, 5.01, 9.37)	(1.2450, 2.1120, 4.3390)	(1.2450, 2.1120, 4.3544)	

Table	4.3: Th	ne average	values o	f the	estimates	of th	e covarianc	e matrix	of the	condi-
tional	MLEs	when $\theta =$	(2, 4, 7)	and n	= (6, 6, 6)) for	different ch	oices of	r and 2	Γ.

		$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$		
r	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$		
		(2.464 - 0.018 0.283)		(6.540 - 0.202 0.590)		
6	2.5	-0.018 11.768 1.152	3.0	-0.202 20.382 2.230		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.283 & 1.152 & 17.698 \end{array} \right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.590 & 2.230 & 33.254 \end{array} \right)$		
		$(2.008 \ 0.056 \ 0.288)$		$(4.833 \ 0.267 \ 0.998)$		
6	3.0	$0.056 \ 12.248 \ 1.522$	4.0	0.267 19.312 2.196		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.288 & 1.522 & 21.367 \end{array} \right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.998 & 2.196 & 40.813 \end{array} \right)$		
		$(1.678 \ 0.121 \ 0.500)$		$(3.701 \ 0.179 \ 0.593)$		
6	3.5	$0.121 \ 11.185 \ 1.088$	5.0	0.179 15.458 1.961		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.500 & 1.088 & 24.030 \end{array} \right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.593 & 1.961 & 45.362 \end{array} \right)$		
		$(1.311 \ 0.229 \ 0.352)$		2.853 0.260 0.562		
6	4.0	$0.229 \ 10.848 \ 1.199$	6.0	$0.260 \ 12.751 \ 2.014$		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.352 & 1.199 & 26.224 \end{array} \right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.562 & 2.014 & 46.940 \end{array} \right)$		
		$(1.159 \ 0.135 \ 0.229 \)$		$(2.386 \ 0.217 \ 0.274)$		
6	4.5	0.135 9.437 0.823	7.0	$0.217 \ 11.098 \ 1.143$		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.229 & 0.823 & 26.877 \end{array} \right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.274 & 1.143 & 44.905 \end{array} \right)$		
		(1.345 - 0.227 - 0.094)		(2.502 - 0.087 0.220)		
9	3.5	-0.227 12.251 -0.396	6.5	-0.087 12.140 0.915		
		(-0.094 - 0.396 30.392)		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.220 & 0.915 & 53.765 \end{array} \right)$		
		(1.139 - 0.105 0.147)		$(2.167 \ 0.013 \ 0.236)$		
9	4.5	-0.105 10.769 0.436	8.0	$0.013 \ 9.677 \ 1.046$		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.147 & 0.436 & 35.570 \end{array} \right)$		0.236 1.046 52.999		
		$(0.956 - 0.012 \ 0.224)$		(1.939 - 0.002 0.189)		
9	5.5	-0.012 8.911 0.715	9.5	-0.002 8.475 0.415		
		0.224 0.715 35.225		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.189 & 0.415 & 42.432 \end{array} \right)$		
		(0.903 - 0.029 0.117)		(1.854 - 0.073 0.098)		
9	6.5	-0.029 6.529 0.578	11.0	-0.073 6.779 0.531		
		0.117 0.578 30.895		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.098 & 0.531 & 35.144 \end{array} \right)$		
		(0.827 - 0.067 0.125)		(1.711 - 0.009 0.338)		
9	7.5	-0.067 5.897 0.498	12.5	-0.009 6.453 0.596		
		0.125 0.498 27.060		0.338 0.596 32.653		

		$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$		
r	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$		
		(0.909 - 0.088 - 0.303)		(1.824 0.006 0.103)		
12	4.5	-0.088 6.300 -1.443	10.0	$0.006 \ 7.574 \ 0.142$		
		(-0.303 - 1.443 33.474)		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.103 & 0.142 & 52.803 \end{array} \right)$		
		(0.868 - 0.054 - 0.063)		1.719 0.011 0.058		
12	5.5	-0.054 6.216 -1.302	11.5	0.011 7.092 0.084		
		(-0.063 - 1.302 34.827)		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.058 & 0.084 & 45.344 \end{array} \right)$		
		(0.844 - 0.046 - 0.097)		$(1.663 \ 0.055 \ 0.048)$		
12	6.5	-0.046 5.986 -0.773	13.0	0.055 5.881 0.023		
		$(-0.097 \ -0.773 \ 35.873)$		0.048 0.023 38.006		
		(0.786 - 0.004 0.065)		$(1.584 - 0.043 \ 0.064)$		
12	7.5	-0.004 5.456 -0.425	14.5	-0.043 5.919 0.188		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.065 & -0.425 & 35.085 \end{array} \right)$		$(0.064 \ 0.188 \ 34.681)$		
		(0.767 - 0.029 0.008)		$(1.564 \ 0.019 \ 0.075)$		
12	8.5	-0.029 4.488 -0.067	16.0	$0.019 \ 5.397 \ 0.290$		
		(0.008 - 0.067 30.208)		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.075 & 0.290 & 27.577 \end{array} \right)$		
		(0.713 - 0.017 - 0.066)		(1.573 - 0.009 - 0.109)		
15	7.0	-0.017 3.709 -0.368	15.0	-0.009 5.402 -0.389		
		(-0.066 - 0.368 13.718)		(-0.109 - 0.389 24.157)		
		(0.728 - 0.029 - 0.025)		(1.566 - 0.056 - 0.020)		
15	9.0	-0.029 3.516 -0.376	17.5	-0.056 5.101 -0.033		
		$(-0.025 - 0.376 \ 14.226)$		(-0.020 - 0.033 21.966)		
		(0.698 - 0.011 - 0.023)		(1.522 - 0.068 - 0.014)		
15	11.0	-0.011 3.556 -0.148	20.0	-0.068 4.788 -0.045		
		(-0.023 - 0.148 14.528)		$\left(-0.014 -0.045 21.250 \right)$		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.684 & 0.020 & -0.042 \end{array} \right)$		$(1.519 \ 0.007 \ 0.095)$		
15	13.0	0.020 3.370 0.002	22.5	0.007 4.630 -0.082		
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} -0.042 & 0.002 & 14.380 \end{array} \right)$		0.095 - 0.082 19.815		
		$(0.684 \ 0.015 \ 0.026)$		(1.550 - 0.030 - 0.006)		
15	15.0	0.015 3.181 -0.048	25.0	-0.030 4.460 -0.048		
		0.026 - 0.048 14.221		$ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$		

Table 4.4: The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the conditional MLEs when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

Chapter 5

Inference Under Joint Type-I Hybrid Censoring

5.1 MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

In this section, we drive analogous results for Type-I HCS, wherein the experiment is terminated at the random time $T^* = \min\{W_r, T\}$. As in section 4.2, let D be the number of observed failures up to time T.

Suppose $X_{11}, X_{12}, \dots, X_{1n_1}$ are the lifetimes of n_1 specimens from line A_1 , and assumed to be independent and identically distributed (iid) variables from a population with cumulative distribution function (cdf) $F_1(x)$ and probability density function (pdf) $f_1(x)$. Similarly, $X_{21}, X_{22}, \dots, X_{2n_2}$ are the lifetimes of n_2 specimens from line A_2 and assumed to be a sample from pdf $f_2(x)$ and cdf $F_2(x)$, and so on, with $X_{k1}, X_{k2}, \dots, X_{kn_k}$ denoting the lifetimes of n_k specimens from line A_k being iid variables from pdf $f_k(x)$ and cdf $F_k(x)$.

Furthermore, let $N = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$ denote the total sample size and r denote the total number of failures observed. Let $w_1 \leq w_2 \leq \cdots \leq w_N$ denote the order statistics of the N random variables $\{X_{ij}; 1 \leq i \leq k, 1 \leq j \leq n_i\}$.

Therefore, under the joint hybrid Type-II censoring scheme for the k-samples, the observable data consist of $(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W})$, where $\mathbf{W} = (w_1, w_2, \cdots, w_r), w_i \in \{X_{h_i 1}, X_{h_i 2}, \cdots, X_{h_i n_i}\}$ for $1 \leq h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r \leq k$, with r being a pre-fixed integer. Finally, associated to (h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_r) , let us define $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1(h), \delta_2(h), \cdots, \delta_r(h))$ as

Therefore, under the joint Type-I hybrid censoring scheme described above, the observable data consist of (δ, \mathbf{W}) of the following form:

$$(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = \begin{cases} (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_D; W_1, W_2, \cdots, W_D), & T < W_r \text{ with } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r - 1, \\ (\delta_1, \delta_2, \cdots, \delta_r; W_1, W_2, \cdots, W_r), & T > W_r \text{ with } D = r, r + 1, \cdots, N, \end{cases}$$

Then, under the Type-I HCS, the likelihood of (δ, \mathbf{W}) is given by

$$= \begin{cases} L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) \\ c_D \prod_{i=1}^{D} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (S_h(T))^{n_h - M_D(h)}, & T < W_r, \\ c_r \prod_{i=1}^{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (f_h(w_i))^{\delta_i(h)} \prod_{h=1}^{k} (S_h(w_r))^{n_h - M_r(h)}, & T > W_r, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.1)

where $S_h(w_r) = 1 - F_h(w_r)$, $S_h(T) = 1 - F_h(T)$ and $c_r = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$, and $c_D = \frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_r(h))!}$

Chapter 5.1 - MLEs, Exact Distributions and Inference

 $\frac{\prod_{h=1}^k n_h!}{\prod_{h=1}^k (n_h - M_D(h))!}.$

When the k populations are exponential with cdf $F_h(x) = 1 - \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}), x > 0$, and pdf $f_h(x) = \frac{1}{\theta_h} \exp(-\frac{x}{\theta_h}), x > 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the likelihood function in (5.1.1) simplifies as follows:

For $T < W_r$, $(D \le r - 1)$, the likelihood of (δ, \mathbf{W}) is given by

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_D \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k M_D(h) \log \theta_h - \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{1}{\theta_h} \left(\sum_{i=1}^D w_i \delta_i(h) - T(n_h - M_D(h))\right)\right\};$$
(5.1.2)

For $T > W_r$, $(D \ge r)$, the likelihood of (δ, \mathbf{W}) is given by

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{W}) = c_r \exp\left\{-\sum_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \log \theta_h - \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{1}{\theta_h} \left(\sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) - w_r(n_h - M_r(h))\right)\right\}.$$
(5.1.3)

Thus, under the Type-I HCS, for $1 \le h \le k$, the MLE of θ_h is given by

$$\hat{\theta}_{h} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{M_{D}(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{D} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + T(n_{h} - M_{D}(h)) \right\} & \text{when } D = 0, 1, \cdots, r - 1, \\ \frac{1}{M_{r}(h)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{r}(h)) \right\} & \text{when } D = r, r + 1, \cdots, N. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.4)

Theorem 13 The joint probability mass function of δ under the Type-I HCS is as follows:

(a) For $T < W_r \ (d \le r - 1)$,

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) = \frac{c_d}{P(D = d)} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d \psi_{l'd},$$
 (5.1.5)

where, for $0 \leq l' \leq d$, $\psi_{l'd}$ determined by (4.2.10).

(b) For $T \geq W_r$ $(d \geq r)$,

$$P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} | D = d) = \frac{c_r}{P(D = d)} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^r \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r},$$
(5.1.6)

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} &= c_{l'}^{(r)} \exp\left\{-T \sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{r-l'}(h)}{\theta_h}\right\}, \ 0 \le l' \le r; \end{split} (5.1.7) \\ c_0^{(r)} &= \prod_{j=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{j-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}, \\ c_{l'}^{(r)} &= \frac{-1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{n_h - M_{r-l'}(h)}{\theta_h}} \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \ne l'}}^{r} \frac{1}{\sum_{h=1}^{k} \frac{(M_{r-l'}(h) - M_{r-j}(h))}{\theta_h}}, 1 \le l' \le r. \end{split}$$

(c) For $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$, such that $\sum_{j=1}^k t_j = d$ and $t_j \ge 1$ for all j, let $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ be as defined in (4.1.1), $M_d(h) = \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_i(h)$, and

$$Q_d^*(\mathbf{t}) = \left\{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}(\mathbf{h}) = (\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \cdots, \tilde{\delta}_r); \text{ such that } M_d(h) = t_h \text{ for } 1 \le h \le k \right\}.$$

Then,

$$P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}) = \sum_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \in Q_d^*(\mathbf{t})} P(\boldsymbol{\delta} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}});$$
(5.1.8)

(d) Let \mathbf{T}_d be the set as defined in Lemma 3, Then,

$$P(S|D = d) = \begin{cases} \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_d} P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t}) & \text{if } d \le r - 1, \\ \sum_{\mathbf{t}\in\mathbf{T}_r} P(\mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{t}) & \text{if } d \ge r. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.9)

As we can see, for some \mathbf{t} , the probability $P(\mathbf{M}_d = \mathbf{t}) = 0$, when $\mathbf{t} = (t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_k)$ does not belong to T_d .

Theorem 14 Conditional on the S, the mgf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ $(1 \le l \le k)$ is given by

$$\begin{split} M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT\left(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l)\right)}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}. \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ &\times \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,r-l'+1}^{*}} \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{r} \frac{1}{1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(r)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT\left(n_{l} - M_{r-l'}(l)\right)}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}, \end{split}$$
(5.1.10)

where $\psi_{l'd}$ and $\tilde{\varphi}_{l'r}$ are as defined in (4.2.10) and (5.1.8), for $1 \leq l \leq k$ and $0 \leq l' \leq d$, $0 \leq j \leq d, \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}$ determined by (4.2.16), β_{lj}^* determined by (4.2.17). **Remark 12** For fixed l, l' and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\delta}}$, some $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(d)}$'s and β_{li}^* 's may be the same. In this case, for d < r, we resort the $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(d)}$ values and denote them by $\{\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}\}_{i=1}^{r'}$, and assume that there are r' distinct values with $\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$ of the $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$'s being equal, with $\sum_{i=1}^{r'} \alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)} = d$. Consequently, the term $\prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{d} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}\right)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}}$; For $d \ge$ r, similarly, $\prod_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq l'}}^{r} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(r)}\right)^{-1} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,r-l'+1}^*\right)^{-1}$ can be rewritten as $\prod_{j=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}}$ with $\sum_{i=1}^{r''} \alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)} = r+1$, and thus, the conditional mgf in Theorem 10 can be expressed as follows:

 $M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd}$ $\times \prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}$ $+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r}$ $\times \prod_{i=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{r-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}$ (5.1.11)

Theorem 15 Conditional on the set S, the pdf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $1 \leq l \leq k$) is given by

$$f_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(x) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} h_{Y_{l'd}^{(1)}} \\ + \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \\ \times \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} g_{Y_{l'r}}^{(2)}, \qquad (5.1.12)$$

where $Y_{l'd}^{(1)} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r'} Y_{l'd,i}^{(1)} + Y_{l'r}$ with $Y_{l'd,i}^{(1)}$ being independent random variables having gamma $G(\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}, \beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)})$ distributions with scale parameters $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(1)}$ and shape parameters $\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(1)}, Y_{l'r}$ being independent random variables having degenerate distribution localized at the point $\frac{T(n_l - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_r(l)}$, and $g_{Y_{l'd}^{(1)}}(x)$ is the pdf of $Y_{l'd}^{(1)}$; $Y_{l'r}^{(2)} \stackrel{d}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r''} Y_{l'd,i}^{(2)} + Y_{l'd}$ with $Y_{l'd,i}^{(2)}$ being independent random variables having gamma $G(\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)}, \beta_{l,l'i}^{(2)})$ distributions with scale parameters $\beta_{l,l'i}^{(2)}$ and shape parameters $\alpha_{l,l'i}^{(2)}, Y_{l'd}$ being independent random variables having degenerate distribution localized at the point $\frac{T(n_l - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_d(l)}$, and $g_{Y_{l'd}^{(2)}}(x)$ is the pdf of $Y_{l'd}^{(2)}$.

Corollary 7 From (4.2.15), we immediately obtain the expressions for the first two moments of $\hat{\theta}_l$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l}) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{r} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(r)} + \beta_{l,r-l'+1}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \right) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l}^{2}) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \right)^{2} + \sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{d} \left(\beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)} \right)^{2} \right\} \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^{r} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(r)} + \beta_{l,r-l'+1}^{*} + \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \right)^{2} \right\} \end{split}$$

Then, $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ and $\operatorname{MSE}(\hat{\theta}_l)$ can be readily obtained from these two expressions.

It is convenient to rewrite the conditional mgf of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) in Theorem 10 as

$$M_{\hat{\theta}_{l}|S}(t) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\delta \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-j'} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\delta \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-j'} \exp\left\{\frac{tT(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\}, \quad (5.1.13)$$

where $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}$'s are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{j=1}^{r'} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}}$ in the partial fraction form $\sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=1}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}\right)^{-j'}$ and $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}$'s are coefficients obtained by writing the product $\prod_{j=1}^{r''} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}}$ in the partial fraction form $\sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=1}^{\alpha_{l,l'jj}^{(2)}} A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)} \left(1 - t\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}\right)^{-j'}$, and the coefficients $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}$, $A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}$ can be readily determined by the use of Lemma 5 in Appendix. Since $(1 - ct)^{-j}e^{At}$ is the mgf of the random variable X + A, where X has the gamma distribution with scale parameter c and shape parameter j, we readily obtain the tail probability of $\hat{\theta}_l$ (for $l = 1, 2, \dots, k$) from the above expression as

$$P(\hat{\theta}_{l} > b|S) = \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ \times \sum_{j=1}^{r'} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \frac{A_{l,l'jj'}^{(1)}}{j'!} \Gamma\left(j', \frac{1}{\beta_{l,l'j}^{(1)}} \langle b - \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)} \rangle\right) \\ + \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ \times \sum_{j=1}^{r''} \sum_{j'=0}^{\alpha_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \frac{A_{l,l'jj'}^{(2)}}{j'!} \Gamma\left(j', \frac{1}{\beta_{l,l'j}^{(2)}} \langle b - \frac{T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)} \rangle\right), \qquad (5.1.14)$$

where $\langle x \rangle = \max\{x, 0\}$ and $\Gamma(a, z) = \int_{z}^{\infty} t^{a-1} e^{-t} dt$ is the upper incomplete gamma function.

We shall assume that $P(\hat{\theta}_l > b|S)$ is an increasing function of θ_l when all other θ_j 's are fixed for $j \neq l$. This assumption guarantees the invertibility of the piv-

otal quantities, and it has been verified to be true in this case through extensive computations under various setting. It should be mentioned that this approach has been used by a number of authors for constructing exact confidence intervals in a variety of contexts; see, for example, Childs et al. (2003) and Balakrishnan et al. (2007). We then have a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ lower confidence bound for θ_l as θ_{lL} , where θ_{lL} is such that $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = \alpha$ with $\hat{\theta}_{l,obs}$ being the observed value of θ_l . Also, a $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_l is $(\theta_{lL}, \theta_{lU})$, where θ_{lL} and θ_{lU} are determined by $P_{\theta_{lL}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = \frac{\alpha}{2}$ and $P_{\theta_{lU}}(\hat{\theta}_l > \hat{\theta}_{l,obs}|S) = 1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}$.

By performing the same steps as done in the case of conditional marginal mgf, we can derive the conditional joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ as follows.

Theorem 16 Conditional on the set S, the joint mgf of $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$ is given by

$$\begin{split} &M_{\hat{\theta}_{1},\hat{\theta}_{2},\cdots,\hat{\theta}_{k}|S}(t_{1},\cdots,t_{k}) \\ &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{r}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{d}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{d}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{d} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{d}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{d} \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{d} \frac{1}{1 - \sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}} \exp\left\{\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l} T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{d}(l)}\right\} \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^{N} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^{k} M_{d}(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_{r}} \sum_{\tilde{\delta} \in Q_{r}^{*}(\mathbf{t})} c_{r} \prod_{h=1}^{k} \theta_{h}^{-M_{r}(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^{r} \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ &\times \frac{1}{1 - \sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l} \beta_{lj}^{*}} \prod_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^{r} \frac{1}{1 - \sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l} \beta_{l,l'j}^{(r)}} \exp\left\{\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{k} t_{l} T(n_{l} - M_{d-l'}(l))}{M_{r}(l)}\right\}, \end{split}$$
(5.1.15)

where $\psi_{l'd}$ and $\tilde{\varphi}_{l'r}$ are as defined in (4.2.10) and (5.1.8), for $1 \leq l \leq k$ and $0 \leq l' \leq d$, $0 \leq j \leq d, \beta_{l,l'j}^{(d)}$ determined by (4.2.16), β_{lj}^* determined by (4.2.17).

Corollary 8 From (5.1.15), we obtain $E(\hat{\theta}_{l_1}\hat{\theta}_{l_2})$ to be

$$\begin{split} E(\hat{\theta}_{l_1}\hat{\theta}_{l_2}) &= \sum_{d=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_r(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_d} \sum_{\delta \in Q_d^*(\mathbf{t})} c_d \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_d(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^d \psi_{l'd} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^d \beta_{l_1, l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l_1} - M_{d-l'}(l_1))}{M_d(l_1)} \right) \right) \\ &\times \left(\sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^d \beta_{l_2, l'j}^{(d)} + \frac{T(n_{l_2} - M_{d-l'}(l_2))}{M_d(l_2)} \right) + \sum_{j=0; j \neq l'}^d \beta_{l_1, l'j}^{(d)} \beta_{l_2, l'j}^{(d)} \right\} \\ &+ \sum_{d=r}^N \frac{1}{P(\prod_{h=1}^k M_d(h) \neq 0 | D = d)} \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{T}_r} \sum_{\delta \in Q_r^*(\mathbf{t})} c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h)} \sum_{l'=0}^r \tilde{\varphi}_{l'r} \\ &\times \left\{ \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^r \beta_{l_1, l'j}^{(r)} + \beta_{l_1, r-l'+1}^* + \frac{T(n_{l_1} - M_{d-l'}(l_1))}{M_r(l_1)} \right) \right. \\ &\times \left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^r \beta_{l_2, l'j}^{(r)} + \beta_{l_2, r-l'+1}^* + \frac{T(n_{l_2} - M_{d-l'}(l_2))}{M_r(l_2)} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq l'}}^r \beta_{l_1, l'j}^{(r)} \beta_{l_2, l'j}^{(r)} + \beta_{l_1, r-l'+1}^* \beta_{l_2, r-l'+1}^* \right\}. \end{split}$$
(5.1.16)

From the above corollary, the covariance and correlation coefficient between MLEs $\hat{\theta}_{l_1}$ and $\hat{\theta}_{l_2}$ can also be readily obtained.

5.2 Approximate Confidence Intervals

Let $I(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = (I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)), i, j = 1, 2, \dots, k$, denote the Fisher information matrix of the parameters $\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k$, where

$$I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k) = -E\left(\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_i \partial \theta_j}\right)$$
(5.2.1)

From the likelihood function in (4.2.4), we have $I_{i,j}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k) = 0$ if $i \neq j$. Consequently, we have

$$I(\hat{\theta}_{1}, \hat{\theta}_{2}, \cdots, \hat{\theta}_{k}) = -\text{Diag}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{1}=\hat{\theta}_{1}}, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{2}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{2}=\hat{\theta}_{2}}, \cdots, \frac{\partial^{2}\ln L}{\partial\theta_{k}^{2}}\Big|_{\theta_{k}=\hat{\theta}_{k}}\right), \quad (5.2.2)$$

where, for $d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1$,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2}|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_d(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2\left\{\sum_{i=1}^d w_i \delta_i(h) + T(n_h - M_d(h))\right\}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3} \\ = -\frac{M_d(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2},$$

and for $d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N$,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \ln L}{\partial \theta_h^2} \Big|_{\theta_h = \hat{\theta}_h} = \frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2} - \frac{2\left\{\sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h))\right\}}{\hat{\theta}_h^3}$$
$$= -\frac{M_r(h)}{\hat{\theta}_h^2}.$$

Then, by using the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, we have $\hat{\theta}_h - \theta_h \sim N(0, I_{h,h}^{-1})$. With $\tilde{d} = \min\{d, r\}$, we can express the approximate $100(1-\alpha)\%$ confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \le h \le k$, as

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\theta}_{h} \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\tilde{d}} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + T(n_{h} - M_{\tilde{d}}(h))}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{3}{2}}} &= \hat{\theta}_{h} \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right), \\ & \text{when } d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1 \\ \hat{\theta}_{h} \pm Z_{\alpha/2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{\tilde{d}} w_{i} \delta_{i}(h) + w_{r}(n_{h} - M_{\tilde{d}}(h))}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{3}{2}}} &= \hat{\theta}_{h} \left(1 \pm \frac{Z_{\alpha/2}}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h)^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right), \\ & \text{when } d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N, \end{cases}$$

where $Z_{\alpha/2}$ denotes the upper $\alpha/2$ percentage point of the standard normal distribution. Chapter 5.3 - Bayesian Intervals

5.3 Bayesian Intervals

Let

$$u_h = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^d w_i \delta_i(h) + T(n_h - M_d(h)), & \text{when } d = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, r - 1, \\ \sum_{i=1}^r w_i \delta_i(h) + w_r(n_h - M_r(h)), & \text{when } d = r, r + 1, \cdots, N. \end{cases}$$

Then, we can rewrite the likelihood function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k, \boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{w}) = c_r \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_{\tilde{d}}(h)} \exp(-\frac{u_h}{\theta_h})$$
(5.3.1)

Now, by assuming independent inverse gamma prior distributions, viz., $IG(a_h, b_h)$ for $1 \le h \le k$, we obtain from (5.3.1) the posterior joint density function as

$$L(\theta_1, \theta_2, \cdots, \theta_k | data) = c_{\tilde{d}} \prod_{h=1}^k \theta_h^{-M_r(h) - a_h - 1} \exp\left(-\frac{u_h + b_h}{\theta_h}\right).$$

Upon comparing this with (5.3.1), we see that the joint posterior density function of $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_k)$ is a product of k independent inverse gamma density functions. So, given the data, the posterior density function of $\hat{\theta}_h$ is simply $IG(M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h, u_h + b_h)$. Thus, the Bayes estimator of θ_h under the squared-error loss function is Chapter 5.4 - Bootstrap Intervals

$$\hat{\theta}_{h,Bayes} = \frac{u_h + b_h}{M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h - 1}, \qquad h = 1, 2, \cdots, k.$$
(5.3.2)

When we use Jeffreys' non-informative prior $I(\theta_h) \propto \frac{1}{\theta_h^2}$ corresponding to the special case when $a_h = 1$ and $b_h = 0$, for $1 \le h \le k$, the Bayes estimators in (5.3.2) coincide with the MLEs in (4.2.3).

Let $U_h = \frac{2(u_h + b_h)}{\theta_h}$ for $1 \le h \le k$. Then, the pivot U_h follows $\chi^2_{2(M_r(h) + a_h)}$ distribution, provided $2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h) + a_h)$ is a positive integer, for $1 \le h \le k$. In this case, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Bayes credible interval for θ_h becomes

$$\left(\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h)+a_h),1-\alpha/2}},\frac{2(u_h+b_h)}{\chi^2_{2(M_{\tilde{d}}(h)+a_h),\alpha/2}}\right), \qquad h=1,2,\cdots,k,$$

where $\chi^2_{v,\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ is the lower $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ percentage point of the chi-square distribution with v degrees of freedom.

5.4 Bootstrap Intervals

In this section, we consider confidence interval for θ_h $(h = 1, 2, \dots, k)$ based on the Bootstrap-*p* and Bootstrap-*t* methods; see, for example, Efron and Tibshirani (1994).

To find the Bootstrap-p and Bootstrap-t intervals, in the first step, we generate original samples from k exponential populations with parameters θ_h of size n_h , $1 \leq$ $h \leq k$. Next we sort the data, and determine to which population each failure belongs, and then estimate θ_h using the conditional MLE in (4.2.3). In the second step, we generate a bootstrap sample $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \dots, \delta_r; w_1, w_2, \dots, w_r)$ by using the values $(\hat{\theta}_1, \hat{\theta}_2, \dots, \hat{\theta}_k)$, and then obtain the bootstrap estimates of θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, say θ_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$, from the bootstrap sample. In the third step, we repeat the second step *N*-Boot times.

<u>Boot-p</u>: Suppose $K_{hB}(x) = P(\hat{\theta}_h^* \leq x), 1 \leq h \leq k$, is the cumulative distribution function of $\hat{\theta}_h^*$. Define $\hat{\theta}_{hB}(\alpha) = K_{hB}^{-1}(\alpha), 1 \leq h \leq k$, for a given α . Then, the $100(1-\alpha)\%$ Boot-p confidence interval for $\theta_h, 1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right),\hat{\theta}_{hB}\left(1-\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

<u>Boot-t</u>: After generating the bootstrap samples in the second step and calculating $\hat{\theta}_h^*$, we need to use them to compute the estimate of $Var(\hat{\theta}_h^*)$ from the observed Fisher information matrix in (5.2.2). Then, we determine the T_h^* statistic given by

$$T_h^* = \frac{\hat{\theta}_h^* - \hat{\theta}_h}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\theta}_h^*)}}, \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$
(5.4.1)

Now, suppose $L_{hB}(x) = P(T_h^* \leq x)$ is the cumulative distribution function of T_h^* , $1 \leq h \leq k$. Then, the $100(1 - \alpha)\%$ Boot-*t* confidence interval for θ_h , $1 \leq h \leq k$, is given by

$$\left(\hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\widehat{\operatorname{Var}}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}\right), \hat{\theta}_h - \sqrt{\widehat{\operatorname{Var}}(\hat{\theta}_h)}L_{hB}^{-1}\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)\right), \qquad 1 \le h \le k.$$

5.5 Simulation Results and Discussion

A simulation study was carried out to evaluate the performance of the conditional MLEs discussed in the preceding sections. We considered sample sizes for the three populations as n = (6, 6, 6), and different choice for r and T. We also chose the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ to be (2, 4, 7) and (3, 5, 9). For these cases, we computed the conditional MLEs for the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ and the empirical values of their means, standard deviations, mean square errors and covariance matrices for different choices of r and T. The results of these obtained from 10,000 Monto Carlo simulations are presented in Tables 5.1-5.4. From the results presented in these tables, we observe that while the estimate of θ_1 is very stable even for small r and T, the estimate of θ_2 and θ_3 become stable only for larger values of r and T. This is to be expected since when θ_1 is smaller than θ_2 and θ_3 , when r and T are small, most of the failures observed would have resulted from the exponential populations with parameters θ_2 and θ_3 . This does get rectified when r and T are increased, as one would expect.

Table 5.1: The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

		Mean	\widehat{SD}	\widehat{RMSE}	
r	T	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	
6	2.5	(2.64, 4.85, 6.02)	(1.8448, 3.1517, 3.2607)	(1.9524, 3.2639, 3.4057)	
6	3.0	(2.64, 4.86, 6.03)	(1.8575, 3.1810, 3.3663)	(1.9656, 3.2945, 3.5039)	
6	3.5	(2.60, 4.90, 6.08)	(1.8095, 3.2342, 3.3920)	(1.9057, 3.3581, 3.5153)	
6	4.0	(2.62, 4.92, 6.08)	(1.7921, 3.2811, 3.4768)	(1.8968, 3.4078, 3.5968)	
6	4.5	(2.65, 4.90, 6.13)	(1.8234, 3.2431, 3.4588)	(1.9343, 3.3650, 3.5673)	
9	3.5	(2.23, 5.10, 8.00)	(1.3573, 3.8210, 5.0298)	(1.3775, 3.9772, 5.1282)	
9	4.5	(2.25, 4.97, 8.18)	(1.2793, 3.6423, 5.3800)	(1.3025, 3.7687, 5.5075)	
9	5.5	(2.24, 5.07, 8.15)	(1.2429, 3.7526, 5.5242)	(1.2650, 3.9022, 5.6432)	
9	6.5	(2.25, 5.04, 8.12)	(1.3006, 3.7318, 5.4163)	(1.3240, 3.8743, 5.5306)	
9	7.5	(2.22, 5.00, 8.13)	(1.2211, 3.6687, 5.4763)	(1.2414, 3.8035, 5.5910)	
12	4.5	(2.11, 4.66, 8.74)	(1.0505, 3.3205, 6.3170)	(1.0567, 3.3860, 6.5516)	
12	5.5	(2.10, 4.57, 8.65)	(0.9916, 2.9646, 6.4824)	(0.9965, 3.0197, 6.6886)	
12	6.5	(2.10, 4.50, 8.67)	(1.0110, 2.7102, 6.5214)	(1.0159, 2.7552, 6.7313)	
12	7.5	(2.09, 4.52, 8.63)	(0.9705, 2.8129, 6.5465)	(0.9744, 2.8606, 6.7456)	
12	8.5	(2.09, 4.42, 8.64)	(0.9915, 2.6112, 6.5933)	(0.9957, 2.6442, 6.7942)	
15	7.0	(2.03, 4.40, 8.52)	(0.8845, 2.4737, 6.3454)	(0.8852, 2.5052, 6.5238)	
15	9.0	(2.04, 4.21, 8.00)	(0.8814, 2.0746, 5.4620)	(0.8822, 2.0856, 5.5524)	
15	11.0	(2.03, 4.19, 7.68)	(0.8727, 2.0325, 4.6932)	(0.8733, 2.0417, 4.7426)	
15	13.0	(2.03, 4.20, 7.58)	(0.8661, 1.9593, 4.4530)	(0.8665, 1.9692, 4.4904)	
15	15.0	(2.05, 4.17, 7.59)	(0.8864, 1.9444, 4.2571)	(0.8878, 1.9522, 4.2982)	
Table 5.2: The average values of the conditional MLEs and the estimates of their standard deviations and mean square errors when $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

		Mean	\widehat{SD}	RMSE
r	T	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$	$(\hat{ heta}_1,\hat{ heta}_2,\hat{ heta}_3)$
6	3.5	(3.96, 6.27, 8.10)	(2.8759, 4.1993, 4.5740)	(3.0328, 4.3866, 4.6615)
6	4.5	(3.94, 6.30, 8.09)	(2.8265, 4.2987, 4.7074)	(2.9794, 4.4921, 4.7944)
6	5.5	(3.98, 6.34, 8.18)	(2.8381, 4.3232, 4.7552)	(3.0018, 4.5270, 4.8253)
6	6.5	(3.94, 6.38, 8.15)	(2.7565, 4.3702, 4.7941)	(2.9134, 4.5838, 4.8683)
6	7.5	(3.92, 6.35, 8.12)	(2.7691, 4.3649, 4.7673)	(2.9175, 4.5697, 4.8475)
9	7.0	(3.42, 6.10, 10.47)	(2.0110, 4.3496, 7.0004)	(2.0540, 4.4856, 7.1521)
9	8.5	(3.39, 6.15, 10.55)	(1.9791, 4.3885, 7.1121)	(2.0168, 4.5358, 7.2800)
9	10.0	(3.41, 6.14, 10.53)	(2.0024, 4.4430, 7.0558)	(2.0436, 4.5872, 7.2192)
9	11.5	(3.39, 6.18, 10.54)	(1.9653, 4.5188, 7.1686)	(2.0027, 4.6706, 7.3318)
9	13.0	(3.39, 6.14, 10.67)	(2.0154, 4.4742, 7.2024)	(2.0522, 4.6173, 7.3944)
12	10.5	(3.17, 5.56, 11.07)	(1.5196, 3.2933, 8.4661)	(1.5289, 3.3411, 8.7165)
12	12.0	(3.18, 5.53, 11.05)	(1.5083, 3.1974, 8.1906)	(1.5193, 3.2412, 8.4436)
12	13.5	(3.16, 5.48, 11.14)	(1.5565, 3.0776, 8.4199)	(1.5646, 3.1142, 8.6866)
12	15.0	(3.15, 5.55, 11.13)	(1.5225, 3.2389, 8.5639)	(1.5302, 3.2847, 8.8255)
12	16.5	(3.13, 5.53, 11.03)	(1.4681, 3.1161, 8.3438)	(1.4741, 3.1602, 8.5862)
15	15.5	(3.07, 5.23, 9.98)	(1.3277, 2.4516, 5.9225)	(1.3294, 2.4625, 6.0033)
15	18.0	(3.05, 5.23, 9.73)	(1.3260, 2.4083, 5.2926)	(1.3270, 2.4189, 5.3433)
15	20.5	(3.08, 5.20, 9.70)	(1.3282, 2.3761, 5.1418)	(1.3304, 2.3843, 5.1889)
15	23.0	(3.06, 5.16, 9.67)	(1.3306, 2.4062, 4.9658)	(1.3320, 2.4115, 5.0109)
15	25.5	(3.06, 5.19, 9.63)	(1.3362, 2.3993, 4.9349)	(1.3376, 2.4068, 4.9747)

Table 5.3: The average values of the estimates of the covariance matrix of the conditional MLEs when $\theta = (2, 4, 7)$ and n = (6, 6, 6) for different choices of r and T.

		$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$	
r	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	
		(3.403 0.173 1.155		(8.271 0.020 2.310)	
6	2.5	$0.173 \ 9.933 \ 3.651$	3.0	0.020 17.634 6.583	
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1.155 & 3.651 & 10.632 \end{array} \right)$		$(2.310 \ 6.583 \ 20.921)$	
		(3.450 - 0.044 1.040)		(7.989 - 0.106 2.504)	
6	3.0	-0.044 10.118 4.017	4.0	-0.106 18.479 6.577	
		1.040 4.017 11.332		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 2.504 & 6.577 & 22.159 \end{array} \right)$	
		(3.274 - 0.024 1.067)		(8.055 - 0.569 2.464)	
6	3.5	-0.024 10.460 4.092	5.0	-0.569 18.690 6.927	
		1.067 4.092 11.506		2.464 6.927 22.612	
		$(3.212 \ 0.095 \ 1.103)$		(7.598 - 0.205 2.282)	
6	4.0	$0.095 \ 10.765 \ 4.320$	6.0	-0.205 19.098 6.948	
		1.103 4.320 12.088		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 2.282 & 6.948 & 22.984 \end{array} \right)$	
		(3.325 - 0.046 1.059)		(7.668 - 0.145 1.997)	
6	4.5	-0.046 10.518 4.249	7.0	-0.145 19.053 7.154	
		1.059 4.249 11.963		1.997 7.154 22.727 /	
		(1.842 - 0.169 0.286)		(4.044 - 0.700 0.056)	
9	3.5	-0.169 14.600 1.371	6.5	-0.700 18.919 0.622	
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0.286 & 1.371 & 25.299 \end{array} \right)$		$\setminus 0.056 0.622 49.006 /$	
		(1.637 - 0.275 0.218)		(3.917 - 0.549 0.398)	
9	4.5	-0.275 13.266 1.085	8.0	-0.549 19.259 0.537	
		\setminus 0.218 1.085 28.944		\setminus 0.398 0.537 50.582 /	
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1.545 & -0.292 & 0.245 \end{array}\right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 4.009 & -0.572 & 0.030 \end{array}\right)$	
9	5.5	-0.292 14.082 0.612	9.5	-0.572 19.740 0.108	
		$\left. \begin{array}{ccc} 0.245 & 0.612 & 30.517 \end{array} \right)$		$\setminus 0.030 0.108 49.785$	
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1.692 & -0.397 & 0.187 \end{array}\right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 3.862 & -0.690 & 0.384 \end{array}\right)$	
9	6.5	-0.397 13.926 0.224	11.0	-0.690 20.420 0.494	
		$\rangle 0.187 0.224 29.337$		$\rangle 0.384 0.494 51.389$	
		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1.491 & -0.362 & 0.271 \\ 0.262 & 10.452 & 0.271 \end{array}\right)$		$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 4.062 & -0.584 & 0.309 \\ 0.504 & 0.010 & 0.540 \end{array}\right)$	
9	7.5	-0.362 13.459 0.502	12.5	-0.584 20.018 0.540	
		\ 0.271 0.502 29.990 /		\ 0.309 0.540 51.875 /	

Table 5.4: The a	verage values of the	estimates of the	covariance mat	trix of the condi-
tional MLEs whe	en $\theta = (3, 5, 9)$ and r	n = (6, 6, 6) for c	lifferent choices	of r and T .

		$\theta = (2, 4, 7)$		$\theta = (3, 5, 9)$	
r	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	T	Covariance matrix $(\rho(\theta_i, \theta_j))_{i,j}$	
		(1.104 - 0.035 - 0.014)		(2.309 - 0.176 - 0.382)	
12	4.5	-0.035 11.026 0.513	10.0	-0.176 10.846 -1.070	
		(-0.014 0.513 39.905)		(-0.382 - 1.070 71.675)	
		(0.983 - 0.028 0.009)		(2.275 - 0.167 - 0.433)	
12	5.5	-0.028 8.789 -0.504	11.5	-0.167 10.223 -1.759	
		(0.009 - 0.504 42.022)		(-0.433 - 1.759 67.087)	
		(1.022 - 0.087 - 0.245)		(2.423 - 0.162 - 0.547)	
12	6.5	-0.087 7.345 -0.576	13.0	-0.162 9.472 -1.635	
		(-0.245 - 0.576 42.529)		(-0.547 - 1.635 70.896)	
		(0.942 - 0.067 - 0.098)		(2.318 - 0.207 - 0.502)	
12	7.5	-0.067 7.912 -1.508	14.5	-0.207 10.490 -2.052	
		(-0.098 - 1.508 42.857)		(-0.502 - 2.052 73.340)	
		(0.983 - 0.074 - 0.242)		(2.155 - 0.122 - 0.329)	
12	8.5	-0.074 6.818 -1.227	16.0	-0.122 9.710 -1.781	
		(-0.242 -1.227 43.471)		(-0.329 - 1.781 69.619)	
		$(0.782 \ 0.004 \ -0.008)$		(1.763 - 0.061 - 0.215)	
15	7.0	0.004 6.119 0.179	15.0	-0.061 6.010 -0.369	
		$(-0.008 \ 0.179 \ 40.265)$		(-0.215 - 0.369 35.076)	
		(0.777 - 0.040 0.006)		(1.758 - 0.107 - 0.122)	
15	9.0	-0.040 4.304 0.070	17.5	-0.107 5.800 -0.199	
		$(0.006 \ 0.070 \ 29.834)$		(-0.122 - 0.199 28.011)	
		(0.762 - 0.031 - 0.047)		(1.764 - 0.120 - 0.138)	
15	11.0	-0.031 4.131 0.064	20.0	-0.120 5.646 -0.289	
		(-0.047 0.064 22.027)		(-0.138 - 0.289 26.438)	
		(0.750 - 0.017 - 0.042)		(1.771 - 0.039 - 0.022)	
15	13.0	-0.017 3.839 0.040	22.5	-0.039 5.790 -0.421	
		$ \sqrt{-0.042} 0.040 19.829 $		$ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	
		(0.786 - 0.020 - 0.007)		(1.786 - 0.069 - 0.109)	
15	15.0	-0.020 3.781 -0.212	25.0	-0.069 5.757 -0.370	
		$ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$		$ \ -0.109 \ -0.370 \ 24.354 $	

Chapter 6

Concluding Remarks

6.1 Summary of Work

In this thesis, by considering k exponential populations, we have developed exact inferential methods based on four different joint censoring schemes— (i) jointly Type-II censored sample, (ii) jointly progressively Type-II censored sample, (iii) jointly Type-I hybrid censored sample, and (iv) jointly Type-II hybrid censored sample. For each of these cases, we have derived the conditional MLEs of the k exponential mean parameters, and have derived their conditional moment generating functions and exact densities, using which we have then developed exact confidence intervals for the k exponential parameters. Furthermore, approximate confidence intervals based on the asymptotic normality of the MLEs, parametric bootstrap intervals, and credible confidence regions from a Bayesian viewpoint have all been discussed. For different censoring schemes, a simulation study has been carried out to evaluate the performance of the conditional MLEs of the parameters $(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3)$ for different choices of r and (n_1, n_2, n_3) . From these results, it is clear that the MLEs have a moderate bias when the essential sample size r is small even when the sample sizes (n_1, n_2, n_3) are not small. However, the bias of the conditional MLEs become negligible when r increases.

An empirical evaluation is also made of all the confidence intervals. We also computed exact 95% confidence intervals for some small values of r. From these results, it is clear that the exact conditional method has its coverage probability to be quite close to the nominal level of 95% always, while the approximate method is not at all satisfactory. We also observe that between the two bootstrap methods, the Boot-pmethod performs better than the Boot-t method; the Bayesian credible interval has very stable coverage probabilities (quite close to the nominal level of 95%). Moreover, we observe that the approximate and bootstrap methods have lower coverage probabilities when n_1, n_2, n_3 are small. Also, we have presented examples to illustrate all the methods of inference developed here for different joint censoring scenarios. The importance of the exact method developed in this thesis becomes clear as it provides exact conditional confidence intervals with accurate coverage probabilities (compared to the nominal confidence levels) even for small sample sizes and small values of r.

However, the exact method becomes computationally quite intensive when r is large. Hence, we would recommend the use of the exact conditional confidence intervals for θ_h developed here whenever possible and especially when the sample sizes are small; but when the sample sizes get larger with a large r, the computational complexity increases in the exact conditional method, and in this case the Boot-pmethod and the Bayesian method are computationally simpler to use and they also possess good performance, in the interval estimation of parameters. We, therefore would recommend one of these two methods for the interval estimation.

6.2 Possible Further Research

From the research work carried out in this thesis, we identify the following problems that will be of great interest for further research:

- In the development of exact confidence intervals, we assumed that P(θ̂_h > b) is an increasing function of θ_h when all other θ_j's are fixed for j ≠ h (1 ≤ h ≤ k). It would be useful to establish this result formally;
- Type-I and Type-II censoring schemes are the most common and popular censoring schemes. As we have seen, Type-I censoring scheme has the advantage of fixed experimental time, but may end up with very few observed failures at the end of the experiment. Type-II censoring scheme has the advantage of having at least a certain number of observed failures, but may take a long time to terminate the experiment. For this reason, some Generalized HCS and Unified HCS have been proposed in the literature; see, for example, Balakrishnan and

Kundu (2013). It will be of interest to develop exact inferential results analogous to those developed in the thesis for these Generalized HCS and Unified HCS when they are jointly implemented in the k samples;

• Recently, Childs et al. (2012) considered two-parameter exponential distribution and developed exact inferential results under HCS. Following this line, it will be of interest to consider the case of two-parameter exponential distribution and then develop exact inferential results analogous to those developed in the thesis for various forms of jointly censored data.

Appendix A

Proof of Some Lemmas

Lemma 5 For fixed $l, 1 \leq l \leq k$, suppose $\{\beta_{li}^*\}_{i=1}^{r'}$ are distinct. Let us define the functions $h_{i'}(t) = \prod_{i \neq i'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$, for $i, i' = 1, 2, \cdots, r'$. Then, the coefficients $A_{li}^{(j)}$ in expression (2.2.15) are determined as follows:

$$\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i} = \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j},$$

where

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} = h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right) = \prod_{i \neq i'} \left(\frac{\beta_{li'}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*}\right)^{\alpha_i},$$
(A.0.1)

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)} = -\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right),$$
(A.0.2)

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^2 + \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \right\} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right), \quad (A.0.3)$$

$$\begin{aligned}
A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-3)} &= -\frac{1}{3!} \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^3 + 3 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \\
&+ 2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^3}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^3} \right\} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^{i'}} \right), \quad (A.0.4) \\
A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-4)} &= \frac{1}{4!} \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^4 + 3 \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \\
&+ 8 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^3}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^3} + 6 \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \right)^2 \\
&+ 3! \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^4}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^4} \right\} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right), \quad (A.0.5)
\end{aligned}$$

and so on.

Proof The coefficients $A_{li}^{(j)}$ are determined from the following partial function identity:

$$\prod_{i=1}^{r'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i} = \sum_{i=1}^{r'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j}.$$

For fixed l and i', we have

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} = \prod_{i \neq i'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i} - (1 - \beta_{li'}^* t)^{\alpha_{i'}} \sum_{i \neq i'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-j} - \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i'}-1} A_{li'}^{(j)} (1 - \beta_{li'}^* t)^{\alpha_{i'}-j}.$$

Taking $t = \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}$, we have

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} = \prod_{i \neq i'} \left(1 - \frac{\beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right)^{-\alpha_i} = \prod_{i \neq i'} \left(\frac{\beta_{li'}}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^{\alpha_i} = h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right).$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)} &= \frac{1}{1-\beta_{li'}^*t} \prod_{i\neq i'} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-\alpha_i} - \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})}}{1-\beta_{li'}^*t} \\ &- (1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^{\alpha_{i'}-1} \sum_{i\neq i'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-j} - \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i'}-2} A_{li'}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^{\alpha_{i'}-1-j}. \end{aligned}$$

When $\alpha_{i'} \geq 2$, the last two terms have factor $1 - \beta_{li'}^* t$ and so vanish when taking limit $t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}$. Thus, we get

$$\begin{aligned} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)} &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{1 - \beta_{li'}^* t} \left(\prod_{i \neq i'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} \right) \\ &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{1 - \beta_{li'}^* t} \left(h_{i'}(t) - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} h_{i'}' \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Note that $h_{i'}(t) = \prod_{i \neq i'} (1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^{-\alpha_i}$, and so

$$\log h_{i'}(t) = -\sum_{i \neq i'} \alpha_i \log(1 - \beta_{li}^* t),$$

$$\frac{h'_{i'}(t)}{h_{i'}(t)} = \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t},$$

$$h'_{i'}(t) = \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} h_{i'}(t),$$
(A.0.6)

and consequently,

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)} = -\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right).$$

In a similar way, when $\alpha_{i'} \geq 3$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)} &= \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2} \prod_{i \neq i'} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-\alpha_i} - \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})}}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2} - \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}}{1-\beta_{li'}^*t} \\ &- (1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^{\alpha_{i'}-2} \sum_{i \neq i'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i} A_{li}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-j} - \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i'}-3} A_{li'}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^{\alpha_{i'}-2-j}, \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$\begin{aligned} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)} &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2} \left\{ \prod_{i \neq i'} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-\alpha_i} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t) \right\} \\ &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2} \left\{ h_{i'}(t) - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2! (\beta_{li'}^*)^2} h_{i'}'' \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Now to find $h_{i'}'\left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right)$, we take derivatives on both sides of (A.0.6) to get

$$h_{i'}'(t) = \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^2} h_{i'}(t) + \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} h_{i'}'(t)$$

=
$$\left\{ \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^2} + (\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t})^2 \right\} h_{i'}(t).$$
(A.0.7)

Thus, we obtain

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)} = \frac{1}{2!} \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^2 + \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \right\} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right).$$

Finally, when $\alpha_{i'} \geq 4$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-3)} &= \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t)^{3}} \prod_{i\neq i'} (1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-\alpha_{i}} - \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})}}{(1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t)^{3}} - \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}}{(1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t)^{2}} \\ &- \frac{A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)}}{1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t} - (1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t)^{\alpha_{i'}-3} \sum_{i\neq i'} \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i}} A_{li}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li}^{*}t)^{-j} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_{i'}-4} A_{li'}^{(j)} (1-\beta_{li'}^{*}t)^{\alpha_{i'}-3-j}, \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$\begin{aligned} &A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-3)} \\ &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^3} \left\{ \prod_{i \neq i'} (1-\beta_{li}^*t)^{-\alpha_i} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t) \right. \\ &- A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2 \right\} \\ &= \lim_{t \to \frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}} \frac{1}{(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^3} \left\{ h_{i'}(t) - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'})} - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-1)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t) - A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-2)}(1-\beta_{li'}^*t)^2 \right\} \\ &= -\frac{1}{3!(\beta_{li'}^*)^3} h_{i''}'' \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Upon taking derivatives on both sides of (A.0.7), we get

$$\begin{split} h_{i''}^{\prime\prime\prime}(t) &= \left\{ 2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^3}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^3} + 2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^2} \right\} h_{i'}(t) \\ &+ \left\{ \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^2} + \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} \right)^2 \right\} h_{i'}(t) \\ &= \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} \right)^3 + 3 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{1 - \beta_{li}^* t} \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^2} \right. \\ &+ 2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^3}{(1 - \beta_{li}^* t)^3} \right\} h_{i'}(t). \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{split} A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-3)} &= -\frac{1}{3!} \left\{ \left(\sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \right)^3 + 3 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i \beta_{li}^*}{\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*} \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^2}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^2} \right. \\ &+ 2 \sum_{i \neq i'} \frac{\alpha_i (\beta_{li}^*)^3}{(\beta_{li'}^* - \beta_{li}^*)^3} \right\} h_{i'} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*} \right). \end{split}$$

In general, for $1 \leq j \leq \alpha_{i'}$, we have

$$A_{li'}^{(\alpha_{i'}-j)} = \frac{(-1)^j}{j!(\beta_{li'}^*)^j} h_{i'}^{(j)} \left(\frac{1}{\beta_{li'}^*}\right).$$

In the above, $\beta_{li}^* = \frac{n_l - M_{i-1}(l)}{M_r(l) \sum_{h=1}^k \frac{n_h - M_{i-1}(h)}{\theta_h}}$ for $1 \le l \le k$ and $1 \le i \le r'$, as given earlier in (2.2.12).

Lemma 6 Let

$$f_m(w) = c_0^{(m)} + c_1^{(m)} e^{-a_m w} + \dots + c_m^{(m)} e^{-\sum_{i=1}^m a_i w}$$
$$= \sum_{j=0}^m c_j^{(m)} e^{-\sum_{i=m-j+1}^m a_i w}.$$

such that $f_m(w_m) = \int_0^{w_m} f_{m-1}(w_{m-1}) e^{-a_m w_{m-1}} dw_{m-1}$. Then, the coefficients $c_j^{(m)}$ can be found as follows:

$$c_0^{(m)} = \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{c_j^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i}, c_1^{(m)} = -\frac{c_0^{(m-1)}}{a_m}, \cdots, c_m^{(m)} = -\frac{c_{m-1}^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=1}^m a_i},$$

in which we adopt the usual conventions that $\prod_{j=1}^{0} d_j = 1$ and $\sum_{j=i}^{i-1} d_j = 0$.

Proof We have

$$f_m(w_m) = \int_0^{w_m} f_{m-1}(w_{m-1}) e^{-a_m w_{m-1}} dw_{m-1}$$

$$= \int_0^{w_m} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} c_j^{(m-1)} e^{-\sum_{i=m-j}^{m-1} a_i w_{m-1}} e^{-a_m w_{m-1}} dw_{m-1}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{c_j^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i} \left(1 - e^{-\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i w_m}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{c_j^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i} - \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{c_j^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i} e^{-\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i w_m}.$$

Comparing the coefficients on both sides, we have

$$c_0^{(m)} = \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{c_j^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-j}^m a_i},$$

$$c_1^{(m)} = -\frac{c_0^{(m-1)}}{a_m}, \cdots, c_l^{(m)} = -\frac{c_{l-1}^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=m-l+1}^m a_i}, \cdots, c_m^{(m)} = -\frac{c_{m-1}^{(m-1)}}{\sum_{i=1}^m a_i}.$$

Lemma 7 Under the assumptions of Lemma 6 and $f_0(w) = 1$, we have

$$c_0^{(m)} = \prod_{j=1}^m \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^m a_i}$$

and

$$c_l^{(m)} = \frac{(-1)^l}{\prod_{j=0}^{l-1} \sum_{i=m-l+1}^{m-j} a_i} \prod_{j=1}^{m-l} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{m-l} a_i}, \text{ for } 1 \le l \le m.$$

Proof First, it is easy to see that $c_0^{(m)} = f_m(+\infty) = \lim_{w \to +\infty} f_m(w)$. Nest, we have

$$f_{1}(w_{1}) = \int_{0}^{w_{1}} e^{-a_{1}w_{0}} dw_{0},$$

$$f_{2}(w_{2}) = \int_{0}^{w_{2}} f_{1}(w_{1})e^{-a_{2}w_{1}} dw_{1} = \int_{0}^{w_{2}} \int_{0}^{w_{1}} e^{-(a_{1}w_{0}+a_{2}w_{1})} dw_{0} dw_{1},$$

$$\dots$$

$$f_{m}(w_{m}) = \int_{0}^{w_{m}} f_{m-1}(w_{m-1})e^{-a_{m}w_{m-1}} dw_{m-1}$$

$$= \int_{0 < w_{0} < \dots < w_{m-1} < w_{m}} e^{-(a_{1}w_{0}+a_{2}w_{1}+\dots+a_{m}w_{m-1})} dw_{0} \cdots dw_{m-1}.$$

Thus, we find

$$c_0^{(m)} = \int_{0 < w_0 < \dots < w_{m-1} < \infty} e^{-(a_1 w_0 + a_2 w_1 + \dots + a_m w_{m-1})} dw_0 \cdots dw_{m-1}.$$

Upon integrating out w_0, w_1, \dots, w_{m-1} over $\{0 \le w_0 \le w_1 \le \dots \le w_{m-1} < \infty\}$ in the above integral, after mapping it onto $\{0 \le u_i < \infty, 1 \le i \le m-1\}$ through the transformation

$$\begin{cases} u_1 = w_0, \\ u_2 = w_1 - w_0, \\ \dots \\ u_m = w_{m-1} - w_{m-2}, \end{cases}$$

we obtain $c_0^{(m)}$. Also, by using Lemma 6,

$$c_1^{(m)} = -\frac{c_0^{(m-1)}}{a_m} = -\frac{1}{a_m} \prod_{j=1}^{m-1} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{m-1} a_i},$$

$$c_2^{(m)} = -\frac{c_1^{(m-1)}}{a_m + a_{m-1}} = \frac{1}{(a_m + a_{m-1})a_{m-1}} \prod_{j=1}^{m-2} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{m-2} a_i},$$

and in general, for $1 \le l \le m$,

$$c_l^{(m)} = -\frac{c_{l-1}^{(m-1)}}{\sum\limits_{i=m-l+1}^m a_i} = \frac{(-1)^l}{\prod_{j=0}^{l-1} \sum\limits_{i=m-l+1}^{m-j} a_i} \prod_{j=1}^{m-l} \frac{1}{\sum_{i=j}^{m-l} a_i}.$$

Bibliography

Arnold, B.C., Balakrishnan, N. and Nagaraja, H.N. (1992). A First Course in Order Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

Balakrishnan, N. (2007). Progressive censoring methodology: an appraisal (with Discussions). *TEST* **16**, 211-296.

Balakrishnan, N. and Aggarwala, R. (2000). Progressive Censoring: Theory, Methods, and Applications. Birkhäuser, Boston.

Balakrishnan, N. and Basu, A.P. (Eds.) (1995). The Exponential Distribution:Theory, Methods and Applications. Gordon and Breach, Newark, NJ.

Balakrishnan, N. and Han, D. (2007). Optimal progressive Type-II censoring schemes for nonparametric confidence intervals of quantiles. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation* **36**, 1247-1262.

Balakrishnan, N. and Kundu, D. (2013). Hybrid censoring: Models, inferential results and applications (with discussions). *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis* 57, 166-209.

Balakrishnan, N., Kundu, D., Ng, H.K.T. and Kannan, N. (2007). Point and interval estimation for a simple step-stress model with Type-II censoring. *Journal* of Quality Technology **39**, 35-47. Balakrishnan, N. and Rao, C.R. (Eds.) (1998a). Handbook of Statistics 16-Order Statistics: Theory and Methods. North-Holland, Amsterdam.

Balakrishnan, N. and Rao, C.R. (Eds.) (1998b). Handbook of Statistics 17-Order Statistics: Applications. North-Holland, Amsterdam.

Balakrishnan, N. and Rasouli, A. (2008). Exact likelihood inference for two exponential populations under joint Type-II censoring. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis* 52, 2725-2738.

Balakrishnan, N. and Rasouli, A. (2010). Exact likelihood inference for two exponential populations under progressive joint Type-II censoring. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* **39**, 2172-2191.

Balakrishnan, N., Rasouli, A. and Sanjari-Farsipour, N. (2008). Exact likelihood inference based on an unified censored sample from the exponential distribution. *Journal of Statistial Computation and Simulation*, **78**, 475-488.

Basu, A.P. (1968). On a generalized Savage statistic with applications to life testing. *Annals of Mathematical Statistics* **39**, 1591-1604.

Bhattacharyya, G.K. (1995). Inferences under two-sample and multi-sample situations. In: Balakrishnan, N. and Basu, A.P. (Eds.) *The Exponential Distribution: Theory, Methods and Applications*, Gordon and Breach, Newark, NJ, pp. 93-118 (Chapter 7).

Bhattacharyya, G.K. and Mehrotra, K.G. (1981). On testing equality of two exponential distributions under combined Type-II censoring. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* **76**, 886-894.

Chandrasekar, B., Childs, A. and Balakrishnan, N. (2004). Exact likelihood inference for the exponential distribution under generalized Type-I and Type-II hybrid censoring. *Naval Research Logistics* **51**, 994-1004.

Chen, S. and Bhattacharyya, G.K. (1988). Exact confidence bounds for an exponential parameter under hybrid censoring. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* **17**, 1857-1870.

Childs, A., Balakrishnan, N. and Chandrasekar, B. (2012). Exact distribution of the MLEs of the parameters and of the quantiles of two-parameter exponential distribution under hybrid censoring. *Statistics* **46**, 441-458.

Childs, A., Chandrasekar, B., Balakrishnan, N. and Kundu, D. (2003). Exact likelihood inference based on Type-I and Type-II hybrid censored samples from the exponential distribution. *Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics* **55**, 319-330.

David, H.A. and Nagaraja, H.N. (2003). *Order Statistics*, Third edition. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ.

Efron, B. and Tibshirani, R.J. (1994). An Introduction to the Bootstrap. Chapman & Hall/CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. Epstein, B. (1954). Truncated life-test in exponential case. Annals of Mathematical Statistics 25, 555-564.

Johnson, R.A. and Mehrotra, K.G. (1972). Locally most powerful rank tests for the two-sample problem with censored data. *Annals of Mathematical Statistics* **43**, 823-831.

Nelson, W. (1982). Applied Life Data Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

MIL-STD-781-C (1977). Reliability Design Qualification and Production Acceptance Tests: Exponential Distribution. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

Park, S. and Balakrishnan, N. (2009). On simple calculation of the Fisher information in hybrid censoring schemes. *Statistics & Probability Letters* 79, 1311-1319.

Park, S., Balakrishnan, N. and Zheng, G. (2008). Fisher information in hybrid censoring data. *Statistics & Probability Letters* **78**, 2781-2786.

Parsi, S., Ganjali, M. and Sanjari-Farsipour, N. (2011). Conditional maximum likelihood and interval estimation for two Weibull populations under joint Type-II progressive censoring. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* 40, 2117-2135.

Proschan, F. (1963). Theoretical explanation of observed decreasing failure

rate. Technometrics 5, 375-383.

Rao, C.R. (1973). Linear Statistical Inference and its Applications. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

Shafay, A.R., Balakrishnan, N. and Rasouli, A. (2012). Exact likelihood inference for two exponential populations under joint Type-II hybrid censoring. *Submitted for publication*.